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I nt roducti on

When I was thirteen years old, growing up in
Bi nghant on, New York, | summopned up the courage to go on a
canmping trip with ny Boy Scout troop. | wasn't afraid of

being out in the woods at night. It was the thought of being
with a group of people that terrified ne. | had a severe
stanmering problem and kids sometinmes nmade fun of ne. |
decided to go on this outing because | knew there'd be at
| east one person | could spend time with. He was ny best
friend and had never been put off by ny handicap. Hi s father
owned a nmeat nmarket a block away from where ny father
operated an Arny/Navy store. We were about the same age and
had been friends for years.

My friend was unusual in his own way. He had a strange

and wonderful imagination. As we sat apart fromthe other
canpers, in the dark of the woods, alert to the spooky night
sounds, my friend began telling stories. He spoke of life on
ot her planets and had sone delightful views on the types of
bei ngs he inmagi ned woul d be found there. He talked about
traveling to these worlds, tine travel, ghosts, and the
possibility of freezing tinme. He told ne about extra-sensory
perception, the meaning of dreans, reincarnation, and being
able to read ninds. My friend had an endless string of "what
if" stories to tell, and | was spel | bound.

He wanted to be a witer, and | was certain he would
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succeed.
My best friend's nane was Rod Serling. He becane the
writer he dreanmed of being, and nore. As the creator of the

tel evision show, "The Twilight Zone," Rod becanme one of the
most  influential nmystery and science fiction mnds in
history. | can't describe howit felt, and how it still
feels, to turn on a television and see one of Rod's
engrossing canpfire stories conme to life.

Back then, | was so certain that Rod would attain his
dreamthat | was al nbst too enbarrassed to tell himmne.
wanted to be a defense attorney like Cl arence Darrow and Sam
Leibowitz. | read everything | could get my hands on about
them including transcripts from their trials. | spent

hundreds of hours alone at the library, imagining nyself as

a gol den-tongued attorney pleading sensational cases before

juries. But | was a stamerer. | could never be like
Cl arence Darrow and Sam Lei bowitz until | overcame ny speech
i mpedi nment .

"You'll make it," Rod would say, never once |aughing

with the others or discouraging nme. "Don't worry. The
stanmering will go away. You'll be a great |awer one day."

When | was down over ny inability to speak, Rod woul d

cheer me up with a tale about an attorney defending a
three-eyed creature from another planet. |I'd | augh and fee
better. Hi s confidence gave ne a boost.

Incredible as it sonetinmes seems, | did attain ny

dream of beconming a trail lawer. It wasn't easy. | |abored
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to overcone ny stamering and stuttering and made great

strides, but | still had the problem when | graduated |aw
school. It was preposterous to think a stanmerer could
performin a courtroom | conceded as much and intended to

return honme, help nmy father run the Arny/Navy store, and
then branch into legal research or another area where
could hide behind a desk and silently make a |iving.

I was thoroughly depressed when | sank into my chair

at the 1951 University of Mam Law School commencenent. |
had come so far, but ultimtely had |lost. Wen | | ooked up
I couldn't believe ny eyes. There at the podi um stood Sam
Lei bowitz! He was the keynote speaker. Leibowitz was the
fambus New York attorney who went to Alabama to save the
lives of nine black men falsely accused of raping two white
wonen in the classic "Scottsboro Boys" case. | knew the
transcript by heart.

Lei bowi tz gave an unforgettabl e speech that afternoon.

Full of ~conviction, he told us that defense attorneys were
the key to keeping Anerica free. He said the protective
ideals of the U S. Constitution and the Bill of Rights were
constantly under attack. The "authorities" were chipping
away at the right to a fair trial, presunption of innocence
until proven guilty, unreasonable search and seizure, and
proof beyond a reasonable doubt. He warned us that the old
guardi ans like hinmself were dying out, and wthout a new
generation to take up the fight, America would succunb to a

re- emergence of r obber bar ons and torture chanber
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confessions. The average man and worman woul d be stripped of
their dignity and liberty, and would be Ilegally and
econonmically enslaved. Leibowitz challenged us to take the

torch he was passing, become defense attorneys and protect

Aneri ca.
It was as if he was speaking directly to ne. | wanted
to leap out of ny seat, grab the flanming torch | inmagined

hi m holding, and charge into the first courtroom| could

find.
Because of Leibowitz's speech, | decided to remain in
Mam and becone a defense attorney -- stammering or no

st anmeri ng.

Shortly afterward, | got ny first case. A black nan

named Henry Larkin had shot and killed a man in the hallway
of his apartnment building. He was charged wth nurder.
Larkin said the man had conme after him with a knife. In
those days, there were no public defenders. Everyone was on
their own. Goups of young attorneys used to m Il around in
court, Jlaugh at all the judge's jokes, volunteer for cases
and hope to be appointed. I was hanging around the
courthouse when soneone told me about Larkin. | went to the
jail. He nearly cried when | offered to represent him

The day before the trial, my first trial, | read in

The Mam Herald that Leibowitz, then a New York judge, was
back in town for another speech. | found out where he was
staying and went to his hotel.

"M. Leibowitz," | stanmered, standing paralyzed at
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his door, case file in hand. "I was in the audi ence when you
gave the ~ca, <ca, conmencenent address here. | becane a
defense attorney because of what you said. Now |I'm facing
mm mm my first case tonmorrow. Can you give nme sonme hel p?"
It was an incredible intrusion, and | nust have been

one pathetic sight. Leibowitz just snmled and invited me in.
He then proceeded to outline nmy entire defense. He raised
his eyebrows everytime | tripped over a word, but never said
a thing about ny speech inpedi nent.

The next day, | stood before twelve people in a court

of law. The Ilife of Henry Larkin was in ny hands, or nore
precisely, in nmy msfiring nouth. Only instead of fear
something strange canme over nme. | felt taller and stronger
and for the first tinme inny life, I was confident. My own
troubl es vanished and were replaced by the far greater
probl enms of Henry Larkin. He was a good, honest man who had
never broken the law in his Ilife. It was up to ne to
convince a jury that he had acted in self-defense and
shoul dn't be sent to the electric chair.

I talked for hours that day, renmenbering everything

Sam Lei bowitz taught nme and pleading in every sense of the
word for the man's life. | was raw and wunskilled, but
ent husi asti ¢ and determ ned.

The jury was out three mnutes. Wen they returned,

the judge joked, "Wat took you so | ong?"

The foreman, a local newspaper colunmmist name Jack

Bell, joked back, "We had to take a cigarette break to make
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it look good."

The verdict was not guilty.

Henry Larkin hugged ne and broke down in tears. A
newspaper reporter was in the courtroom and wote a story
the next day about the green young attorney saving the bl ack
man's life.

But there was one thing the story didn't nention.

hadn't stammered once during my entire argunment.

| hardly ever did again.

| tried to call Sam Leibowitz, but he had |left town.
Needing to share ny nmultifaceted victory wth sonmeone, |
called Rod and told him about "the miracle" of my untangled
tongue. He was el ated. Then he grew serious.

"Ellis, it's a sign!," he proclainmed. "You' ve found

your place in time. You were destined to speak for the
i nnocent and oppressed. Never forget that!"

Rod was quick to see some unexplained universa
phenonenon in practically everything. 1In his eyes, what
happened to nme could only have happened in "The Twilight

Zone." Actually, stammerers and stutterers have been known
to lose their handicap in simlar situations. Country singer
Mel Tillis is but one exanple. Still, who can say? Some of
us like to live in a world where everything has a clear-cut
explanation. Others, the nmore romanti c anong us, prefer Rod
Serling's |andscape where anything is possible. As an

attor ney deal i ng with facts, figures and provabl e

docunentation, | should be steadfastly entrenched in the
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physical world. In reality, | often wander into that other
nore interesting place.
For whatever reason, Rod's words have stayed with nme

t hroughout ny life.

During the past thirty-eight-years, |'ve been in nore

than two thousand trials, including two hundred-seventy-five
first degree nmurders. New cases conme in every week. And |'ve
di scovered that truth can sonmetinmes be stranger than even
Rod Serling's fiction

|I"ve also tried to do ny best to defend the "poor and

def ensel ess" that Sam Leibowitz said was ny primry
function. Sone people, including ny wife, feel |I've overdone

it. | spend a great deal of time on what is known as "pro

bono" cases. That's |egal ese, neaning "for free." A state
prosecutor once stood in court and described my clients
another way -- "Rubin's Riffraff."

Actually, I've had my share of wealthy clients,
including celebrities, rich businessnmen, doctors and a
billionaire Arab oil sheik. The "riffraff" waiting in ny
office don't seemto frighten them away. Sone people say the
problemis that | can't say no. That's part of it. Each tinme
someone in deep trouble walks through ny door, anguished,
often crying, and always desperate, it's hard to turn them
away.

Payment can come in many fornms. A handshake. A hug. A

baby's smile. A holiday card. A birthday cake. A hone-cooked
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meal . A friendly face in court. A picketer carrying a sign
outside a jail.

Henry Larkin, my first client, cane by every Friday

for the rest of his Iife and handed me an envelope with a
five dollar bill init. Never missed a week. Even when |
told himto stop, he kept com ng.

What ny critics, and even ny clients don't realize is

how much t hese peopl e have given back to me. Over the years,
|'"ve been fortunate enough to be a part of sone mmjor court
proceedi ngs. Precedents were set, lives were dramatically
altered, and in a small way, history was changed.

It's been exciting. In the follow ng pages, I'll take

you fromthe back of the courtroomto a seat beside ne at
the defense table. You'll experience the strategy sessions,

the invol venent of the nmedia, and the nental conbat of the

trial. In a few cases, we'll even pierce the sanctity of the
judge's chanbers and the jury room Sonetines, we'll go even
farther. W'IIl acconpany the accused through the day or

evening of the crine, trace the arrest, and visit them in
jail.

As for the part | played in all these cases, I'd |ike

to think that |'ve made nmy canpfire buddy Rod Serling, and

my nmentor Sam Lei bowitz, proud.
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Chapter 1

Fi ve Nickels

PART |

Charles Wesley Johnson had two great weaknesses --
red wi ne and ol der women. He conbined the two to lead a life
of luxury and debauchery. Charlie was faithful to the w ne,
and unfaithful to the women. That was his downfall

But what a sensational fall it was. On Thursday, Apri
17, 1952, Charles Wsley Johnson pulled off one of the nost
menorable crinmes in Florida history. The newspapers called
it the work of a crack gang of crimnal geniuses who had
pl anned and carried out their schene wth split-second
preci si on.

It was nothing of the sort. It was nerely Charlie
Johnson, five nickels, a bottle of wine, a public telephone,
and a streak of blind |uck

| first saw Charlie standing in a line of prisoners at
the twenty-five-story Dade County Courthouse. At the tine,
t he court house was t he tall est buil ding south of
Jacksonville, a city four hundred miles away. Charlie's cel
was on the top floor, up where a fanmly of turkey buzzards

from Hinckley, Chio had om nously taken up wi nter residence
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upon the gray stone building s stepped, pointed roof. (To
this day, their descendants arrive from Hi nckley each fall.)

Charlie was the only white nman in the group that
norning. Judge Ben Wl llard took special notice. Everyone
took special notice of Charlie. He was thirty-three,
six-feet tall, about 145 pounds, deeply tanned, novie-star
handsome, neticul ously dressed, and had perfect manners. Hi s
hazel eyes and light-brown, sun-streaked hair were set
against a dignified patch of gray at his tenples. Charlie
al so proved to be well-read and articul ate. He spoke with a
peculiar accent simlar to that of Cary Grant. Like Grant,
he appeared to be an aristocratic foreigner froma land far
nore romanti c and sophisticated than Anerica

Charlie had ended wup in such an wundignified place
because he had grown tired of his |atest romantic interest
and wheeled out of her [ife in the woman's black Rolls
Royce. He didn't wander far. He went joy riding around
unhurried Mam, hitting all his favorite seaside bars,
sipping wne under the thatched, sabal palm roofs and
runni ng up big tabs which he couldn't pay, but could al ways
talk his way around. He gave practically everyone in town a
ride in the Rolls, shuttling groups back and forth fromthe
i nl and bars clustered downtown, over a causeway lined with
banyan trees and royal poincianas blooning fiery orange, to
the beaches, which were then covered in waves of tall, sea
oat grass instead of wall-to-wall hotels and condomi ni uns.

The fun | asted a week or so until the Mani police caught up

12
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with him They confiscated the car and gave Charlie a room
with a great view and a chance to study the big, black
scavenger birds up cl ose.

"What brings you here?" Judge WIIlard asked.

"l stole a car," Charlie answered.

"How do you pl ead?"

"Quilty, | guess," Charlie said.
By now, Judge Wllard was starting to take a shine to
Charlie.

"Now wait a mnute, M. Johnson," the judge |ectured.
"This is a serious crinme. You could get ten years. Are you
sure you want to plead guilty?"

"Ckay, not guilty," Charlie said.

Judge Wl lard | aughed. He then asked Charlie if he
wanted to be tried by judge or jury.

"Your honor," Charlie said, dripping with respect.
"You appear to be a man of the utnost honesty. | would be
happy to have you hear mny case."

Judge WIllard |ooked over at the gaggle of young
attorneys hanging around the court trying to get cases.

"Anybody want this one?"

| imediately stepped forward

"Ckay, |awyer," the judge said. "You go wupstairs and
talk with your client. The trial will begin at 1:30."
Tal k about speedy trials. It was a little after ten,

and | would have to be in court trying the case in less than

four hours. But that's the way it was in those days. M anmi

13
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was sonewhat of a sleepy tourist town then, and hard as it
may be to i magi ne today, there wasn't nuch crine.

Charlie and | talked in the jail's wunventilated
visiting area. He told ne he was a radio engineer, and had
been a radi o operator in the nmerchant marine for five years
during World War I1. | was a Naval reserve officer, so we
had something in conmon. Charlie had wanted to join the
Navy, but he was <color blind and had been rejected -- a
handi cap that | noticed didn't hinder the selection of his
beautifully matched sl acks, shirt and sport jacket. He was
born in Spokane, Washington, attended Jesuit Gonzaga
University -- Bing Crosby's alma mater -- and had been the
First Cellist with the Spokane Synphony Orchestra. He had
marri ed and divorced twice, and had three <children living
with his second wife. Charlie's father was a wealthy
dentist, and Charlie had attended medical school in Mexico
where he learned to speak Spanish fluently. A wanderer by
nature, Charlie spent a year exploring Indochina, Burng,
Mal ay, and India before joining the nerchant marine.

Charlie said he hadn't worked in years. He expl ai ned
that his considerable needs had been provided through "the

ki ndness of Jlonely widows." His territory was the aptly
named Gold Coast of Florida, the real estate-rich coasta
area that extends down U.S. 1 from Palm Beach to Key West.
Then, as today, the Gold Coast was teeming wth rich w dows

left with the fortunes their husbands worked thenselves to

death to acquire. For Charlie, it was paradise.

14
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Al npost. After a few years, he found that his tol erance
for older wonen was waning, and the |ife of idle tropica
| uxury had grown boring. Thus, he had junped into his |atest
keeper's chariot and set a course for wi ne and adventure.

"Call the car's owner," he told me, outlining his
defense. "Tell her I'msorry. Tell her I'lIl go back to her
if she drops the charges."

He wi nked at me and said, "Be sure to tell her that |
| ove her."

I called. A woman with a soft voice answered.
rel ayed what Charlie had said. | told her that he | oved her

She was very happy. She didn't want Charlie to go to jail

"I love Charles very much," she confessed. "Is he al
ri ght?"

"He is at the nonent, but jail is a terrible place.
Especially for a man Iike Charles," | said.

"Ch no! I'Il be right down," she said.

She arrived within the hour. She was a | ovely woman in
her md-fifties draped in a flowing, ivory linen day dress
topped by a blue, wide-brinmed hat that nmatched the silk
sash around her waist. Her hair was dyed blonde with not a
dark root in sight. Her skin was kept as snmooth as humanly
possi bl e by the best creanms and facials noney could buy. As
she entered the nmusty jail, a wave of $50-an-ounce perfune
cut through the air and freshened the entire room

Charlie had asked me to warn him when she arrived so

he could return to his cell. As always, he knew what he was

15
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doi ng. The woman cri ed when she saw her poor Charles trapped
behi nd the rows of black bars. She demanded his rel ease into
a conference roomwi th an authority that jerked the jailer
into action.

They had an enotional reunion.

We entered the court at 1:30 sharp. The wonman i nfornmed
Judge W/ lard she was dropping all charges. The judge asked
her if she knew what she was doing. She responded with a
| ook that frosted the judge's eyebrows. End of discussion.

I watched Charlie and his |ady walk hand-in-hand out
of the courtroom They left in the black Rolls. Charlie was
driving. He waved to nme as he drove off.

Al seermed right with the world.

The next time | saw Charlie Johnson was a few weeks
later. | didn't exactly see him | saw his picture. It was
on the front page of The Mam Herald under a headline of
the size and bl ackness | hadn't seen since Wrld War |
ended. The story described Charlie as the |eader of a gang
of ki dnappers, who, in a masterful plot, had taken the son
of one of Mani's richest and nost well-known fanilies, then
rel eased himfor a sizable ransom The state attorney was on
record promising that Charlie and his cerebral cohorts would
be caught and sent as quickly as possible to the electric
chair.

| was stunned. Good Time Charlie was the |eader of a
gang of cutthroats?

The ink had barely dried on the newspaper when | heard

16
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on the radio that Charlie had been apprehended in Cuba by
the Cuban secret police. There were nore headlines. Wen
Charlie arrived at the Man International Airport nine days
| ater, Channel Four, the only television station in Florida,
sent its brand-new news crew out to capture the historic
event. Fresh-faced reporter Ralph Renick was there with a
crew carrying one of those bulky old cameras and a portable
tape recorder. | didn't own a television set so | rushed
over to a departnent store, fought off the salesnman and
wai ted for the news.

Sur e enough, there was Charlie. Despite being
handcuffed and surrounded by burly police officers, he
| ooked as dapper and nonplused as ever. Clad in a yellow
shirt with big blue flowers, a |l|ight tan sport jacket,
nust ard-col ored slacks, brown and white oxfords and dark
sungl asses, and with his tousled hair blowing in the |ight
breeze, he photographed like a Hollywod star. Renick, who
would later gain a few pounds and becone the white-maned
dean of Florida broadcasters, pushed his way in as close as
he could get. Charlie walked over, |ooked into the canera,
| eaned toward the mcrophone, and said in his best Cary
Grant voi ce:

"Get me Ellis Rubin!"

I nearly fell over. Here was Public Eneny Nunmber One
calling out ny name for all the world to hear. | rushed to
the courthouse and was inmmediately wushered in to see ny

client. The pl ace was packed with police officers,

17
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prosecutors, FBI agents and reporters. Charlie was under
heavy guard. Everyone was tense. The guards no doubt
expected that any second the rest of Charlie's gang was
going to burst through the brass doors in a blaze of nachine
gun fire.

Li ke the guards, | too was nervous. Only instead of a
rescue squad, | feared that a | ynch nob night be formng

"Good to see you, Ellis," Charlie said, eyes tw nkling
brightly. "I see you got my nessage. I'min a bit of a spot
here. "

| was amazed. Here he was, a few nonths away from a
possible date with the electric chair, and he was as cool as
ever. | escorted himinto an interrogation room Two guards
tried to follow us inside but | screaned out sone | egal ese
and shut the door on them

“Charlie, what did you do?"

"I made a coupl e of phone calls."

"Where's your gang?"

He threw back his head and | aughed.

"There's no gang, Ellis. The newspapernmen exaggerate.
It was just ne."

"You? That's inpossible.”

"Quite possible, Ellis. Qite possible.”

He proceeded to tell ne his story.

When Charlie was in jail on the auto theft charge, he
and his three cellmtes killed tinme by talking about what

they each considered would be the "perfect crine." Charlie
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never said if the eventual plan was his, a cellmate's, or a
conposite, but he left the jail that tine with nore than
just his freedom His mind was spinning with wld and
dangerous thoughts. After a few weeks of w ne and roses, he
grew bored and once again escaped fromhis |over's palatia
ocean-front estate.

As was his style, Charlie wandered the tropical town
befri endi ng bartenders, charm ng the |ladies, and running up
tabs. He was also putting together his plan. It didn't take
much. A week or so later, he was ready.

On a humid, Florida afternoon, Charlie Johnson entered
a Greyhound bus station near Flagler Street in the heart of
dowmntown M am . He wal ked to the pay phones and surveyed the
surroundings. To his right was a wall of |ockers. To his
left, the ticket counter. Directly across from the phones
was a candy and newspaper stand. Charlie entered the niddle
phone booth, closed the door and spread out the tools that
woul d enable himto commt "the perfect crinme.”

They were five nickels, a small piece of paper, and a
bottle of wine. He stacked the nickels to the left of the
phone. The bottle of his favorite vintage ros'e was placed
on the counter to the right. The paper, which contained four
phone numbers, was set to the left of the w ne.

Pl unk. He dropped the first nickel into the slot and
di al ed the nunber at the top of the list -- a cab conpany on
M am Beach. Although Charlie was quite drunk, he sobered up

when he spoke. He asked for the on-duty manager of the cab
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depot .

"Hello, this Dr. Henderson at Doctors' Hospital in
Coral Cables," Charlie said. "Ms. Dan Richter has just had
a serious accident and was brought here in critica
condition. She may not survive. She has repeatedly asked to
see her son, Ricky. WIIl you please send your npst
trustworthy driver to the Coburn School on Normandy I|sle,
pi ck himup, and bring himimrediately to the hospital. The
school will be expecting vyour arrival. |I wll pay the
transportation costs when the taxi arrives at the hospital."

"Yes sir, Dr. Henderson," the cab nanager said. "Don't
worry about the bill. We'll get on it right away."

The cab manager was so quick to respond because he
knew the Richters well. They were one of Mam's wealthiest
famlies. The Richter <clan was headed by jewel er Joseph
Ri chter and his sons Alvin and Dan. The men had built the
pl ush Robert Richter Hotel on Mam Beach to honor a third
brother who died during Wrld War 1l1. Ricky was Dan
Richter's six-year-old son and heir apparent to the Richter
fortune.

The cab depot nmanager assigned his npst trusted
driver, a stout, twenty-four-year-old New York transpl ant
naned Bert Walowitz. Bert rushed to the school to perform
his duty.

Plunk. Nickel number two. Charlie consulted his sheet

of paper and dialed the second nunber, the office phone of

the Coburn School, the exclusive, private acadeny Ri cky



Get Me EllisRubin!

Richter attended. Using all the correct term nology, Charlie
continued his schene.

"Hello, this is Dr. Henderson at Doctors Hospital. My
| speak to the head mi stress?"

A few seconds later, the head mistress, a Mss
Si mons, was on the line. Charlie repeated the story of the
accident, explained that a cab was already on the way, and
i nstructed Mss Simons to have young M. Richter waiting at
the curb. Mss Simons pronised that she would personally
assure that Ricky entered the cab.

Charlie took a few swigs fromhis bottle of courage,
then spotted a pretty girl at the candy counter. He left the
phone booth and chatted with her for about ten minutes. He
excused hinmself and returned to his station.

Plunk. Nickel nunber three. Charlie dialed the third
nunber on the list, Richter's Jewelry Store on Flagler
Street, about two bl ocks from where he stood.

"Hello."

"I's this M. Daniel Richter?" Charlie asked.

"Yes."

Shifting from Dr. Henderson to the unknown ki dnapper,
Charlie spoke firmy and to the point.

"M. Richter, we have your son, Ricky. He has been
abducted fromhis school. If you wish him to remain alive,
you nust do exactly as we instruct. The first thing | would
like you to do is call the Coburn School and confirm that

Ricky is gone. | will call you back in one mnute."
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Dan Richter called the school. They infornmed himthat
Ricky had left ina cab five mnutes earlier. Richter
i medi ately called the police. The chief of police was
notified and took personal charge of the situation. He
di spatched three detectives to the jewelry store.

Pl unk. Ni ckel nunber four

As the phone rang, Dan Richter notioned for his father
and brother to pick up the extensions. H s father answered.

"Who's cal ling?"

"He knows who's calling," Charlie said.

Dan Ri chter picked up the phone.

"M. Richter, you are by nowaware of what has
happened?”

"Yes. Please don't hurt ny son."

"Just follow nmy instructions and everything wll be
fine," Charlie explained. "Menbers of ny organization are
wat chi ng your home and your store. They are also stationed
along the route you will be instructed to follow. Please
don't try to do anything foolish. The life of your son is in
t he bal ance. Here's what | want you to do. Take $50, 000
worth of your finest diamonds and $5,000 in cash from your
safe. Acquire a copy of today's Mam Herald. Roll the noney
and jewelry into the newspaper. Then, if you will, please
wal k out of your store, down Flagler Street and enter the
Ponce de Leon Hotel. It's only a block away. | assune you

know t he | ocati on?"

"Yes."

22
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"Good. You will receive further instructions there."

Before Charlie could hang up, Dan Richter pleaded that
he could only come up with about $20,000 in jewels and $200
in cash. Rounding up nmre would take time and attract
attention.

Charlie, ever the easy sort, agreed.

"Ckay, but what | want are good, blue stones," Charlie
said. "We are dianond experts and we know paste, zircons and
titanium'

Dan Richter followed the instructions to the |letter.
He opened his safe, took out the $200, and quickly scooped
up the jewelry -- which included three dianmond rings, a

t hree-1 ooped di anond neckl ace and a dianmond brooch

containing nine |large dianonds and 659 small ones. After
Richter left for the hotel, Mam ©police detectives Joe
McNei I I, Marshall Waggins and Earl Taunton arrived and set

out after him

Plunk. Nickel number five. Charlie consulted the |ast
nunber on his list and dialed the front desk of the Ponce de
Leon Hotel. A clerk answered, |ooked around the |obby and
spotted a man who fit the description given by the caller
He sent a bell boy to bring himover. Confirmng that the

man was Dan Richter, the clerk handed himthe phone.

"M. Richter, | want you to go to the G eyhound
station down the block," Charlie instructed. "Once you are
inside, | would like you to walk to the candy counter and

purchase a pack of gum Take out two sticks and place them
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in your mouth and begin chewing. You wll see a bank of
| ockers agai nst the opposite wall. Please go to the |ockers,
choose one that is not in use, insert the rolled newspaper
pl ace the correct change into the slot and renove the key.

"By now you should have chewed the gum into a
mal | eable condition. To your left you wll see three
t el ephone booths adjacent to one another. Choose the first
one, walk inside and close the door. Renpve the gumfrom
your mouth, nmold it around the key, then adhere the key to
t he underside of the tel ephone counter. You are then to wal k
out of the bus station w thout |ooking back and return to
your store. Let me reiterate that we have peopl e watching
the entire route, so don't do anything irrational

"You have seven mnutes to conplete your task. The
stopwatch starts right now "

cick.

Charlie took a long swig of his wine, sat in the phone
boot h and wait ed.

Dan Richter nmet the Mam police detectives as he
exited the hotel |obby. Detective McNeill decided to station
detectives Wggins and Taunton in front of the bus depot,
and he would personally nonitor the drop from inside. He
rushed over and took his position.

A mnute later, Dan Richter wal ked into the G eyhound
station, bought the gum chewed two sticks, placed the
rolled newspaper containing the ransominto the |ocker, and

attenpted to enter the phone booth to his left. It had
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recently been painted and was |ocked. The booth in the
center was occupied -- by Charlie! -- so he chose the one on
the right, put the gumon the key and stuck the key to the
undersi de of the counter. Richter exited the phone booth and
wal ked out of the bus station. Charlie staggered out of his
booth and into the other, took the key, walked to the
| ocker, retrieved the newspaper, walked out of the bus
station -- and walked right into Friendly's Bar a half a
bl ock away.

He sat at the bar, and in clear view, spread open the
newspaper. Inside was $200 cash and a nmountain of glittering
j ewel s.

"Drinks are on nme, everybody!" he announced.

A crowd qui ckly gathered.

"What the hell you got there, Charlie?" the bartender
sai d, eyes buggi ng out.

"My aunt died and left nme this," Charlie explained. The
bar crowd consoled Charlie on his aunt's misfortune and
conplinmented himon his good fortune. They toasted his aunt
a half dozen tinmes and had a rousing party in her nenory.
Charlie paid his old tab and then handed the friendly
bartender a small chunk of dianonds.

"Here, ny good man, secure this as collateral against
my future bar tabs."

Meanwhi |l e, Detective Joel MNeill was catching hel
fromhis superiors. Despite the sinplicity of the drop, he

had mssed it! H's eyes had been open too w de.Detective
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McNei || had visited his ophthal nol ogi st that nmorning as part
of an annual police physical. The doctor dropped in a
solution that nade his pupils dilate so that they could be
checked for specific eye problems. Detective MNeill was
told to wear sunglasses for the next twelve hours wuntil the
solution wore off and his pupils could properly function to
protect agai nst excessive |ight.

If there's one thing that Florida has, it's excessive
l'ight.

As Detective MNeill walked to the bus station, the
bright Florida sunshine, which can be blinding to nornal
eyes, cut through his sunglasses and tenporarily blinded
him Wiile he was waiting for his eyes to adjust, Dan

Ri chter made the drop and placed the key in the opposite

boot h. Charlie recovered it. Wen his eyes cleared,
Det ective NcNeill focused themon the wong booth. He either
m ssed the pickup or i gnored it. Wthout MNeill's
identification, Charlie was able to stroll right past the

detectives stationed outside.*1

The eerie luck that shielded Charles Johnson that
af ternoon had struck agai n.

Wi | e Charlie was hoisting the first of hi s
celebratory drinks, Bert Walowitz was dutifully driving down
Sout h Di xi e Highway to Doctors' Hospital in Coral Gables.
The trip took | ess than hour. Walowitz did his best to keep
young Ricky calm assuring himthat everything was going to

be fine. Actually, Ricky had not been told about his
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not her's "accident" and was delighted to get out of schoo
early. Walowitz played tour guide and pointed out all the
interesting sights along the way. Ricky was enjoying the
advent ure.

Waiting at Doctors Hospital were FBI agents and
virtually the entire Coral Gables police force -- arnmed and
ready for some serious kidnapper butt Kkicking. Walowtz
pulled wup, saw the officers, and figured sonething had
happened. He never once imagi ned he mght part of it. Wen
the officers saw the cab, then spotted Ricky, they pounced
upon Walowitz |ike starving Dobernans on a piece of raw
nmeat. Walowitz was yanked out of the car, slapped around,
thrown on the hot hood, frisked, handcuffed and heaved into
a patrol car wth bars separating the driver and the
passenger.

"How could you do such a thing, Wlowtz?" the
detectives grow ed.

"Do what ?" the absolutely nystified cabbie answered.

"Do what ?"

Ri cky, excited by the police cars and all the action,
continued to have a ball. He never knew, nor was he ever
told until years later, that he had been "ki dnapped."”

Walowitz was taken to the police station to be
interrogated. Qutside, his fanmly was crying, the cab
conpany officials were crying, everyone was crying at the
terrible plight of Bert Walowitz.

Everybody except Charles Wesl ey Johnson. He was having
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the time of his life. Charlie left the bar after about an
hour, anbled down the bl ock and pronptly ducked into Stone's
Tavern. He repeated the previous scene, spreading out the
catch on the counter, buying drinks for the house, paying
off his tab and | eaving the bartender with a precious gem as
security against future tabs.

He duplicated his celebration at two nore bars,
sharing his good fortune wth his faithful friends and
friendly bartenders. After partying at the fourth bar, he
stunbled into his roomat the flea-bag Peerless Hotel, also
on Flagler Street. Two unidentified friends put himto bed.
The Peerless Hotel owner, Aurelien Roberge, checked up on
Charlie and found his wallet sitting on the night table.
Roberge rifled through it, counted $160 in twenties, one
ten, and a few scattered ones and brought it into the office
for saf ekeepi ng.

Charlie awoke the next norning around nine. Sobriety
and the stark surroundi ngs conbined to flash a brief nmonment
of sanity into his brain. It occurred to himthat soneone
out there mght be looking for him If not the police, then
any one of a dozen unsavory characters who saw hi m di spl ay
his bounty at the four bars.

"I think it is inperative that | nmke a hasty retreat

fromthis country," he explained to the fuzzy inmage in the
tarni shed mrror.
The "hasty" part of his escape soon gave way to the

nore powerful draw of the beautiful tropical nmorning and the
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anple suppy of wine waiting in the nearby bars. No need to
rush. He was only the nobst wanted person in Florida, and the
obj ect of a massive manhunt. Charlie hit Friendly's again,
and Stone's, and the Backstage Bar. At 11:10 p.m, he
checked into the nearby Royalton Hotel. He checked out
thirty-five mnutes later, and checked into the Fort Knox
Hot el another block or so away.

Charlie instructed the hotel clerk to call the airport
and nmaeke a plane reservation for the next flight to Havana,
Cuba. He also told the clerk to coordinate the flight
departure tinme with a cab ride from the hotel to the
airport. The clerk was asked to nake the reservations in the
name of "Kingsley Elliott" a radio handle Charlie had used
while working as a disc |jockey. The clerk nmade the
arrangenents and earned a nice tip. At 2:45 p.m, Charlie
left for the airport. At 3:45 p.m, he was aboard Cubana
Airlines flight 495 to Havana. He arrived around 4:30 p.m
and settled in at the Hotel Bellamar on Cuba's unspoil ed
Mari anao Beach.

While Charlie slept, all hell was breaking | oose in
Mam . Special editions of the newspapers screanmed the
latest information on the brilliant gang of ki dnappers.
There was little else being broadcast on the radio as
up-to-the-minute reports filled the airwaves. The attention
was so wi despread that it even penetrated the secluded world
of Charlie's favorite Bohem an sal oons. Soon the bartenders

and bar patrons were winging their hands over what to do.
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"Could it be Charlie? It has to be Charlie," they
specul ated. "No, it can't be Charlie. Should we <call the
police? But what if it 1is Charlie? He's such a great guy!
What should we do?"

The patrons debated and drank and drank and debat ed.
Phones were picked up and sl ammed down. Argunments ensued.
Little by little, the calls trickled in to the Manm police.
Fromthis bar and that bar, a pattern enmerged. A call even
came fromone of Charlie's former cellmates fromthe car
theft arrest. The nman, Antonio Feliz, told the police about
the daydream session, and remarked how Charlie Johnson's
version of "the perfect crine" was simlar to what he had
been reading about in the newspapers. In record tinme, the
police had Charlie identified and had rel eased pictures of
himfromhis prior arrest.

The police, FBI, and state attorney's investigators
fanned out across downtown M ami fol |l owi ng Charlie's
Wi ne-soaked trail. They tracked himthrough the bars and
hotels, eventually clinmbing all over the poor clerk at the
Fort Knox Hotel, snatching his tip, and Ilearning that
Charlie had left for Cuba.

They wired a full description, an arrest warrant and a
pi ck-up order to the Cuban police.

The information never arrived.

Charlie Johnson woul d probably have spent the next few
years wooi ng Havana senoritas and inmproving his tan had it

not been for The Mam Herald. Hot on the story, a reporter
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called the Cuban police the follow ng day for an update on
the search. When inforned that the Cubans knew not hi ng about
the dashing crimnal in their midst, The Herald decided to
relay the information. It was enough to send the Cuban
secret police out searching the tropical island for one
Kingsley Elliott, a.k.a. Charles Wsley Johnson.

The Cuban secret police mrrored the search of their
M am counterparts. They picked up Charlie's bilingual trai
and traced himfrombar to bar, hotel to hotel wuntil they
found him the next day sleeping peacefully at Havana's
flagship inn, the Hotel Nacional. They rousted himfrom his
siesta and searched his room but found nothing. They told
hi m he woul d be extradited unless he led themto the jewels,
which they promsed to split. Charlie, always willing to
share with new friends, led the officers to Marianao Beach
where he had stashed the dianonds under a mattress in the
Hotel Bellamar. The secret police confiscated the jewels and
threw Charlie in jail. The Cuban police then called The
Mam Herald and gloated that they had captured the
dangerous felon. The Herald pronptly ran a big story
boasti ng how t he newspaper had hel ped capture the ki dnapper
Somewhere, anid all the gloating and boasting, the officia
lines of communication between the Cuban and Mam |aw
enforcenent agencies were nmmgically unsnarled. Detectives
wer e di spatched from M am . Nine days |ater, Cuban President
Ful genci o Batista cerenoniously signed a warrant ordering

Charlie Johnson's return to the United States.
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And that's when things really got crazy.

Foot not e

1. Dan Richter recalls a different version of what happened
to the detectives that day. He says that after leaving the
Ponce de Leon Hotel, his father Joseph becanme confused and
told one detective that his son had been instructed to go to
the jewelry store first, then to the bus station. That
detective walked back to the store. Dan Richter says a
second detective passed in front of him as he entered the
bus station, so he felt everything was under control

However, accordi ng to Richter's version, the second
detective was on the phone with the FBI when the drop and
pi ck-up went down. Richter said the detectives regrouped at
the bus station and watched the |ocker for fifteen minutes
-- but the pickup had already been made and Charlie was

gone. The detectives were watching an enpty | ocker
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Chapter 2

Fi ve Nickels

PART Il -- THE TRIALS

Charlie showed wup at his arraignnent smartly dressed
in a sparkling white T-shirt, a chocolate-colored sport
jacket, tan pants and the ever present brown and white
oxfords. Thirty-years later, actor Don Johnson, who
resenbles Charlie, would sport a simlar style on the
television show "Mani Vice" and create an internationa
fashi on sensati on.

The judge, uninpressed with Charlie's wardrobe, wanted
to set the trial for June, a little nore than a nonth away.
I had Naval Reserve duty that nonth and had to go to sea.
The judge noved the trial to July, giving nme additional tine
to prepare.

Duri ng t he days inmmediately following Charlie's
arrest, the police and FBI applied intense pressure for
leads on the rest of Charlie's gang. They refused to
believe, or accept, that Charlie had acted alone. The state
prosecutor renmained intent upon Kkeeping his promse to
execute the conspirators side by side in a barber's row of

el ectric chairs.
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Only there wasn't any gang -- unless you count Bert
Walowitz. And Charlie steadfastly refused to inplicate the
cab driver. The prosecutors offered to waive the death
penalty in return for Walowitz's hide, but Charlie and
woul d have none of it.

"What, pray tell, is a Walowitz?" Charlie kept asking.

The cops, who suspected that poor Walowitz wasn't
i nvol ved, had already |let the cabbie go.

If there had been a gang, we'd have been better off. |
coul d have at |east traded sonme information in return for a
wai ver on the death penalty. Charlie could have saved his
skin by fingering sonebody, but there was no one to finger
I finally convinced everyone of that and things quieted
down.

Charlie had another, potentially nore troublesone
dilerma facing him M. This was a mjor kidnapping tria
and | was |less than a year out of |aw school. And worse, Sam
Lei bowitz wasn't around. (Believe ne, | |ooked.) | was way
out of ny league, but I wasn't about to let go of the case.
My resol ve was quickly put to the test. | had recently been
hired by a prestigious corporate law firm headed by Abe
Aronovitz, who would |ater become myor of Manm. M.
Aronovitz informed ne that his firmdidn't handle crinina
I aw.

"Besides, the Richters are close friends of mine,"
Aronovitz said. "You'll have to sit this one out, Ellis."

I had about five dollars to my nane and was living in
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a single roomat a boarding house. The law firmoffered a a
bright future and financial security.

I quit. 1 had little choice. Crimnal |aw was ny
cal ling.

| set up a one-roomoffice right down the hall from
Aronovitz's law firm then rushed over to the University of
M am Law School and had a talk with Dean Russell Rasco.
asked for some advice on how to defend Charlie, then
suggested that we establish a "Criminal Aid Bureau" that
would allow students to gain experience by assisting
attorneys in actual trials. | unselfishly volunteered to
kick off the programwith the Charles Johnson trial. Dean
Rasco saw through the desperation that clouded by notives
and realized that it was a good opportunity for the
students. He gave ne carte blanche to formthe organi zation
| immediately recruited three of the brainiest students in
the school and we went right to work trying to find sonme way
to keep Charlie alive.

Charlie had done a bad thing, no question, but
didn't think he deserved to die for it. He had too nuch to
drink and pulled off a stunt that in his wldest dreans he
never expected would work. Had he been wunable to reach one
person in his <chain of calls the whole scheme would have
bl own apart. Had Ricky been home sick that day. Had the cab
conpany or school questioned his authority. Had M. Richter
been away purchasing jewelry. Had he gotten just one busy

signal. The odds of him succeeding the way he did nust have
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been astrononi cal

Charlie Johnson had wi nged the "crinme of the century."

In his mnd, it was a lark. A serious, and naybe even
a cruel lark, but a lark nevertheless. Charlie was
surprised when he was infornmed that kidnapping carried the
death penalty. He figured that as long as he didn't hurt
anybody, it couldn't be nuch worse than stealing a car

The students and | searched the [|aw books for
sonmet hi ng, anything to save Charlie's neck. It | ooked bl eak.
The "it was a just a joke, ha, ha" defense wasn't going to
fly. A couple of days before the trial, one of the students
poi nted out sonmething in the state kidnapping statutes. |
couldn't believe it. There it was, a |oophole the size of
Tal | ahassee! The answer had been staring us in the face al
al ong. But could it possibly work?

It was all we had.

Judge Fritz Gordon's fourth-floor courtroom was jamred
wal |l -to-wall for the trial. You couldn't wedge another
person in wth a crowbar. The reporters were everywhere.
Many had come from out of t own. There was no
air-conditioning then, and July in Mam is searing. Hand
fans waved about and handkerchiefs frequently appeared to
mop the sweaty brows of everyone fromthe judge to the
jurors. The open wi ndows nerely let in nore hot sumrer air
Everybody in the courtroomwas wilting -- everyone except
Charlie. He was cool as ever and made for a great villain.

He sat at the defense table in a stylish red-checked sport
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jacket, hair perfectly coiffured, and occasionally flashed a
toothy grin so white it dazzled. Wonen began witing himin
jail. But even if a few |l adies wanted his body, the majority
of the public wanted his head.

The prosecution took three days to put on its case. It
was consi derabl e. There was the hard evidence of the noney
and jewelry found under his Hotel Bellamar bed, along wth
the bartenders and their "security" jewelry. The wi tnesses
included Walowitz, the bartenders, their patrons, and
various hotel clerks, nost of whom had to be dragged in to
testify. They I|iked Charlie, but the police pressure was
i ntense.

"I"'msorry, Charlie," one young lady said in tears
after identifying himas the big spender with the cash and
j ewel s.

"It's okay, love," Charlie said and neant it.

I was popping up and down fromthe defense table Iike
a jack-in-the-box, objecting to everything, counterpunching,
zealously trying to keep out the evidence by charging that
the Cubans had acted wunlawfully in searching, arresting and
deceiving Charlie. None of it was working. | was taking an
ol d-f ashi oned, behi nd-t he- shed whi ppi ng from veteran
prosecutors Arthur Carlson and S. O "Kit" Carson. It was so
bad that when Judge Gordon finally sustained one of ny
obj ecti ons, t he whol e courtroom broke out |aughing,

i ncluding the judge, the jury, the prosecutors, and even ne.

When the prosecution rested its case, there wasn't a shred
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of doubt in anyone's mind that Charles Johnson was guilty.

It was now the defense's turn. | stood in court and
gave one of the shortest speeches of nmy entire career

"Your honor, | nove for a disnmissal. According to
State Statute 805.02, a kidnapper nust intend to have actua
custody of the kidnapped person before a crinme is committed.
Charles Johnson never had custody of Ri cky Ri cht er
Therefore, under state |law, there was no ki dnapping."

There was a | ow buzz in the courtroom but nothing out
of the ordinary. Defense attorneys invariably open their
case with dism ssal requests. Only there was a loud buzz in
the judge's head, and that's what counted. He immediately
called a recess for lunch and said the court would reconvene
in two hours.

When everyone returned, the judge sat down and quietly
said, "M. Rubin's nmotion is granted. Case dism ssed." He
slammed the gavel down so hard it rang out |like a shot,
stunni ng everyone in the courtroom

Then he stood and wal ked out.

For a few seconds, the courtroomwas silent. No one
coul d grasp what had happened. When it sunk in, no one could
believe it. The sound began to build. There was a gasp, a
scream followed by a slow runble, building and buil ding
into a frenzy of activity. The reporters sprang fromtheir
seats, out the door and fought over the nearby phones to
call in the news.

"What happened?" Charlie asked ne.
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"You're free," | said.

"How?" he said.

"Don't ask. Let's just get the hell out of here."

| escorted Charlie up to the jail to collect his
things. | was pushing himto nove as quickly as possible.
"Why the hurry?" he inquired.

"I don't want the judge to change his mind," | said.

We exited the courthouse, took one step out into the
sunshine and were surrounded by police officers. They
sl apped handcuffs around Charlie's tanned wists, read him
his rights, and wushered him back into the building. An
of fi cer handed ne a warrant.

Charlie was charged with extortion.

| later learned that during the recess the judge had

summoned M chael Zarowny, the assistant county solicitor, to

hi s chanbers.

"That son-of-a-bitch Rubin has got us on this," the
judge said. "I have to let the bastard go. But you file
extortion charges i mediately. | don't want Johnson to set

f oot outside."

Charlie was brought back to jail. His new arraignnment
was schedul ed for the following nobrning in another
courtroom The change was a break because Judge Gordon was
in no nood to have nmercy on Charlie or ne. Actually, he
didn't have a choice. Kidnapping is a capital offense,
meaning it involved the death penalty. Extortion is a

violation of a |lesser felony law. W not only had to switch
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courtroons, we transferred into a different court system

The foll owing day, the whole circus was noved up two
floors. Same people, same faces, but a new room and new
judge -- and the new judge was our old friend fromthe car
theft trial, Judge Ben WII ard.

Charlie and | had come full circle.

"Hello M. Rubin. Hello Charlie," Judge WIllard
greeted us over the rhythm c sound of the paddle fans that
hung in rows fromthe sixth-floor courtroom ceiling. "You
two have been <creating quite a fuss. That was a swifty you
pulled, Ellis. MW conmplinments. Now let's get down to
busi ness. How do you pl ead?"

"Before | do that your honor, 1'd Ilike to argue a
notion to disnmiss," | said.

There was audible laughter fromthe gallery. Even
Judge W Il ard was taken aback, but he was not anused.

"Let's get on with the proceedings," he said.
"No, hear nme out, judge," | said. It was the first

time | had ever tal ked back to a judge. Surprisingly, he |let

nme.
"Ckay, I'Il listen, but you better be prepared to go
to trial. There's no way you'll get a disnissal here."
“Your honor," | said, pulling out a Florida case book.
“I'n the precedent-setting cases, it was found that in the

event of an acquittal on a kidnappi ng charge, the defendant
is acquitted of all the Iesser included offenses. Your

honor, extortion is a lesser included offense in every
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ki dnappi ng. "

The courtroomwas silent. Judge WIllard furrowed his
brow, twi sted his face and then expl oded.

"Request denied."

He set the trial for August 12, about three weeks
away.

It never happened. Judge WIllard' s denial had nerely
been a face-saving tactic. He called in t he state
prosecutors and they dropped the extortion charge, and
instantly replaced it wth another one -- grand |arceny.
That too was a "l esser included of fense" and woul dn't stand,
but it was a bit nmurkier and would keep Charlie in jai
until they could find sonmething that would stick

The FBlI cane to the state's rescue. On July 30,
Charlie was indicted by a federal grand jury on the charge
of transporting stolen jewelry out of the country. The grand
| arceny charge nelted away and Judge Wl ard publicly washed
his hands of wus in the newspapers. Charlie and | were
shuffled off to yet another courtroom another judge, and
this time, another building. At |least we had finally escaped
the buzzards at the Dade County Courthouse, both literally
and figuratively.

But they had us with the federal charge. That wasn't
an included offense of the kidnapping. Taking the jewels to
Cuba had nothing to do with the kidnapping. | couldn't see
any way of getting out of that.

As with everything, Charlie took it in stride.
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"Hey, stolen jewelry, I can live with that," he said.
"Renmenber, they were going to sit nme down in that unpl easant
electrical <chair. The way | figure it, we've cone out way
ahead!"

The federal trial was put off until January 1953. The
eight nmonths in jail had faded Charlie's tan. He didn't | ook
quite so dapper anynore. Federal Judge Charles Wche, a
col orful character in his own right, traveled from

Spartanburg, South Carolina to preside over the trial

During the jury selection, | used nmy ten allotted
challenges to excuse all the teetotalers. | wanted people
who knew what it was |like to tie one on, and nore
i mportantly, what al cohol can nmeke vyou do. | reasoned that

they might relate to Charlie's state of nind when he nade
his <calls. This logic would have worked nuch better had

been able to seat a jury of blind drunks, but all | could
get were people who said they were "unopposed" to al cohol

There were little fireworks at Charlie's final trial

I considered arguing that the jewelry wasn't actually
stolen, nore of a gift, but that was really stretching.

argued again that what the Cuban secret police had done to
Charlie -- an unlawful, unreasonable search based upon
i nformati on supplied not by the police, but by a newspaper
reporter, and then arresting him without a warrant --
violated the search and seizure laws in the United States
Constitution. It was a great point -- until the prosecutor

reminded the jurors that the United States Constitution
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doesn't apply to Cuba.

If Charlie had only taken the jewels to Key West...

| also argued that the use of the stolen jewelry in
evi dence "“infringed on Charlie's right of conpulsory
self-incrimnation." That sounded good but the judge didn't
buy it. | scratched and cl awed and objected to everything. |
berated the Cuban secret police goons when they took the
stand, but in the end the jury wasn't swayed an inch. They
found Charlie guilty.

Judge Wche sentenced Charlie to a stiff nine years in
the Atlanta penitentiary. It seened reasonable. Charlie
woul dn't Dbe executed. He wouldn't do |life. But he would be
puni shed for his irresponsible action, and woul d probably be
paroled after two or three years if he behaved hinself.

During the sentencing, the judge conplinented Charlie
on his "cultured mnd, adeptness and splendid personality."
Then he and Charlie had a peculiar conversation

"Your case has interested ne a great deal..." the

judge said. "How nmany | anguages do you speak?"

"Two," Charlie replied.
"That's wonderful," Judge Wche gushed. "I've always
believed that's one of the finest things anyone can do. |'ve

been trying to convince my daughter to take up |anguages.
How much educati on do you have?"

“I"'ve been to college, sir," Charlie answered. "At
Gonzaga University in Wshington and a nedical school in

Mexi co. "
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"I think your system is a shrewd one," the judge
continued. "But |'m astounded at how reckl ess you were after
you obtained the jewels. W probably would have had a hard

time catching you as smart as you are if you hadn't

di spl ayed the jewels the way you did...| feel confident that
you can rehabilitate yourself. I"'mgoing to keep up with
your case. |'mvery much interested and | want you to wite
me. | want to wi sh you good |uck!"

Charlie's reaction to this conversation was typical

"The judge sure talked nice, but | wi sh he hadn't been
so free with nmy tinme."

Charlie wote me a few tines over the next couple of
years. He said he had started a prison newspaper and was
editor-in-chief. | suspected he had a wine press hidden in
the kitchen. After those few letters though, | never heard
from hi m agai n.

I've had nore than 5,000 clients since Charlie. The
faces are a blur. But [|'lIl never forget Charles Wsley
Johnson' s.

Little Ricky Richter grewup and becane, of al

things, an attorney. He now practices law in New Ol eans.

Epi | ogue

When Charlie Johnson peered into a television canera

in 1951 and said "Get me Ellis Rubin," it <changed ny life.

The subsequent coverage of his trials by the new visua



Get Me EllisRubin!

medium instantly elevated me into the ngmjor |eagues of
crimnal |aw. Cases began pouring in. Few knew it then, but
the power of television was awesone.

Twenty-six years later, the circle would conplete. By
then, television was dom nating society to an increasingly
disquieting degree. In 1977, the flickering i mages would
change ny life again.

But this tinme, we were bitter adversaries.
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Chapter 3

Programmed To Kil

PART |

"When | said get up, she didn't want to get up...And
then | got scared and | said, A gun, a bullet, oh no!'
So then | pictured the little scene in nmy mnd of her
getting up sayin' ~Get out of here!" And I'd just voom
out of the house." -- Ronny Zanora, wunder the truth

serum sodi um anyt al

On Saturday evening, June 4, 1977, my youngest child,
Kim was attending a confirmation party along with fifty
other teenagers at Tenple Enanu-El on M am Beach. After
dinner and the traditional Jewi sh "comi ng of age"
cerenonies, the adults evaporated into the hunmid night and
the kids scurried up to the reception hall for a dance.
Packs of additional fourteen, fifteen and sixteen-year-olds
arrived to join their newly-confirnmed friends. Anong the

late arrivals was a dark-haired, fifteen-year-old Costa

Ri can named Ronny Zanora
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Ronny was a friend of Kinms. In her teenaged eyes, he

was a "very cute, very cool guy," who was "exceedingly wel
mannered." All of which made him a "sweetheart of a guy."

Hi s | ooks and charm won his acceptance in the junior high's

harshly restrictive "in" clique despite being "socially out

of his league." Mdst of this particular junior high jet set
consi sted of upper middle class to wealthy students with fat
al l omances. Ronny was from a first-generation imr grant
famly wth five children. Kim said Ronny frequently
borrowed fashionable clothes fromhis friends to keep up

Ronny, Kim and nost of the party-goers were cl assmates
at Nautilus Junior H gh on Mani Beach. The rest of the
teenagers attended area Catholic or Hebrew schools. Kim
remenbers the five-foot, three-inch Ronny being in high
spirits that evening. He flashed a wad of nopney and said he
and four of his buddies were on their way to Disney Wrld.
He invited Kimand her prettiest girlfriends to go along --
his treat. Kimdeclined, as did the other young | adies.

"He said he was leaving right then and wanted us to

go," Kim now twenty-seven, says today. "We had just gotten
confirmed and were all dressed up. | said “Ronny you're
nuts.' |If he'd have given us sone advanced notice, we would
have gone."

O so Kim thinks. My wife Irene would never have
allowed it. (She wused to nmeke the children |eave phone

nunbers and sign in and out whenever they left the house.)

On the way to Disney World, Ronny and crew were pull ed
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over by a Florida H ghway Patrol Trooper for speeding. Paul
Tol edo, seventeen, was driving the 1972 Buick Electra
because he was the only one among the group who had a valid
driver's license. Ronny had provided the <car, alternately
telling his friends it belonged to his father or his aunt.
Considering who the car really belonged to, and the fact
that there was a pistol in the trunk that Ronny had proudly
showed his friends, the encounter should have dooned their
adventure right there. But the trooper took a synpathetic
view of the fresh-faced youngsters going to Disney Wrld and
didn't bother to search the car. When he asked for the car
regi stration, Ronny took a chance and reached into the glove
conpartnent. He found a gas station credit card slip and
handed it over. The bill was addressed to Elinor Haggart,
ei ghty-two, Ronny's next-door neighbor. Ronny told the
trooper she was Paul's aunt. The officer believed him and
waved themon with a ticket and a sinple warning to slow
down.

The youths' spirits were buoyed higher by the narrow
escape. They arrived in Ol ando and spent the first night at
a Ramada I nn where they had a rousing pillow fight before
falling asleep.The boys spent the next norning racing
colorful nmotor boats and splashing down slides at River
Country, Disney World's popular water resort. After drying
off, they went to the main area of the thene park, took a
trip down Space Muntain, then checked into a luxury suite

at the ritzy Contenporary Resort Hotel on the Disney Wrld
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grounds. Tanned and | ooki ng for action, they wandered around
the lobby and were drawn into the video room by the beeps,
boomrs and rat-a-tats emanat i ng from the nmulticolored
machi nes. Fl ashing Ronny's nmoney like big timers, they shot
pool, played pinball, and fed quarters into the machines
bei ng used by pretty girls. Two young | adi es were inpressed
enough to accept an invitation to party with t he
good- | ooking boys in their roons. Aided by an anple anpunt
of alcohol, the inpronptu festivities turned into an
all-night love fest.

The M am Beach teenagers continued their weekend of
sex, booze and M ckey Muse on Monday norning by hanging
around the hotel, going back to Disney Wrld, having |unch
and bird dogging every chick who wasn't attached to her
parents. They left for Mam Monday afternoon, June 6.

Back in Mani Beach, Tol edo dropped off his friends
and headed hone. Ronny told himto keep the car for a while
because his aunt was out of town.

The foll owing day, Ronny snelled a bad odor com ng
fromthe home of his neighbor, Elinor Haggart. He sonetines
hel ped the wonan carry in groceries and assisted her with
ot her chores, so he was concerned about her safety. He went
to a back window, tried to open it but broke the glass. He
abandoned his efforts and returned hone.

The next norning, Mam Beach police officers Zel
Hall and Robert G bbs responded to a call about the broken

wi ndow and Ms. Haggart's absence from her daily routines.
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Ronny's mot her, Yolanda, nmet the officers when they arrived
and told themthat Ms. Haggart hadn't been seen since
Sat urday. Approaching the house, which was shaded by a | arge
aqua awning, Oficer Hall snelled the odor he's cone to
recogni ze as that of a deconposing human body. Hall wused a
knife to pick the lock of the front door. Inside, the snell
was staggering. Hall and G bbs split up to search the hone.
Both imediately noticed that it had been ransacked by
burglars. Hall found Haggart's body on the living room
floor. She was fully dressed and had a sheer, turquoi se gown
covering her face. Beside her was a bottle of Od Forester
bourbon and an enpty, tipped over glass. Three photographs,
one of her son, her nother, and her deceased husband, were
scattered around her body. Ms. Haggart had been shot once
in the stomach. The .32 calibre, brown-nosed |ead bullet
travel ed upward through her torso and | odged itself between
her back and her bra strap. On the front side of her bra,
the nmedi cal examiner found two dianmond rings the elderly
woman had hi dden from her killers.

As she lay dying, Elinor Haggart's bl ood spilled out
upon the photograph of her nother

When Yol anda Zanora's son came honme from school that
afternoon, she told himwhat had happened next door

"Ronny, did you have anything to do with that?" she
asked.

Ronny said he didn't.

Yol anda had reason to question her son. She knew he
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had gone to Disney Wrld and was suspicious of how he
financed the trip. Ronny answered that he and his friends
hit it big at the dog track. Ms. Zanora found that hard to
bel i eve.

There was sonething else that disturbed Ms. Zanora.
Just a few weeks before, she had received a phone call from
an administrator at Nautilus Junior H gh. Ronny and a friend
had been caught snoking marijuana in the school restroom and
wer e suspended from regul ar classes for a week. In addition,
Ronny was flunking because he was skipping school to stay
home and watch tel evision. Wien he did show up, he slept
during class, was wundisciplined and caused trouble. The
adm ni strator warned her that Ronny's new friend, Darrel
Agrella, fourteen, had a police record and suggested that
Ms. Zanmpra separate the pair. Ms. Zanora considered
transfering her son to a Catholic school and sent himto a
psychol ogi cal counsel or provided by Catholic Services. The
counsel or, Dr. Jack Jacobs, performed a battery of
psychol ogi cal tests and concl uded that although Ronny was of
average intelligence, he was confused, depressed, and
“interprets his world in a hostile manner." Dr. Jacobs
recommended that both Ronny and his famly be involved in
psychot her apy.

Ms. Zanora was shocked by the finding. Although Ronny
had al ways been a poor student, he had never before been in
serious trouble.

These thoughts raced through Ms. Zanora's mind as an
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anbul ance and a swarm of police cars gathered around Ms.
Haggart's house. Neighbors had crowded around the yellow
t ape boundaries marking off the residence. In the mdst of
the sirens, spinning blue and red lights, and television
news caneras, Paul Toledo, Tinmothy Cahill and sonme other
friends drove by in Ms. Haggart's bl ue Buick. Like everyone
el se, the boys slowed down to see what was happeni ng.

No one noticed them

They parked the car down the bl ock and wal ked back to
join the crowd. They inquired as to the commti on, and were
told by a neighborhood youngster that Elinor Haggart had
been nmur dered.

The nane rang a bell. It was the sanme nane on the gas
slip in the glove conpartnment.

"We just freaked out," Cahill recalled.

Tol edo then heard a news report that said the police
were |ooking for Ms. Haggart's 1972, blue Buick sedan. He
wote down the |icense nunmber and went back to doubl e check
the Buick. To his horror, the nunbers and letters, 1WN122,
mat ched. So did the bunper sticker -- "Warning: | Brake for
Animals." Petrified, he rounded up his friends again. They
confronted Darrell Agrella outside a Burger King not far
fromthe fanmous Fontainebleau H Iton Hotel. Agrella, who had
not gone to Disney Wrld, confirnmed that the car had been
stolen and advised themto "ditch it." The gang drove the
Bui ck down Royal Palm Avenue and left it at 37th Street,

eight blocks from Elinor Haggart's home. Darrell further
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advised them to wipe down the inside of the car to
obliterate their fingerprints. They conplied, then walked
back to Ronny's house to interrogate him Standing in the
doorway and speaking in a whisper, Ronny adnmitted that he
and Darrell had stolen the car and robbed Ms. Haggart, but
denied shooting the woman. He shooed his friends away,
saying he didn't want his father to hear

After leaving Ronny's house, Toledo had an al arning
thought. The traffic ticket! The police had him nailed.
Anot her enmergency neeting was called. The Disney World Four
deci ded that before the police came and carried themall
away in cuffs, they had to finger Ronny and Darrell. They
arrived in a pack at the Mam Beach police station shortly
after 9 p.m

While his friends were singing to the police, Ronny
was feeling the heat at home. Ms. Zanobra continued to hound
her son about the noney. Ronny cane unglued. He was crying,
trenmbling, and chewing his fingernails down to the flesh.
The stranger he acted, the nore enotional Ms. Zanora
becanme. Ronny admitted that he had been in Ms. Haggart's
car that weekend, a revelation that caused his nother to
beconme hysterical. She called her husband at the office. He
came home and shook his son violently by the shoul ders,
demandi ng to know the details and threatening to give him
the beating of his life. Ronny refused to say anything nore.
Ms. Zampbra phoned Sergeant Janmes Harkins, a Mam Beach

police officer who was a family friend. Harkins arrived
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within nmnutes and found the whole famly in an enptiona
upheaval . The other children were <crying. Ms. Zanora was
crying. Ronny was crying and M. Zanpbra was screani ng
Everyone was talking at once. The veteran police sergeant
tried to calm them down, then asked to speak with Ronny
privately. He escorted Ronny into the bathroom and shut the
door. Ronny began to open up. His first story was that two
men had driven up with Ms. Haggart, spotted Ronny in his
yard and forced him inside wth her. The nen, Ronny said,
ordered him to shoot her. When Harkins said he couldn't
believe that, Ronny changed the story, admitting that he and
Darrell were responsible.

Sergeant Harkins convinced the Zanmobras that they
should all go to the police station and allow Ronny to turn
himself in. He advised them to request a |lawer before
allowing their son to say anything. The fanmly arrived at
the police station at 9:45 p.m, less than an hour after
Ronny's friends. Inside, they encountered the nothers of two
of the boys pacing nervously in the police waiting room
When the wonen spotted Ms. Zanora, they |ashed out at her
nearly striking her in the face. The nothers bl aned Ronny
and his inmgrant famly for getting their sons involved in
a nurder. Ms. Zanbra was too shattered to argue and
retreated into another room

After being read his rights, Ronny requested an
attorney. The police attenpted to contact a public defender

but said they couldn't | ocate one because of the |ate hour
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They had no trouble, however, |ocating a prosecutor
Assi stant State Attorney Thomas Headl ey. Headl ey rushed over
to advi se t he detectives how to handle the sudden
devel opnent. When Headl ey arrived, the Zanoras thought he
was their public defender. Headley had to brush t he
enotional Zanoras off, explaining that he was on the other
si de.

Ronny was taken into an office by a pair of
detectives. He grew inpatient waiting for an attorney and
began tal king. The teenager confessed two nore tines that
eveni ng, and nunerous additional tinmes the foll owing day. He
told the detectives that Darrell had come over the previous
Saturday and said they needed noney for a party. While they
were discussing ways to obtain the noney, he heard one of
Ms. Haggart's cats scream ng next door and thought soneone

m ght be trying to break in. Ronny decided to be "Kojak" and

i nvestigate a "B&E" -- pseudo police/television parlance for
"breaki ng and entering." At sone poi nt in their
i nvestigation, Ronny and Darrell decided to transform

thenmsel ves from good-guy cops to bad-guy robbers. Elinor
Haggart arrived home and caught themin the act. Since she
knew Ronny, she viewed himas a naughty boy and said she
woul d have to tell his parents. What happened next, and how
El i nor Haggart ended up being gut shot with her own gun,
took months and nany doctors to deternmine. But as each new
revelation was discovered, it all fit the same bizarre

psychol ogi cal pattern -- a rare psychosis that was al nost
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i npossible to believe, but seened an inevitable result of

our high-tech society.

Ronal d Zanora was arrested on June 8, 1977 and charged
with first-degree nmnurder. Darrell Agrella, a handsone,
bl ue-eyed ladies nan who already had a police record for
| arceny, was arrested on the sanme charge shortly afterward.
Unlike Ronny, he invoked his right to remain silent. The
police searched Agrella's hone and found Ms. Haggart's
jewelry, checkbook, silverware, keys, and her mantel -sized
grandfather clock. |Inthe living room they discovered
El i nor Haggart's $600 Zenith television set sitting on top
of the famly television. The officers also found a box in
the Agrella garage inscribed with the nane tag "Col. A L.
Haggart, u. S. Arny, " El i nor Haggart's |ate husband.
Darrell's mother said her son explained that a friend was
nmovi ng up north and needed a place to keep his stuff.

El i nor Haggart's two-carat dianond ring was | ocated on
the finger of Darrell's fourteen-year-old girlfriend. The
young | ady vowed to keep it and had to be persuaded by sone
grimfaced detectives to change her mi nd.

The details of Ronny's confession appeared on the
front page of the next nmorning's Mam Herald. Although it
was unethical of the police, it wasn't unexpected. Edna
Buchanan, The M ani Herald's Pulitzer Prize-winning police
reporter, had for the upteenth time weaved her magic spel

over some cop and acqui red t he i nformati on. In a
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crinme-riddled society |ike South Florida, the nedia can't
play up every nurder. |Instead, they pick those wth
especially heinous or interesting elenments to flesh out,
thus using the one case to synbolize the overall alarm of
the many. In the sumer of 1977, Ronny Zanora and Darrel

Agrella becanme that one case. Buchanan's description of the
two teenagers robbing and shooting the elderly wonman, then
Ronny taking her car and noney and cel ebrating by partying
at Disney Wrld, gave The Herald's readers the creeps. He
was viewed as a col d- bl ooded nurderer of the worst sort, a
teenaged Charles Manson. The press coverage subjected the

Zamora family to a barrage of cruel crank calls.

The girl in hysterics on the end of the tel ephone was
nmy daughter Kim She was at a payphone in front of Nautilus
Junior High. The news of Ronny and Darrell's arrest was
rocki ng the school |ike a sumrer thunderstorm

"I don't see how Ronny could have done such a thing,"
she said, sobbing. "I was just talking to himlast night. He
didn't say a word about it. Not a word. You' ve got to do
sonet hi ng, daddy. You've got to get himout of jail. He'l
be hurt in there."”

Being ny daughter, Kimhad spent all of her life on
the fringes of nurder. But this was the first time it
i nvol ved soneone she knew. | told her to stay put and I'd
pi ck her up. At home, Kimcontinued to sob and begged ne to

get Ronny out of jail.
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| explained to her that there was nothing | could do.
I couldn't solicit a client. That was against the law. | was
nearly disbarred once for comng to the aid of a fellow
serviceman who had been wrongly accused of nurder.*1
Al t hough the | aws and ethics have since changed with the
advent of | awyers advertising, back then they were
unbendi ng. Before | could hel p Ronny, his parents woul d have
to ask me. Kimdidn't understand, as nopst people wouldn't,
and continued to cry and beg. Show ng remarkabl e insight for
a teenager, Kim said Ronny was driven to theft by peer
pressure. He needed the noney to keep up with his "in crowd"
friends.

A few days later, Ms. Zanora called. She wanted nme to
represent her son. | suspected ny daughter's involvenent,

but didn't nention it, tightroping the ethical question

Ms. Zanora said she had little noney. | told her not to
worry about paying ne. | would represent Ronny as a favor to
nmy daughter. | told Ms. Zanora that what noney she had

shoul d be used to pay doctors to evaluate and treat her son.

After wvisiting Ronny's nother and stepfather, | went
to the Dade County Youth Hall to visit this "despicable
sub- human" who had shocked crine-hardened Manmi . Instead of
a savage beast, | was surprised to find nothing nore than a
little boy. He | ooked nore Anerican than Latin, and appeared
to have no conception of what he had done and what |ay ahead
of him I'Il never forget his first words.

“"M. Rubin, when am| going to get out of here and go
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back to school? I'mmissing all ny homework."

| made arrangenents to have Ronny anal yzed by severa
top psychiatrists and psychologists. The doctors' reports
were startlingly simlar

Ronny Zanmora, born My 7, 1962, was Yol anda' s
illegitimate son. He was a "blue baby," which is a child
born with respiratory problens that can cause brain damage
or death. The baby survived apparently intact. Because of
his bastard birth, Yolanda, seventeen, was di sowned by her
father. She lived with various relatives for three years,
then noved to New York to work as a nmaid. She Ileft Ronny
with friends in Costa Rica for two years before sending for
him In New York, Yolanda net and married Frank Zanora, a
man she knew from Costa Rica. Life was tough on the young
couple. She initially couldn't afford a babysitter, but had
to work to survive. She also enrolled in beauty school to
better herself by becom ng a beautician. (She |ater became a
nurse.) Her solution to the <child care dilemm was to
purchase a television set, sit young Ronny down in front of
it, and pray that it captured his attention enough to keep
hi m safe while she was worki ng and attendi ng school. It did.
Ronny was nmesnerized by the inmages on the screen. Later
when the Zanoras were able to afford a babysitter, the worman
they hired noted Ronny's fascination and continued to allow
himto sit glued in front of the set eight hours a day, even
feeding hi mwhile he watched. Tel evision becanme not only his

babysitter, but his teacher, his pastor, his nother, father
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and school. He |l earned English fromtelevision. He |Iearned
his sense of right and wong. He learned television's idea
of norality. He learned the facts of life.

At age five, he read and nenorized the listings in
the TV Gui de despite the fact that he couldn't wite a word.

Li ke "Chance, the gardener” in the Peter Seller's
novi e "Being There," every aspect of Ronny Zanora was shaped
by what he had seen on television. And if the figures given
by numerous social organizations, including the PTA are
correct, what Ronny Zanpora had seen on television by the
tinme he was fifteen was 20,000 nurders.

The doctors described Ronny as a "true television
addi ct" whose every activity "was controlled by what he had
seen on television."

I ncluded anobng the exam ners was M chael G lbert, a
doubl e doctor with an MD. in psychiatry and a Ph.D. in
psychol ogy. Also included was Dr. Jorge Lievano, a child
psychi atrist who had trained and worked at the worl d-famous
Menni nger Foundation in Topeka, Kansas, and had been
conmmi ssioned by the President of the United States to serve
in Korea as a Chief of Psychiatry and Neurology for the
Second Infantry Division of the U S. Arny.

Bot h felt Ronny was nentally unstable and that
tel evision had been a mjor factor. Dr. Glbert was
especially strong in naking the connection, stating that
Ronny's reaction to television was so overwhelning it caused

himto | apse into periods of legal insanity.
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"...the boy had reacted nore or less as an autonmaton
at the tine of the shooting," Dr. Gl bert explained.

“...at that very nmoment he was not in contact with
reality...he was not even aware that he was pulling the
trigger," Dr. Lievano added.

During one of his neetings wth Ronny, Dr. Lievano
witnessed Ronny warp out right in the mddle of their

session. Dr. Lievano explained it in a deposition

"...and Ronny | ooks at ne...he had the fantasy and he
projected his fantasy onto nme. And then he says,
apparently he was thinking of a novie that he had seen
on television, and he says "you look |like Dracula.' And
| say "Why do | look |ike Dracula, ny fangs or ny eyes
or what?' And he | ooks kind of puzzled at nme and says,
"Well, no, you are really Dr. Lievano,' |ike he went
back to reality for alittle while right there, and he

did not have a very good reality at all..."

Dr. Glbert suggested that in order to cut through
Ronny's fantasy world and find out what really happened in
El i nor Haggart's house that afternoon, he needed to inject
himw th sodiumanytal, a truth serum*2 The result, which
has never been publicly revealed, proved that Ronny's
tel evision-related psychosis was enbedded in his nenta
core.

Under the influence of the hypnotic nedication, Ronny
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said Darrell egged him on to enter the house after they
checked out the cat noise. He finally relented and Darrel

followed. The way Ronny told it, he sat around dunbfounded
while the nore experienced Darrell did all the work
searching for noney and jewelry. Shortly after they entered,
Ms. Haggart pulled up in her blue Buick. Ronny had enough
time to leave, but couldn't get Darrell out of a back

bedr oom

" “Darrell, come on Darrell, wll you cone on, you're
going to get caught...'
"By the tinme we reached the door, Ms. Haggart was

wal king up and she...noticed ne first and she goes,

"What are you doing here?” And | go, “I'm not doing
nothin'. Please let nme |eave. Please. Please. Please.
Let me | eave. Please.' And she goes, Do you know what
you are doing?" And | go "No, I'm leavin'." And she

goes "No, you're robbing nmy house.'

"Who me?"

"...She then started telling nme... boy, how young
robbers get these days...So, you know, she was smilin',
so | wasn't worried too nuch...So she said “~Well, [|I'm
sorry, I'mgoing to go call the police.'

"“...Darrell, he either pushed the door or he kicked it
open, and fromthere she realized she was in trouble!
He said, "All right Jlady, you're on to us...sit down,

shut up, don't nmake no noise and you won't get hurt.'
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So she sat on the floor. She sat down...sorta mndin'

her own business. And nme, | was just watchin'. | nmean,
sonmetinmes, you know, | feel like a bully, I say, “Oh
yeah,' I'mgonna tell this lady, "Od |ady, get out of

my way'...but | ain't got the heart to do it.

"...She said, "Can you please...go inside the that
closet down there and get ne a bottle of sonethin'
burgundy (bourbon), whiskey, rum..So | went and got
the thing and brought it back...She said WII| you
pl ease go and get nme a glass of water?...So | nust have

gone forth about ten tinmes satisfying her needs..."

Ronny said he was calling Darrell "Tom" and Darrel

was calling him"Bill," to disguise thensel ves. Ms. Haggart

was playing along. Sonetines she called him"Ronny," then
corrected herself and said "Bill." After getting the water
and whi skey, Ms. Haggart then asked "Bill" to go into her

bedroom and find sone pictures she kept in a drawer. The
pi ctures included a photograph of her deceased husband. Ever

polite, even as a robber, Ronny conplied.

"I showed her the pictures. The first picture was just
a lake and a nmountain, | think, and she just said,
"This is | ake such and such.' And she goes, "This is ny
husband. .. and she saw another, the |ady was identified
as her nother. So I just sat down and just |ookin' at

her enj oyi n' hersel f. And t hen I started
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thinkin'...what was | gonna do? |I'm sure the |ady had
identified ne. | was gonna get in trouble for robbing
Ms. Haggart's house and that was that. And | was going
to get the daylights beaten out of ne...

"Then Darrell, uh, while scranmblin' through sonme kinds
of crates, or sonme boxes of jewelry, he found the gun.
A very old, black gun...So | took the gun and | went,
you know, to the <coffee table and | started playing
around. | could even have killed nyself. | should' ve.

And | was pointing the gun to ny head, to ny stonach,

nmy legs, to ny arms, oh, | put it in ny nmouth, sone
ot her stuff, stupid stuff. | pointed it at Ms. Haggart
with no intention. | pointed at the ceiling, | pointed

at the piano. | pointed at the door, anything that

| ooked bi g enough to hit.

"...So0 Darrell was ready to start packing...he said,
“All right Ronny, let's get it over with.' | said, what
do you nean ‘let's get it over with?' | said, You, you
get it over with...'" So he went over to another room

He brought out a pillow and it snelled kind of
clean...l was wonderin' "What is this kid crazy or
sonmet hin?' So then he took (the pillow) half way and he
folded the other half and he said, "You' re going to
have to muffle the sound.' And | was just playing along
with him didn't want to seem stupid. | said °Yeah

yeah, yeah.' And he went around the house searchin',

cl osi ng wi ndows, shades, |anps, whatever. And | said



Get Me EllisRubin!

"Well, |I'm not going to do it. I'mnot going to Kil
nobody!' He goes "~ Sonebody gotta do it.'l said, " Not
me. You get into trouble killing somebody."

"He said | robbed the house. | got all the val uables.

| found the $450. | found the gun which can bring us
about $50. | found just about everything. How are you
going to do ne like that?

"I don't give a dam how | do you."

"And he goes to ne, "~ You gonna kill her.'

""No | aint,"" | said. "'If you say that again |I'm
going to bust you in the nmouth.'

"So he went over and he started playing with his
jewelry like kings run through their gold...| started
playing with the gun sone nore...And what really got to
me was, not once, NOT ONCE did Ms. Haggart say, ~Watch
out you m ght hurt somebody...'

"...She said... If you leave and don't take nothin',
and you | eave right now, I won't call t he
police...Darrell heard her when he was comn' in and he
said, “No way, no deal, you'd testify against us...'

"So | said "Ch no, this lady's determ ned. Wat am|
gonna do? Mm wll, oh boy, robbin" a lady's house,

that's too much...and that's when the gun went off...|I

was just holdin" it tight. I don't know why. | was
scared and before | knewit, | nean, it happened so
fast...l covered ny ears..

"...l stayed sittin' on top of the coffee table. | was
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still thinking what | was going to tell my nother for
robbing the lady's house. | had a feeling she was going
to go over and tell ny nmother...Wen | said, “~Get up,'
she didn't want to get up. And then | got scared and
said, "A gun, a bullet, oh no.'" So then | pictured the
little scene in nmy nmnd of her getting up sayin' ~ Get
out of here,' and I'd just voom out of that house.
"...l saw a scene. | saw, not |ooking directly at her

| saw Ms. Haggart rise wup. | did not see no blood on
her dress. She did not seem to be hit by the bullet.

She canme up to nme, grabbed the gun, told nme to |eave,

and | ran...In that novie that | sawin ny dream the
boy lived. So | said, "Oh, it happened like in the
dream’' And | left."

It was the nost bizarre confession | had ever heard.
didn't know if Ronny was a heartless killer or mischievous
little boy. What | did know was that Ronny Zanora
"re-edited" a scene out of reality like he was acting in a
tel evision show. After the gun went off, he didn't like the

result. So he yelled "Cut," rewote the script and "re-shot”
the scene. In his new ending, he m ssed Ms. Haggart and she
got up, took the gun fromhim and chased the foolish child
away.

Dr. Glbert was equally noved.

"This was, | felt, a very involved situation. | nmnust

confess in the well over twenty-five years that | have been
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involved in forensic psychiatry, | think this is the nost
i nvolved situation | have ever been in. | felt it required
consi derabl e study, considerable concern, and considerable
retrospection in order to arrive at an opinion that was
consi stent with what had occurred.”

The scene fromthe novie where "the boy lived" turned
out to be a dream sequence from Ronny's favorite television
show, "Kojak."

Wth his new "Kojak"-inspired scene replacing the
shock of reality, Ronny Zanora subnerged hinself into an
even bigger fantasy |land -- Disney Wrld. He never gave the
shooting a second thought. He fully expected Elinor Haggart
to be alive and well and out puttering in her yard when he
returned.

Once the type and extent of Ronny's sickness was
known, the doctors and | began to further investigate the
cause.

Ei ght een nonths before the shooting, Ronny suffered a
psychol ogi cal | y-scarring experience. Wile attending the
eighth grade in Staten Island, New York, he and thirteen
friends were playing on a frozen reservoir. One of his
cl assmates, Scott Sefedinoski, fell through the ice. Ronny
courageously dived into the frigid water to rescue his
friend. He grabbed the boy's arm but lost his grip in the
struggle. Scott drowned.

That night, Ronny dreaned that he had pulled Scott

out. The vision was so real he woke up feeling that's what
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happened. He went to school and asked everyone where Scott
was. He was ridiculed by his classmates or avoided by those
who felt he had snapped.

When the truth of Scott's death finally penetrated his
fantasy, Ronny was devastated. He blamed hinself. Ms.
Zamora said he sat alone in his roomfor nonths, nentally
replaying the scene in his mnd. He began to drink and cane
home drunk on a nunmber of occasions. He told psychiatrist
Wlliam Corwin that he often heard Scott's clear voice
calling his name and the nanme of the reservoir

In her examination, Dr. Helen Ackerman uncovered the
seeds of Ronny's guilt regarding the ill-fated rescue
attenpt:

"...as he saw this youngster go down, the youngster's
hands stuck up. He saw the hand of Dracula, and it was like
at one level, he wshed to save him to make the extra
effort. But that hand of Dracula so frightened himthat he
was repul sed by it."

That forced Ronny to live with this question -- Dd
Scott slip through his grip, or did his hand jerk back in a
reflex reaction to the frightening television imge his mnd
conjured up?

"He's a sick youngster," Dr. Ackerman concluded. "It's
tragic he was not seen ten years ago. That's the unfortunate
thing."

The famly noved to Florida that sunmer after M.

Zamora received a job offer to becone an agent for a
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shi ppi ng conpany. Part of the reason for the nove was to
shake Ronny | oose from the relentless nightrmares. Despite
t he new surroundi ngs, he remained haunted by the drowning
and the voices. H's only escape was to regress deeper into
t el evi si on.

Ms. Zanmpora described how her son would pretend to go
to sleep each night at 9 p.m, then would sneak out of his
roomand turn the television set back on. He would watch
until the small hours of the norning, frequently falling
asl eep on the couch or on the rug in front of the set. He
did this, she said, "every night."

"...whatever he sees or he saw on the TV, it was so
real to himthat he believed it," Ms. Zanora said.

What was Ronny watchi ng and believing? He was drawn to
the violent police and private detective dranmas of the |ate
1970s: "Kojak," "Baretta," "Police Story," "Police Wrman,"
"S.WA. T," and "Barnaby Jones."

Ronny's taste in nusic was also notable. |Instead of
following the current hits, his favorites were all lyrically
conpl ex songs with confounding nessages. He nentioned three
Beatl es songs fromtheir so-called "LSD' period in the late
1960s -- "Strawberry Fields Forever," "Eleanor Rigby" and
"Helter Skelter," the latter being one of the songs that was
said to have inspired Charles Manson's nurderous famly.
Ronny also |iked the Led Zeppelin classic, "Stairway to
Heaven," another tune with conplicated lyrics.

But it was the visual stimulus of television, not
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nmusi c, t hat was Ronny's narcotic. And Ronny viewed
television in his own special way.

"He can experience being in the TV," wote Dr.
Acker man after an extensive exam nation of Ronny.
"Everything seems so real to him He related that he
actually stands amidst all the action, hearing and seeing
what is going on as if he were actually there. Ronny's sense
of the boundaries of reality are distorted..."

There was absolutely no doubt that the boy had deep
psychol ogi cal problens, and that those problens were either
created by television, or nore |ikely, exacerbated by the
tens of thousands of hours of television violence he had
wi t nessed. Because of television, he had a blurred vision of
ri ght and wong. Because of the twisted inner workings of
his mnd, conbined with the shock of a real-life drowning
death, he couldn't distinguish television fantasy from
reality, and therefore didn't know the consequences of his
acts. Those factors fit the legal definition of an insanity
def ense.

O her children, tens of millions of other <children
had seen the sane programs as Ronny and had not been driven
to murder. That was undi sput ed.

It was al so i nconsequenti al

Those tens of nmillions of other children had watched
Superman. They didn't tie a towel around their necks and try
to junmp out of a four-story w ndow.

Ronny Zanora di d.
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The other children didn't see -- not inmgine -- but
see witches, ghosts and shadow nonsters in their backyards.
Ronny did. According to Dr. Lievano, he threw rocks at them
chased after themand ran fromthem

These "hal [ uci nations" as Dr. Lievano termed them did
not end with his childhood. Even as a teenager, Ronny said

he heard voices calling him people talking to one another

and saw "shadow figures staring at nme." He once saw a "hairy
nonster” and a "bald nonster"” in his wi ndow. As recent as a
mont h before his arrest, he had thrown rocks at a mysterious
figure on his patio.

"When | went to the Zanora honme | asked to see the
picture of St. Martin in his bedroom" Dr. Ackerman wote in
her report and expounded upon in a deposition. "And there is
this picture of a saint with whitish kind of eyes...Ronny
had related to nme how the Saint spoke to himwith noving
lips and eyes telling himwhat a bad boy he had been..."*3

Along with these psychol ogi cal problens, Ronny's
relationship with his stepfather was deteriorating. Frank
Zanmora was a decent man and good provider, but he was also a
no- nonsense di sciplinarian who believed in a hands-on
approach to puni shnent. Ronny, grow ng nore troubl esone with
each year, was the usual target.

"The punishnent s very severe in this famly," said
Dr. Ackerman. "The stepfather hits the youngster around the

face, head and upper part of the body sufficient to draw

bl ood fromthe nouth area."
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Prior to the shooting, Ronny asked his nother if she
could find himanother fanmly to live with. He al so asked
her if he could be treated by a psychiatrist.

"I need help," he said.

His own reasons can be seen in the results of the
psychol ogical test given by the Catholic Services doctors,
a test given two weeks before the shooting. The standard
test asks the patient to conplete a series of forty

guestions. Sonme of Ronny's answers were nornal :

1. I LIKE -- "girls."
6. AT BEDTIME -- "I brush ny teeth.”
8. THE BEST -- "baseball player is Pete Rose."

Ot her answers were quite disturbing:

12. | FEEL -- "nessed up."
23. MYy MND -- "is all screwed up
39. MY GREATEST WORRY -- "is nme."

In 1977, Florida crimnal procedures required that
whenever an attorney filed a prelimnary plea of "not guilty
by reason of insanity," the paperwork nust contain a
"statenment of particulars" explaining the nature of the
insanity and listing the nedical experts. My statenent of
particul ars included this phrase heard around the world --
“prolonged, intense, involuntary, sublimnnal tel evi sion
i ntoxication."

I filed the notice late in the afternoon to avoid

having it picked up in the nmedia. I knew the defense would
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be expl osive, but unlike many of my other cases, it was the
ki nd of defense that night be hindered by press coverage. It
was too conplicated to explain in a newspaper story or
tel evi si on broadcast, and the nedia was certain to react in
a smrky "television made ne do it" fashion.

Despite ny attenpts at conceal nent, our court system
operates "in the sunshine." That means in public. The Zanora
case was big news. JimBuchanan of The Mam Herald dug the
pl eading out of the courthouse files al nost before the ink
had dri ed.

"Ellis, what's this "not guilty by television' stuff?"
he asked over the phone.

| explained it. The next day there was a story in the
| ocal section. | breathed a sigh of relief, figuring it
woul d die there. Unfortunately, the Associated Press picked
it up and sent out an edited version over the wires. The day
after that, | was bonbarded with calls fromreporters around
the world. Wthin the next few weeks, there were television
crews in ny office fromAustralia, Wst Germany, England,
France, Brazil, and Mexico, along wth ABC, CBS and NBC.
Reporters cane from The New York Tines, Newsweek, Tineg,
People, TV Guide and dozens of other publications, both
donmestic and foreign.

Once the cat was out of the bag, the best course was
to accommpdate the reporters in order to shape the coverage
to the advantage of the client. Hde from the press, and

they eat you and your client alive.
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Most  of the early coverage was favorable. There was
wi despread fear, especially anpong the foreign reporters,
that violence on television was having a damagi ng effect
upon children. They were particularly concerned about
proliferation of violent American prograns |ike "Starsky and
Hut ch" that were being dubbed and aired in their countries.
Anmong the critical stories, lost was the fact that Ronny's
defense wasn't a wild concept an attorney dreanmed up. It was
t he concl usion of four doctors. | didn't invent the nedica
di agnoses that is the crux of the television intoxication
defense. | nmerely applied an i nnovative psychiatric
di agnosis to the law. In that capacity, | gave a nane to the
| egal application of a nmedical finding.

Wth that being true, one may wonder why was | first
to use that defense?

Waving a legal defense around any new and unusua
psychol ogi cal prognosis is a trenendous risk. Attorneys who
do so subject thenselves to professional ridicule, career-
t hreat eni ng public enbarrassment, and al nost certain charges
of "ineffective assistance of counsel” from cannibalistic
col | eagues. Few attorneys choose to face such intense
criticism inside the profession and out. Sadly, the
maj ority of | awyers would have ignored the doctors
di agnoses in favor of self-preservation.

| couldn't do that. Ronny Zanobra was created by
television. Wn or |lose, society was going to have to face

it.
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Footnotes (Author's note -- these are optional)

1. The case involved an airman, Joseph Shea, from
Honmestead Air Force Base who was accused in the early 1950s
of raping and butchering a woman he supposedly abducted at
Mam International Airport. A cousin of mnine, working
tenmporarily in nmy office, called his parents and offered ny
services. Wen | found out, | scolded nmy cousin, but nade
the mistake of deciding to help the airnman. Some of ny
political eneni es found out, and | was cited for
solicitation. The ex-governor of Florida, Fuller Warren,
volunteered to represent nme before the Florida Suprene
Court. | was exonerated. Shea, defended by a new attorney,
was convicted of first-degree nurder. Mam Herald reporter
Gene MIler stayed on the case, wote nunmerous stories about
Shea's innocence, and eventually won Shea a new trial. Shea
was then acquitted and MIller won a Pulitzer Prize in

journalism

2. Dr. Glbert described sodium anytal this way in a

deposition: "Sodium amytal is a barbiturate. The generic
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name is sodium anobarbital, which is a short-acting
hypnotic...It has very interesting properties when you give
it i ntravenously, in t hat it produces a so-called

di ssociative state or equivalent of so-called hypnotic
state. One might say it chem cally produces hypnosis, and it
renoves i nhi bitions, and presumably, narcotizes t he

inhibitory cortex, which has to do, of ~course, wth

control....Wen a person is under the influence of sodium
anytal...he has no recollection of what he tal ked about. He
has no conscious volitional inhibition of his speech or the

material that conmes out in his speech; and presunably,
because of the elinmnation of wmany of his inhibitory
t hi nki ngs, there should be an increasing ability in
associ at i onal natural recall, because t here are no
associ ational materials that conme up which inhibit the
recall of the nmaterial. So, nmany nenories will conme out
whi ch have been rel egat ed at deeper | evel s of

unconsci ousness. "

3. St. Martin de Porres (A D. 1639) was a Peruvian nulatto
born to an unwed bl ack woman and a Spani sh knight. He was a
Domi nican | ay-brother who established orphanages and a

hospital for foundlings.
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Chapter 4
Programmed to Kil
PART Il -- TRIAL ON TELEVI SI ON: TELEVI SION ON TRI AL
“...It has been denpnstrated that the average child
wat ches thousands of killings on TV. Now, a child |ike Ronny
Zanmora, maybe sees five or ten tines that many killings.
When one has seen that many killings, the death of a human

being in that type of situation is no nore significant than

swatting a fly." -- Mchael Glbert, MD., Ph.D

Ronny's defense forced nme to confront a persona
dilemma. | don't like "insanity" defenses. They are overused
and abused by unscrupulous attorneys. WMst of the 275
accused nurderers |'ve defended have been "insane" to sone
extent. | believe you have to be insane to willfully take
anot her person's life. But every one of those 275, even the
nost wil d-eyed, probably knew right fromwong. That's where
the insanity issue gets nuddy.

The federal courts and many state courts have backed
away from the Ilong used "M Naghten Rule" that hol ds
defendants legally responsible for their acts if they know

right fromwong. | believe a better test is: Didthe
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defendants suffer from a disease or nmental defect that
rendered them wunable to refrain fromcrinmnal acts, or
stripped themof the ability to conformto the standards of
nor mal behavi or?

I would also prefer a bifurcated trial in first-degree
nmur der cases where insanity is an issue. That nmeans you
split the trial in half. In the first half, a jury would
judge pure guilt or innocence -- Didthe person on trial do
it? If found guilty, then the second half would kick in. In
that part, the judge and the sane jury would hear argunents
and expert testinony pertaining to all the various insanity
di agnoses. They woul d then deterni ne whether the person knew

t he consequences of his acts and could or could not conform

themto the law -- or even if the person recalled the crine
at all. The judge and jury would decide if a person was sane
and belonged in prison, or was nentally ill and belonged in
a hospital

Unfortunately, Florida and nost other states don't
present this opportunity. Therefore the robbery, the nurder
Ronny's "cold-hearted" trip to Disney World, and his
unprecedented reaction to television had to be stirred
together into one dizzying stew,

Another problem | faced was that | was unable to
present proof that Ronny was insane without basing it upon
the controversial television angle. And froma statutory
standpoint, many of the doctors had not found Ronny

"l egal ly" insane. For the nobst part, they felt he knew right
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fromwong. In addition, all the doctors felt he was fit to
stand trial, nmeaning he understood the consequences of the
proceedings and was able to recall details to help ne with
his defense. These determninations again hark back to
television. In its stereotypical world, television has
strong i mages of right and wong when it cones to nurder
Al t hough virtually everyone kills on the action dramas, it's
usual |y good guys killing bad guys.

But underlying this is the fact that television nakes
everyone a star, even the bad guys. Oten television
gl anori zes the bad guys. Thus, the role nodels bl ur

"Sonetines | would be the cop and the hero," Ronny
told psychiatrist Charles Mutter. "Other tines |'d be the
bad guy and would get mad if the guy got caught."

The problem with Ronny was that instead of a clear-
cut diagnosis of knowing or not knowi ng right fromwong,
his television intoxication caused him to neld the two. He
was |ike actors Mchael Gross and Gerald McRaney. In their
hit television series, "Famly Ties" and "Sinmon & Sinon,"
the two nen play good guys. But both actors took tinme out
from their series to give convincing performances as
psychotic killers in television novies that aired in the
same week as their television show. From a thespian
standpoint, they put on inpressive displays of versatile
acting. But what effect did it have wupon their young fans?
Unabl e to distinguish the characters as easily as adults, a

child is suddenly faced with Steven Keaton (Gross) of
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"Family Ties" killing FBI agents, and Rick Sinon (MRaney)
of "Sinmon and Sinon" raping and nurdering a string of young
women.

Such identity confusion is common.

As "Baretta," Robert Bl ake was one of Ronny's heroes.
In the novie "In Cold Blood," which frequently plays on
tel evision, Robert Blake kills an entire fanmily with a knife
and a shot gun.

As "Kojak," Telly Saval as was Ronny's biggest hero. In
the movie, "The Dirty Dozen," he's a psychopath naned
“Maggot" who is so vile his evilness stood out anpng twelve
convi cts.

David Soul is Detective "Hutchinson" in "Starsky and
Hutch" reruns. He's also the sinister killer who nurdered
FBI agents with Mchael J. Fox's TV dad (Gross) in the NBC
nmovie "In the Line of Duty: The FBI Mirders."

But that's television and actors, everyone knows that.

O do they?

Every actor or actress who has ever played a doctor on
television can tell harrowing tales of neeting adults who
believe the entertainers really are the physicians they
portray. A frightening nunber of adults. Conedian How e
Mandel , who played a doctor on the series "St. Elsewhere,”
i ncorporated these reactions into his stand-up routine. The
wacky Mandel says that he "cures" these people and clainms to
be treating thirty regul ar patients.

Such mstakes aren't limted to actor/doctors. Wen
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com ¢ actor John Ritter played a television evangelist in a
1982 made-for-TV novie "Pray TV," a fake 800 telephone
nunber was di splayed on the screen to sinulate how the rea
tel evangel ists solicit donations. The program made headl i nes
the followi ng day when the phone conpany announced that it
recei ved thousands of calls from people, alnpst exclusively
adults, trying to donate noney to Ritter's fantasy
character. This response is even nore disturbing when one
considers that Ritter was wdely known for playing the
character "Jack Tripper" in the long-running conedy hit
"Three's Conpany." How many of those callers were really
donating noney to Jack Tripper, the bunbling buffoon with
the pretty roonmmmates?

These exanples may seem comical in their absurdity,
but take it a step further. A young fan killed herself after
conmedi an Freddi e Prinze shot himself in 1977. Was the girl
reacting to the suicide of Prinze, an enotionally unstable
cocai ne addict who was often nean-spirited? O was she
reacting to the death of a character on her television set,
t he | ovabl e "Chico" from "Chico and the Man?" This
extraordinary reaction to television happened just nonths
bef ore Ronny Zanora shot Elinor Haggart.

The point here is certainly not to blane actors and
actresses for playing diverse roles. Nor is it to blane
producers and the television networks for casting against
type. But society nust face the fact that there are |egions

of people sitting in front of their television sets who

81



Get Me EllisRubin!

think what they're seeing is real. And because of this, if
an unusually suggestive child beconmes so confused he does
something bad, instead of putting the child into the
el ectric chair, or tossing him into the Ilion's den of an
adult prison, we should get himhelp

From a sociological standpoint, the Zanora case had
i mense ramifications. Dr. Glbert put it best.

"...here's a child who conmmits an act of violence |ike
this on the next-door neighbor. It's got to be explai ned.
It's got to be understood."”

For Ronny, it went beyond the conflicting inmages of

his tel evision heroes. He took the phrase "all the world's a
stage" literally. After view ng 15,000 hours of television,
he becane nmentally unable to conprehend that when you shoot
sonmeone a half dozen tinmes in real life, they don't get up
dust themsel ves off, and order a beer |ike the stuntman does
in a popul ar beer comercial. And Ronny was nentally unable
to understand that when sonething terrible happens, you
can't close your eyes, envision a new scene, and change it.
Those with clear ninds and well-adjusted children may
find this nelding inpossible to accept. That's what | faced
with a jury, and |'ve been able to explain it nmuch better
here than | was pernitted to in court. Even so, it was never
my intention to have a jury excuse Ronny Zanmora for what he
di d because he watched too nmuch television. | wanted to get

a disturbed young boy the nedical help he needed to

understand what he did and cone to grips with living in the
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real world.

Wthout a bifurcated trial, the only way | could
acconplish this was through a "not guilty" verdict. Under
these guidelines, the defense with which | was left was the
one | dislike -- "not guilty by reason of insanity." And
“tel evision i ntoxi cation' was what brought on Ronny's
bi zarre form of insanity.

| believed it then. | believe it today.

If the television intoxication defense wasn't unusua

enough, the trial of Ronny Zanpbra was fated to have an

additional |andmark elenment -- television itself. Radio and
still photography had been banned from courtrooms in 1937
fol |l owi ng t he circus at nosphere of t he Bruno

Haupt mann/ Li ndbergh baby ki dnapping trial. Tel evision was
added to the ban in 1952. Twenty-five years |later, |awers
for the Post-Newsweek nmedia conglonmerate argued that the
technol ogy of television and photography had inproved to
such an extent that the equi pment was no | onger as obtrusive
as it had been in the past. Additionally, the journalists of
the 1970s were said to be nore sophisticated and | ess rowdy
than their forefathers fromthe "Front Page" era.
Twenty-seven days after Elinor Haggart's death, the
Fl ori da Suprene Court agreed to allowtrials to be tel evised
for a year on an experinmental basis. At the end of the year
the televised trials wiuld be analyzed to deternmne the

positive and negative effects.
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The Public Broadcasting station in Mani, WBT, and
other stations throughout Florida, began nonitoring the
courts to find the right case to begin the experinent. Since
even public television is television, it had to be sonething
that woul d capture an audi ence's attention. The Zanora tria
becanme that case. Fromtheir standpoint, they couldn't have
witten a better script thenselves. The first conpletely
televised trial would be a nurder where television itself
was on trial. It would also be a double precedent -- a

precedent-setting defense in a precedent-setting situation

Unfortunately, into this wunprecedented case, wth
unprecedented |ive coverage and unprecedented worl dw de
nedia attention, there was one |aw that outshone all the
others -- Mrphy's. Fromny standpoint, everything that

could go wrong, did.

The first disaster struck during the depositions, the
pre-trial sworn statenents of potential wtnesses. | had
decided that Dr. G lbert was going to be my star wtness.
Hi s di agnosis of Ronny's condition was the nost captivating.
I had been greatly influenced by him when | decided to go
with the television intoxication defense. W discussed his
testimony for nonths. | provided himwith every respected
study about television violence and children that | could
get ny hands on. Surprisingly, there were 2,300 to choose
fromand many were quite alarmng. Dr. Gl bert assured nme he
was going to tell the jury that Ronny had a di mi ni shed sense

of right and wong fromwatching television and could not
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separate television fantasy fromreality.

The day before Dr. G lbert's deposition with Assistant
State Attorneys Thomas Headley and Richard Katz, | played
the part of the state attorney and took him through a
practice deposition. Dr. G | bert was strong in his
convictions and gave answers that were sure to inpress the
nost cyni cal juror.

The next day, Thomas Headl ey began questioning Dr.
G |l bert. He asked himif Ronny knew right fromwong before
the day of the shooting. Dr. Glbert said "yes." | sat up in
my chair. Headley asked if Ronny knew right from w ong when
he entered the house, was given the gun and when he was
hol ding Ms. Haggart at bay. Dr. G lbert said "yes" to them
all.

I was dying. Dr. G lbert appeared to be flip-flopping
on what he had told ne for the past three nonths.

Headl ey conti nued. He asked the doctor if at any point

Ronny didn't know right from wong. Finally, Dr. G bert

gave the right "yes" answer. He said that during the two or
three seconds when Ronny squeezed the trigger, he
monmentarily |lost his sense of right and wong.

Then came anot her parade of answers regardi ng Ronny's
sense of right and wong. According to Dr. Glbert's new
t heory, Ronny was back to normal follow ng the shooting.

I sat there in total shock. Headl ey | ooked at ne and

smled. He knew the "television intoxication" defense had

been nortally wounded. The "three seconds of insanity"
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defense m ght work with a husband com ng hone and finding
his wife in bed wth his best friend, but | felt it was
ridiculous in this case.

| drove Dr. Glbert to his office. Although | was
ready to explode, | forced myself to stay calm

"M ke, when did you cone up wth this new "three
second theory'," | asked.

"I thought about it last night. | think it's the best
way to handle it."

"Why didn't you tell me? You realize that you'll have
to repeat this at the trial and you'll be the |aughing stock
of the entire nmedical and Ilegal community all over the
wor | d? The prosecutors are going to turn you into an ass.
How coul d you do this? You killed the case for this kid. And
you knew the truth better than anyone."

| didn't talk to Dr. Glbert for weeks after that. As
| cool ed down and studi ed deeper, | began to understand his
t hought process. Wth television as his teacher, Ronny did
know right fromwong npst of the tine. Strange as the
"three second theory" was, Dr. Lievano separately canme to
virtually the same conclusion. He said Ronny could fade out
of reality for brief periods, and had done so during the
shooting. Dr. Lievano said the sensory overload of Darrel
ordering Ronny to shoot Ms. Haggart, Ms. Haggart
threatening to tell the police, and the fear that he was
going to be punished for the robbery all worked to snap

Ronny's fragile grip on reality.
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But how could | make a jury wunderstand that? In the
narrow | egal arena, such concepts would be ridicul ed.

| felt, as Dr. G lbert had originally stated to ne,
that Ronny's illness was an ongoi ng, and increasing, nenta
dysfunction that had been in the naking since he was five
years old. And | believed that from the nonent Ronnie
entered Elinor Haggart's house, to the nonent he confessed
four days |ater, he had subrmerged hinself into a television
cops- and-robbers epi sode, one that had Ms. Haggart alive
and well followi ng the robbery. The post-shooting period was
especially critical. Wile Dr. Glbert felt Ronny regai ned
his sanity, with sone "inpairnment," follow ng the shooting,
I don't think any sane teenager could have gone to Disney
Wrld with a pocketfull of blood noney hours after robbing
and killing his neighbor

| called Dr. Glbert shortly before trial and asked if
he was ready to face the nusic. He told nme he had anot her
i dea that might save the case. This was to go to the jail
inject Ronny with the truth serum and get him to reenact
the day of the nurder. | protested, afraid of what Ronny
m ght say. Dr. G lbert insisted it was necessary for his
eval uation, and | eventually consented. It was a stroke of
brilliance on Dr. Glbert's part. Under the serum which
rel axes the subject and inhibits deceptive thought, Ronny's
description of that day, as recorded in the prior chapter
was the best evidence yet of his television intoxication.

Unfortunately, when | read the transcripts, | realized
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couldn't use it. There were too nmany things that the
prosecuti on would junmp upon to hang Ronny, not the |east of
whi ch was the enotional inmge of Ms. Haggart show ng Ronny
her fam |y photographs just before he killed her. That scene
brought tears to nmy eyes, and those tears wuld have
translated into juror rage.

Mur phy's Law had gotten us again and it was worse than
we i magi ned. When the prosecutors heard what Dr. G | bert and
I had done, we were charged with snmuggling drugs into the
prison! W had unknowi ngly violated a state statute and a
jail rule that an out si de doctor cannot adm nister
nmedi cations to a prisoner without either the perm ssion of
jail authorities or an order from a judge. The judge
summoned us to court to "show cause" for our unlawful drug
smuggling. | pleaded a variation of Steve Martin's "I
forgot" defense. On one of his conmedy al bunms, the fanopus
comedi an does a routine in which he is arrested for nurder
and pleads his case before a judge.

“Your honor," Martin says, "I forgot that nurder was
agai nst the law. "

My defense, which was the absolute truth, was:

"Your honor, | didn't know. "

Nobody but jailers and a few prosecutors know that

obscure law. The judge decided there was no intent" to
break a law and let it slide.
Mur phy' s Law was relentless in its continuing

assaults. Another disaster arrived by nmmil. Ronny wote ny
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daughter Kim a letter fromjail. Init was a confession!
That, conbined with inviting her to Disney World hours after
the murder, and his phone calls to her after he cane back
had turned Kiminto a potential star prosecution w tness. One
m ght think that having lived ny |ife in court, having
relied upon nmy wife as an invaluable aid for thirty-plus
years, having my ol dest daughter Peri as ny office nanager
and having two sons becone |awers, it would be routine for
a Rubin to be a "star witness" in a nurder trial

No way. No way in hell was | going to let ny
fifteen-year-old daughter go through the ordeal of being a
Wi t ness agai nst one of her friends and her father's client.
And how was | going to cross exam ne ny youngest child?
Wuld | be expected to do a Perry Mason nunber on ny own kid
and crack her like an egg on the stand? Kim was al ready so
enotionally devastated by the shooting and the controversy
surrounding the trial that she began having difficulty
concentrating in school. Her grades plumeted.

Fortunately, prosecutors Headl ey and Katz were decent
about it and agreed not to call her if | submtted the
letter into evidence. Since | wasn't contesting the other
confessions or the circunstances of the shooting, one nore
conf essi on was mneani ngl ess.

That was about the only break we got. | had cringed
when | |learned which judge had been assigned the case.
Circuit Court Judge Paul Baker and | had a |ong history of

being at odds. It started decades before when he was an
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assi st ant state attorney. | took a case against the
prosecutors' office for a mn who clainmed the State had
wrongfully convicted himof grand |arceny by know ngly using
the fal se testinmony of a witness. The nman, Charles Horner
went fromlawer to |awer trying to get soneone to fight
the powerful state attorney's office. No defense attorney
was crazy enough to risk conmitting professional suicide by
taking his case. So of course, when Horner came to ne, |
accepted. | exposed the perjury in the pre-trial depositions
and was preparing to nail the guilty parties in court. On
the nmorning of the trial, the attorney for the State told
the judge they "admitted error" and were dropping al
char ges agai nst Horner, including the grand | ar ceny
conviction. That swept everything nice and neatly under a
judicial rug.

Judge Baker and | continued to cross paths wunder the
nost vol atile circunstances, including one nmessy, front-page
political battle that pitted ne and Governor Claude Kirk
agai nst Baker and the State Attorney.

Suffice it to say Baker's hatred of me grew with each
encount er.

So naturally, of all the judges in Dade County,
Mur phy's Law decreed that the biggest case of nmy life would
fall before Judge Paul Baker. Normally, when there is a
history of bad blood between a |awer and a judge, the
attorney can file a notion to renove the judge from the

proceedi ng. But Mirphy's Law had that covered. The Zanora
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trial came at a tine when | had been led to believe that
Judge Baker had 1long buried the hatchet. For the previous
ei ght years, he had been fair during ny trials before him
had been cordial during social gatherings, and even called
me periodically to ask if | would |ike to be appointed to
this or that case. There was no reason to believe he
woul dn't be fair during the Zanora trial. Filing a notion to
renmove hi mwould not only have been | egally questionable, it
woul d have been personally insulting. Because the Zanora
case was so highly publicized, dredging up the past and
exci sing Judge Baker fromthe trial night have held himup

to public enmbarrassment.

On  Septenber 26, 1977, with the Ilive eye of the
television canera watching, and nore than sixty reporters
fromaround the world packing the gallery, sonmething not to
be confused with a fair trial began in Room4-1 of the Dade
County Hall of Justice. The day before, Ronny had been
provided with a new suit to wear in court. He said the
jailers took it fromhis | ocker and ground it into the dirty
floor with their shoes, rendering it unwearable. One jailer
went to his cell and taunted himby saying the electric
conpany had offered to provide the electricity for his
"death chair" for free. (The power conpany never nade such a
remark.)

| entered the courtroom under heavy scrutiny -- and

had both hands figuratively tied behind ny back. In a series
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of pre-trial hearings, Judge Baker proceeded to insure that
Ronny, ne and ny defense went down in flames by throw ng out
virtually all of ny medical and social science experts.

I ncl uded anpong these experts was Dr. Margaret Hanratty
Thomas, assistant dean of Acadenmic Affairs at Florida
Technol ogi cal University in Olando (later renanmed the
University of Central Florida). Dr. Thomas is a preeninent
psychol ogi st and nationally-respected expert in the field of
the effects of television violence on young children and
adol escents. She had published fifteen papers and was
planning to enlighten the jurors, and the world, on sone
startling findings. The judge asked her if she had ever seen
or heard of a murder directly caused by tel evision. As Baker
knew, npost psychiatrists and psychologists would never
answer such a question because their science is much broader
inits consideration of factors.*1 Wen Dr. Thonas tried to
explain this to the judge, he uncerenoniously tossed her and
her expertise out of the w tness box.

For a doctor or other expert, such an encounter with
the legal systemcan be both humliating and infuriating.
These schol ars dedicate their lives to a particul ar subject,
becorme authorities in the field, and then are called in to
testify in a big nurder case. After decades of neticul ous
research, all in relative obscurity, the chance to share
their findings in a precedent-setting trial with worldw de
nmedi a coverage can be the crowning nonent of their careers.

They take the stand, then boom sone close-ninded judge
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deci des that they don't know squat and publicly bounces them
ri ght out of the courtroom

That's exactly what Judge Baker was doing to ny expert
witnesses. | brought themin and he tossed them out, tales
between their |legs. He refused to consider their studies or
hear their testinmony concerning the damaging effects of
tel evision violence on children. Judge Baker's rational e was
that the expert testinony had to be restricted to Ronny, and
not children in general. Such a decree would nmake npst
respected researchers of any topic insist that Judge Baker
was legally insane. Inmagine trying to prove that cigarettes
cause cancer, and being restricted to one single snoker?

Simlarly, the judge also refused to allowne to
submi t seventy-ei ght scientific studies and published
stories on television violence and children. Many were
authored by prom nent doctors and researchers from around
the world. Judge Baker's illogic here was even nore
outrageous. He said | <could only submit studies taken
specifically on Ronny Zanora, a ridiculous and inpossible
restriction.

| felt like putting this rem nder over the judge's
bench -- "The mind is a terrible thing to waste."

Incredibly, immediately after tossing out Dr. Thonas,
Judge Baker cane face-to-face with the power of television.
The jurors had been sequestered in a local hotel and were
prevented fromwatching the television coverage of the

trial. They weren't pleased.
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"Let ne say that | have received the request of the
jury that they be allowed to watch thenselves on tel evision

with the sound turned off, just to see what you look Ilike,"

Baker said amid courtroomlaughter. "I can't permt that
during the course of the trial, but | will arrange for it
after the trial. You will all get to see yourselves on

tel evision."

Once Headley and Katz realized that the judge was
sticking it to ne and would sustain their objections, they
went wild. Each time | tried to slip in a television-related
question, the prosecutors shot out of their chairs like a
rabid rat had taken a bite out of their ankles. Headl ey was
particul arly annoying, objecting to everything and anything
even beyond the scope of television. He started his
onsl aught during the jury selection process and kept it up
the whole trial. The follow ng courtroom exchange, regarding

a police officer's testinony, was typical

Headl ey: Al right, your Honor, may | have a

continuing objection at this point, and the court can

rul e?

Baker: You my. | really can't make an intelligent
ruling until | hear the response.

Rubin:  Your Honor, I'Il stipulate that he has a

continuing objection since the opening day of the
trial

Headl ey: Very cute.
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Baker: Al right, gentlenen.

When it was his turn, Katz was in such an objection
frenzy he even objected to a question asked by Judge Baker
a legal no-no. He also objected to a question, had his
objection overruled, then objected again after the question
was read back to the witness by the court reporter. Wile
was trying to question child psychol ogy specialist Dr. Helen
Ackerman, Katz objected forty-seven tinmes over the course of
about a half hour. And Judge Baker sustained nost of the
obj ections, nmeaning Dr. Ackerman was all but totally gagged.
Some of the bani shed questions went right to the heart of

Ronny' s def ense:

Rubin: Was there anything in the test material that
showed an effect of television watching on his
(Ronny's) character and his person as you see it now
and as it existed on June 4th, 1977?

Katz: Objection.

Baker: Sustained as to that.

Rubi n: What kind of shows did he watch?

Katz: Objection.

Baker: Sustained as irrelevant.

Rubi n: Did you ascertain that he watched any
particul ar programs which he then <copied in his
everyday behavi or?

Katz: Objection.
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Baker: Agai n sustained.

Rubi n: No further questions.

In essence, what little chance Ronny had left after
Dr. Glbert sprung his "three second theory" was squashed by
an unbending judge and a pair of nagpie prosecutors
di srupting nmy defense at every turn.

If they didn't believe the television intoxication
defense, if it was just one of "Ellis Rubin's crazy
gi mm cks," then why were they all so terrified of it?

Actually, all of this erasing and gagging of the
experts wasn't that bad. Judge Baker was snothering Ronny's
defense to such an extent that I knew if we lost, | had a
solid chance of having the verdict overturned on appeal
Truthfully, | suspected that even with a supportive judge it
was a 100-1 shot to win the jury trial. | fully expected to
continue to fight the "television intoxication" battle
through the State appell ate process.

But | had to get through the initial trial. Wthout
the doctors, and without a defense, the only thing | had
left was sone razzle dazzle. | had read that actor Telly
Saval as had given a speech at Colunbia University decrying
television violence because it caused children to conmt
"copycat" crinmes, a well-known phenonena. Saval as al so said
he pushed to have the witers and producers tone down the

violence on "Kojak." | subpoenaed him to testify. The

bal d- headed, Greek actor fought the subpoena, claimng he
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didn't know anything about the case. H s attorney filed a
nmotion to quash his appearance. Judge Baker held a neeting
in chanmbers to discuss it. He wanted to know the rel evancy
of Saval as' testinmony. | explained that Ronny had conjured
up a "Kojak" episode to nentally erase the shooting.
Additionally, as "Kojak," Saval as was Ronny's biggest hero.
If Ronny's biggest hero felt television caused children to
commt crinmes, that was vital. Judge Baker said he would
order Savalas to appear, but that he would question himto
deternine the rel evancy of his testinony.

"What right or authority do you have to question ny
Wi tness during a deposition?" | screaned.

He replied that he was the judge and thus had the
right to do anything he wanted. | countered that he could do
anyt hi ng except take the testinobny of potential wtnesses.
He could lawfully attend the deposition, but all he was
enpowered to do was screen objections. He brushed off the
legalities, insisting that he alone was going to question
the television star. | felt Judge Baker hinself was becom ng
intoxicated by the live PBS television coverage of the
trial. Bitten by the TV bug, he wanted to up the stakes and
get his face on national television by questioning the
ultimate "star witness." | walked out and immediately
cancel l ed the subpoena. If the judge bl ew Saval as out, which
he was going to, the headlines would have destroyed the case
in md stream

At this point, my defense had been narrowed down to
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the width of a cocktail straw.

Meanwhi | e, Headl ey was encountering a few problens of
his own. Linda Agrella, Darrell's nother, refused to respond
to his subpoena to testify. The judge had to order a Wit of
Attachnent and have her brought in. When she arrived, her
| awyer said she was psychologically wunable to take the
stand. He produced psychiatrist Bryan Wiss who took the
stand in her place. Dr. Wiss testified that Linda Agrella

was in a psychotic condition and cannot differentiate
reality fromher fantasies...at the present tinme, she is not
capable of differentiating right fromwong."

Headl ey and Judge Baker pronptly accepted the one
doctor diagnosis of Ms. Agrella's nental state, excused
her, and waived the charge of disobeying a court order. The
prosecutor and judge then went back to virulently attacking
my doctors' diagnoses of Ronny's insanity.

Despite the suffocating restrictions placed upon ne, |
fought on and nmanaged to win a few rounds. | begged the
judge to allow ne to use the tape of the truth serumtest.
That was ny Brer Rabbit, "please don't throw ne into the
briar patch" strategy. Headley correctly argued that the
Florida Supreme Court had ruled that truth serum tests
weren't adm ssible wi thout both attorneys agreeing. Since
Judge Baker thought | wanted it in so badly, he naturally
refused to allowit. That kept Elinor Haggart's enptiona
fam |y photo al bum scene out of the hands of the prosecutors

and the mnds of the jurors.
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There were other mnor victories. Ms. Zanora held up
under the strain considerably better than Ms. Agrella had.
She took the stand and enotionally and effectively detailed
tel evision's ef fect upon her son and his nenta

di sintegration after his friend drowned:

"The way he | earned English (at age five) was watching
TV fromthe tine he got up in the norning until he went
to sleep...l had to go out and work. My husband had to
go out and work...Ronny was very active and | was
afraid he woul d run away or sonething, you know, open
the door and let anybody in the apartnent. So | thought
of watching TV, and for him watching TV was the

greatest thing in the world..."

Even as a teenager, Ronny's devotion to television

remai ned unwai veri ng.

"...He would stay hone and watch TV...He didn't want
to do his honework. He didn't want to read. He just, he
woul d just watch TV.

"...Alot of tinmes when ny husband was not home Ronny
asked ne many, many tines, he actually begged ne to
convince ny husband to have his (M. Zanora's) head
shaved |i ke Kojak...M husband was going to do it, but
then one day he was nmad and he said forget about

it...Ronny was very upset because we alnost had him
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convinced that he was going to shave his head |ike

Koj ak. "

Then Ronny's friend Scott drowned, the boy's life

literally slipping through Ronny's fingers.

o was worried because Ronny had changed
conpletely. He was not the sane person | knew. ..He was

| osing his m nd or sonething."

When it canme time for Dr. Glbert to testify, it took
me fifteen mnutes just to list his credentials, including
his double doctorate and his stint at St. Elizabeth's
Hospital in Washington, D.C., a 7,000-bed nental hospital. A
brilliant man, Dr. G lbert had been admitted in court as an
expert nmore than a thousand tinmes -- for both defense
attorneys and prosecutors.

Headl ey objected to his adm ssion as an expert.

In fact, Headley put wup a fierce objection, arguing
that the doctor had fornmed his opinions based upon the
illegal sodiumanytal test. Dr. G lbert insisted that he
hadn't, explaining that the truth serumnerely confirnmed his
earlier diagnosis. Legally, Headley was splitting hairs on a
nm croscopic | evel

M racul ously, Judge Baker didn't pounce wupon this to
bounce Dr. G lbert. Apparently, he realized that he had to

leave me with at Jleast a skeleton of nmy defense or the



Get Me EllisRubin!

appel l ate courts woul d have his head.

“I"'mnot about to sit here and rob a fifteen-year-old
boy of a defense. I'mjust not going to do it," Baker said.

Because Dr. G | bert had personally analyzed Ronny and
was t he defense "psychiatrist of record,"” Judge Baker had no
right to gag his testinmobny or |inmt his diagnosis as
severely as he had with the other doctors. That crack in the
door was all that | needed. Despite painting hinself into a
corner with his "three-second theory," Dr. Glbert gave a
sweeping display of nmental prowess. At one point, he
testified in French, German and Spanish to nmake a point. He
was especially captivating regarding Ronny's television

i nt oxi cati on.

Dr. Glbert: ...It has been denonstrated that the
average child watches thousands of killings on TV. Now,
a child li ke Ronny Zanora, maybe sees five or ten tines
that many killings. Wen one has seen that nmany
killings, the death of a human being in that type of
situation is no nore significant than swatting a fly.
This devel ops a concept, an attitude, a distortion of
reality, if you will, that the shooting of a person is
of no greater consequence, let wus say, than the
swatting of a fly.

Now, the reason is, you see, if a shooting in
tel evision were acconpani ed by the physical agony of

the person who's shot, the bleeding and suffering, and
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we're also shown the funeral, and also shown the
suffering of this person's famly, his children or his
parents or what have vyou, all as a consequence of this
shooting, as contrasted with “bang, bang,' and the
scene goes on. They don't | ook (on television) to see
if the person is alive or dead or still bleeding or he
can be saved or whatever. And then he gets a distorted
concept of what television death is, what death by
shooting is, whereas if he saw all these other things
which are reality, then he has a realistic concept of
what death is. But (television), then, gives him an
unrealistic concept of what death by shooting is. It's
not real. It's distorted. And this is what happens in
the case of an adol escent in Ronny Zanora's situation.

Rubin: Did it have anything to do with the shooting of
El i nor Haggart?

Dr. Glbert: It certainly did.

Rubi n: Can you explain that, please?

Dr. Glbert: ...At the time he first gets the gun
this to himis not a weapon. It's a play toy, because
he describes he opened the barrel, he spun it around,
he waved it here, he pointed it there...put the barre
in his nouth...ained it at the <ceiling, ained it at
various things. He was playing a game with a toy.

Now t hen, Ms. Haggart naekes a statenent to the boys.
She says she knows he's the next-door nei ghbor and she

is going to tell the police. It is at that point that
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Ronny told ne the gun went off accidentally...Now then

if this child has been exposed to thousands and
t housands of situations where he has seen, when you are
t hreatened, bang, you shoot. You take this enptionally
disturbed child in a situation which is foreign to him
-- he's never been a robber before. He's never held a
gun in his hand before -- but he has been conditioned
that the proper thing or the thing to do is to shoot.
He has no consci ous awareness, intention, volition, if
you wll, of what he is doing. But the trigger finger
reflexly contracts over the trigger and the gun goes
of f.

...Up to that time he knew the difference between
right and wong. At the time of the shooting, he did
not know what he was doing. Therefore, he could not
know the nature and consequence of his act, since he
did not know what he was doing. And therefore, he

can't, couldn't judge that what he was doi ng was wrong.

If I could have gotten Dr. G lbert off the stand at
that point we've have had a slimchance. Unfortunately, he
had to be cross-examined. Dr. Glbert, for all his double
doctorates, had a tendency to appear smug and ponpous.
Knowi ng this, | could suppress the characteristic by playing
to his intellectual ego. However, when challenged by an
eneny, t hese negative traits surface. Duri ng t he

depositions, Dr. G lbert had been condescendi ng of Headl ey
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and Katz and showed an obvious disdain for their inability
to quickly grasp and accept his innovative concepts. He even

went as far as correcting Katz's English, and foll owed up by

correcting Headl ey' s English in open court on live
television! OCoviously, this didn't sit well wth the two
prosecutors. | could see Headley practically salivating as

he left the prosecutors' table. He took Dr. Gl bert through
Ronny's sanity as before, and was told that Ronny was sane

up to and after the shooting.

Headl ey: Now, when it conmes right to the nonment that
the gun is shot, it is your opinion that the defendant
went from sane to insane and back to sane in a matter
of two or three seconds?

Dr. Glbert: That is correct.

Headl ey: Now, the exact time -- which we can't
reconstruct -- but would the tinme period be from when
the trigger was pulled wuntil he heard the noise and

this brought himback to his senses?

Dr. Glbert: Mre or |ess.

Headl ey: This then could be no nore than a second.

Dr. G lbert: Second or seconds. | think by the tine
the noise subsides and one gets his faculties back
where he <can |look around and see what happens.
Probably, let us say a few seconds, but | think we're
really pulling at hairs here. A second, a few seconds

or ten seconds. | don't think it's of any great
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consequence.

But the jury did. Adios Ronny. See you in twenty-five
years.

In defense of Dr. Glbert, when psychiatrists talk
about the inner workings of the human mnd, tine can be
nmeani ngl ess. Scientists have long had a different view of
the abstract of tinme. They see it as being relative. Ten
seconds in a courtroomis a blink of an eye. Ten seconds
with one's foot in afireis an eternity.

But three seconds of insanity from watching
television? A jury couldn't conmprehend that. And just in
case sone of the jury nenbers were swayed by Dr. Glbert's
oration, the prosecutors had their own experts to dismantle

hi s di agnosi s.

Dr. WlliamCorwin: It is conpletely unlikely that in
the space of a brief period, Ilike one to two or three
or four or five seconds, the time in which it would
take to pull a trigger, which in itself, required sone
ef fort and conscious volition, it is conpletely
unlikely that he would be, at that nonent, legally

i nsane.

While the television intoxication defense was being
skewered in court, the other precedent-setting aspect of the

Zamora trial was neeting with far greater success. The
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cameras-in-the-courtroom experinment, at least from the
viewers' standpoint, was a rousing success. Mam's PBS
station edited each day's trial footage into two or
t hree- hour segnents which were aired the sane evening at
11:30. During the course of the nine-day trial, it was the
hi ghest- rated programin its tine period, a rarity for PBS.
In fact, the Zambra trial was crushing the tinme period's
previously indomtable |eader -- Johnny Carson's "Toni ght
Show. "

But the boffo Nielsens weren't helping ne one iota in
court. By the closing argunents, | was ready to be carried
out on ny shield. The prosecutors naturally invoked their
right to nmake opening and cl osing sunmati ons, sandw chi ng ne
in between. Headl ey gave Katz the opening half and saved the

critical last word for hinself. He was brutally effective:

"...My God, where have we gotten when sonmeone can cone
into a court of law and, with a straight face, ask you
to excuse the death of a human bei ng because the killer
wat ched tel evision? The defense in this case could have
just as easily have been too much violence fromreading
the Bible, too nmuch violence from reading history
books, too nuch violence from reading the papers.
Unfortunately, we do have violence in this world and
we're exposed to it. But exposure to that violence does
not make you legally insane, or we're going to have

free license to do whatever. And what did the defense
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do to establish their defense?..

What indeed? It was Headley who pleaded with Judge
Baker to gag ny experts and thus sabotage nmy defense. But
that's the breaks, and in the summations -- especially the
final, uncontradicted summation the prosecutors are gifted
with -- no prisoners are taken.

Dr. Glbert, the grammarian, also felt the sting of

Headl ey' s tongue.

"The whol e case depends on Dr. G lbert. You heard his
testimony. | didn't understand too much of it, to be
honest with you...l suggest that the testinony offered
by Dr. Glbert is something that if you were at a
friend's house, you would listen to politely for a few
m nutes and t hen throw up your hands and say,

“Nonsense. Nonsense.'

Wi ch basically sunms up the reaction of the jury. They
wer e out two hours, an wunusually short tinme for
deliberations in a nurder trial. It wasn't surprising
t hough. Judge Baker spared themthe effort of having to
gl ance at any of the seventy-eight articles on television
violence | was prevented fromsubmitting. But hey, it was
only a boy's life.

On Cctober 6, 1977, Ronny Zanora was found guilty of

nmur der, burglary, armed robbery and possession of a weapon
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On Novenber 7, Judge Baker sentenced Ronny to life in prison
with no chance of parole for twenty-five years. (During his
openi ng argunent, Headl ey announced he wasn't asking for the
death penalty.) Ronny was also given two other twenty-five
year sentences on the burglary and arned robbery charges,
and three years for possession of a weapon.

Prior to the sentencing, Judge Baker conmented on al
t he advi ce he had been getting:

“In the weeks since this trial, | have received phone
calls, letters, and petitions even fromDr. Karl Menninger
himself, telling ne what to do. And it 1is not their
business. It's unfortunately mne."

Dr. Menninger is the renowned Nobel Prize-w nning
psychi atrist who created the respected Menni nger Foundati on
He had recommended that Zanora receive nedical treatment.
Regar di ng Judge Baker's comments, Dr. Menninger recently
responded: "The judge is right; it is his business; but he
is not right that it 1is none of ours. It is some of our
busi ness to be sure that the judge is acting in a way that a
nodern and intelligent judge should."

A nmenber of the jury explained the verdict in this
qui zzi cal way to PBS:

"I endorse any and all television. It's police shows,
it's -- what it is doing is bringing the every day viol ence
that occurs out on the street into your hone and you're
getting nore educated.”

The television-happy juror was equally elated about
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televised trials.

"I think it's really one of the greatest achievenents
in along tinme, the television. The public gets a chance to
view and al so be the jurors."

Judge Baker hinself ternmed televised trials a success.
He expl ained his reasons to PBS narrator Richard Reeves, the
syndi cated newspaper col umi st and national editor of
Esqui re magazi ne.

"I define “success' as not having an inpact on the

W t nesses to t he ext ent t hat they were given to

overstatenent or that they were intimdated. | define it as
having little or no inpact on the jurors' ability to
consider the testinony...|l think as an educational tool and
as news, it was successful, since it gave the public an

opportunity to see what goes on in a courtroom And nost of
t hem have not had that experience."

However, Dr. Geor ge Ger bner, pr of essor of
comuni cati ons and dean of the Annenberg School of
Communi cations at the Univerity of Pennsylvania, offered PBS
some words of caution. Dr. Gerbner, a noted television
researcher and authority, expressed concern that television
has a tendency to change and overwhel m whatever it touches,
and reninded everyone that many j udges are el ected
officials. He felt the constitutional separation of powers
that is the heart of the legal system m ght be conpromn sed
by "centralized" and "organically progranmed" television.

"There are hundreds of trials going on everyday," Dr.
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Gerbner said. "Who is going to...decide what wll be
sel ected out for either regional or national television? The
mediumitsel f? On what basis wll it select? On the same
basis on which it selects everything else -- the basis of

sal es, the basis of ratings, the basis of entertainnment."”

Following the wverdict, nmy plan was to exhaust al
state and federal the appeals. Beside the judge's actions,
Headl ey had nmade a serious mistake. After the verdict, | was
told by the father of one of the witnesses that during the
trial, Headley and his investigators had a prosecution
witness call a defense witness to try and find out where the
jewelry and gun were. The parties involved were the junior
hi gh kids. Apparently, runors about the m ssing gun and the
remai ni ng pi eces of unrecovered jewelry were running ranpant
at the school. One of the Disney World boys was summmoned to
the state attorney's office and was instructed to call a
gi rl who supposedly knew who had the evidence. (The girl, of
course, was one of my daughter Kims friends. | still give
thanks to God it wasn't Kim) The boy called her twi ce. Sure
enough, she made a series of incrimnating statenents that
could have sent the little valley-talking fourteen-year-old
away for a long stretch. During the call, she repeatedly
refused to come forward and vowed to lie in court if asked.
Both calls were taped, and the tape was played in front of
two additional state witnesses. Since all the w tnesses had

been ordered not to tal k about the case to each other, such
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a call, and the playing of the tape, was in gross violation
of the judge's strict witness sequestration order

When | called the teenage girl to the stand to
testify, | was totally in the dark about the clandestine
ki ddi e wi retappi ng operation. Headl ey junped up and i nforned
the judge there had been a violation of the separation order
because of a tel ephone call. Sure he knew. He caused it!
Headl ey, of course, didn't nmention that. He skirted serious
judicial punishment by graciously saying that although he
shoul d object to her testinmony on the grounds of the call
and because she admtted watching some of the trial on
television, he wasn't going to. Even so, four prosecution
Wi t nesses had been conpronmised, and a fifth was later told
about the taped calls and was subsequently tainted. Al five
should have been elimnated fromthe trial, not only for
vi ol ating the sequestration rule, but because of the
fearsone tactics used by the State. The wiretap operati on no
doubt scared the |life out of the inpressionable teenagers
who heard the tape, and may have caused themto alter their
testimony. Plus, it could be viewed as an underhanded tactic
to get rid of a defense witness and deprive Zanora of a fair
trial.*2

Besi des the teenage girl, the "tainted five" included
all  four of the boys who had gone to Disney Wrld wth
Ronny. Wthout their «critical testinony, which Ronny said
was full of lies, it would have been a whole different case.

| informed Judge Baker. He was upset about what had
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transpired, but ruled it had no bearing on the outconme of
the trial.

In the initial appeals, | protested both ny inability
to present my case and the problem of the tainted w tnesses.
Wil e the appellate judges also condemed the prosecutors
actions regarding the witnesses, they refused to order a new
trial. The next step of the appeals process was federa
court. That's where | felt we had our best chance. | was
confident that a federal court would never tolerate the
judicial abuses that occurred during the Zanora case. But
before |I coul d appeal, Frank and Yol anda Zanora deci ded on a
different tack. They switched attorneys and attacked nme for
"ineffective assistance of counsel."

Ronny's new attorneys went fromcourt to court trying
to get sonebody to rule that | had been ineffective. They
were shot down at every turn, including the Florida's Third
District Court of Appeals, US. District Court, and as
recently as 1988, the U. S. Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals
in Atlanta.

The Third District Court of Appeals stated:

"...defense counsel cannot be faulted for selecting a
tack which, by allowing for the presentation of evidence as
to the defendant's unfortunate background, nay have at | east
evoked the synmpathy of the the jury and a consequent jury
pardon...whether viewed in its individual segnments, in
different series, or as one entire picture (the defense)

does not project an image of ineffectiveness."
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In 1986, U S. District Court Judge Eugene Spell man
wr ot e:

"This court sees this situation as a rather bleak, but
not uncommon one -- a lawer faced with the task of
representing a “client with no defense.' "

The Atlanta court concl uded:

"The evidence suggest that counsel was prepared and
that he attenpted to develop a defense in a weak case."

I was happy to be vindicated, but | disagree that

Ronny Zampbra was a client with "no defense" or a "weak

case."

Al t hough the accusations of inconpetency hung over ny
head |ike a sword for nore than a decade, | can't blame the
attorneys for attacking ne. | knew the risk when | offered

the defense. The nedia makes a big deal about "ineffective
assi stance of counsel" charges, but actually, they're a
routi ne appeal tactic. Defense attorneys get slapped with
t housands of such charges every year. However, | felt the
| ogic behind the notion was di sturbing. |Instead of pursuing
the errors nade by the judge and prosecutors, Ronny's new
| awyers kept hammering away at the ineffective counse

charge. Even if the courts had found that | was ineffective
and ordered a new trial, a rare occurrence, Ronny sinmply
woul d have been convicted again. Wat was the point? At
least my way, we had a renote chance of wi nning the case

and a solid chance of w nning an appeal and getting Ronny

t he nmedi cal hel p he needed.
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But I wasn't the victim Wile I was bei ng
professionally attacked, Ronny Zanbra was growing up in
pri son. | f he was so inpressionable that television
distorted his mind, |I'malnost afraid to consider the effect

of twenty-five years in prison.

(see Epil ogue)
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Chapter 5
THE SHEIK -- Lifestyles of the Incredibly Rich
and Obnoxi ous
PART |
"Money nmkes people rot." -- Sheika Dena al - Fassi

In late 1980, all of South Florida was atwitter with
the news that Prince Turki bin Abdul-Aziz and his vast
entourage had alighted in Mam . Prince Turki, zillionaire
brother of trillionaire Saudi Arabian King Fahd, had taken
up residence on the top floors of the Cricket Club, an
exclusive Mam condom nium and hotel conplex on the shores
of Bi scayne Bay.

The Cricket Club was then owned by one of Manm's nore
colorful residents, attorney-turned-real-estate-baron Alvin
Mal ni k. On April 25, 1982, the Mam Herald published a
rather volum nous splash of journalismrecounting "twenty
years of accusations" that Malnick was a close associate of
the late nob boss Meyer Lansky, and had business dealing

with some other nobster types. Ml nik once again denied the
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charges, as he had for the previous two decades. The Herald
gquoted a state gambling regulator claimng otherwise. As is
fequently the case with such stories, absolutely nothing
came of it. Malnick has never been convicted of any crine.

Among Malnik's possessions is the nationally-fanous
Forge Restaurant, an exclusive dining and dancing spot on
Mam Beach's Arthur Godfrey Road. The Forge is the place
where Lansky's stepson, Richard Schwartz, got into a
squabble with another man wth Mfia bloodlines, Craig
Teriaca, the twenty-nine-year-old son of alleged underworld
honcho Vincent Teriaca. In Cctober 1977, Teriaca and
Schwartz, forty-eight, were arguing over which Mafia prince
owned a $10 bill laying on the bar. Schwartz pulled a gun in
the crowded nightclub and shot Teriaca dead. Revenge was
swi ft. Four nonths later, while out on bond awaiting tri al
Schwartz was gunned down com ng out of his restaurant on Bay
Harbor Island. He died on the pavenent beside his blue
Cadi | | ac.

For once though, it was a guest, and not the owner of
the Cricket Club, who was making all the news. And for once,
it was positive. Except for a few isolated pockets of
resi stance fromJews on Mam Beach, the Arab prince and his
zillions were welconmed to Mam's nelting pot.

The wealthy residents of the Cricket Club and the
adj acent Jockey Cl ub, where bayfront condom niuns can cost
as much as $1 mllion, were made to feel |ike paupers

conpared to the Arab. The Prince rented an entire traveling
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circus to performat a birthday party for his three-year-old
daughter and two-year-old son. The mini-prince showed up
wearing shoes sprinkled wth two-carat dianonds. The tennis
courts were covered with a tent, which proved to be no match
for the strong bay winds and blew off, nuch to the delight
of many of the condo owners.

Somet hing occurred during this awesonme display of
weal t h that is nore revealing. The private circus
performance was staged on Halloween, a coincidence based
upon the Prince's daugther's birthday. The Cricket dCub's
vivacious social director, Bobbi Starr, joined the costune
parade as a nmernaid princess. On her head was a sparkling
tiara. Her Highness, Princess Hend Turki, caught sight of
the beautiful Starr and boiled with jeal ousy. She demanded
that Starr hand over the tiara on the spot to the true
princess. Starr conplied. Princess Turki placed it wupon her
head and wore it proudly.

"I don't know what all the fuss was about," Starr
said. "l bought the damm thing at Wwolwrth's for $1.98."

While one mght snicker at the Princess' foolish
pride, the incident was a foreshadowing. Had Starr's tiara
been a valuable famly heirloom the Princess still m ght
have taken possession. Her nenacing security force would
have seen to it. On the other hand, had Starr held out and
offered to sell her cheap party crown, she may have received
upwards of $100,000 or nore. The "Beverly Hillbilly" Arabs

were a paradox of arrogant demands and i mmense gullibility.
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They could take, or be taken, and the suns either way were
of ten vast.

The Prince's honeynbon in South Florida didn't |ast
| ong. Soon a dark and troubling story emerged. One of the
Prince's servants escaped and went directly to the
Met ro- Dade police departnment. The servant told detectives a
tale of slavery, beatings, and abuse. Chief abuser, the
servant said, was Princess Hend. The servant begged the
detectives to free her conpanions fromtheir life of msery.

The Metro detectives didn't take the servant's story
lightly. They began investigating and wuncovered enough
supporting information to get a warrant to check out what
was goi ng on. When a team of eight detectives and officers
arrived, they found that Hi s Hi ghness was surrounded by an
elite force of international bodyguards who felt no
obligation to obey Anerican law. Even if they had, Princess
Turki wasn't about to let the officers inside her suite. She
screanmed orders for her nmen to inpede the actions of the
police anyway they could. The bodyguards, a grizzled band of
mercenaries and karate experts, stonped the cops. The
Princess was said to have joined in, spitting, biting,
scratching and yanking on the hair of a fermale officer naned
Connie Kubik. Mny of the officers were badly injured,
i ncluding Kubik. She was I|ifted off the ground like a
hapl ess professional westler and body slanmed into a wall

Suffice it to say, the officers were unable to |ocate

any servants held against their wll.

118



Get Me EllisRubin!

Following the incident, some of the battered officers
came to ny office. They wanted to sue the Turkis for causing
their injuries. They were in rough shape, especially Kubik,
and it ticked ne off.

W sued.

The State Attorney was also upset about the incident
and was planning to prosecute the royals.

Down fromthe north cane a representative from the
U.S. State Departnent.*1 Some strings had been pulled and
Prince and Princess Turki were retroactively awarded a
sweepi ng bl anket of diplomatic imunity. The inmunity
i ncluded the Prince's staff, bodyguards, and | presune, any
sl aves.

That meant no prosecution. No arrests. No trial. No
human rights investigation. And no civil lawsuits on behal f
of the injured officers. There wasn't a dam thing we could
do about it. When Uncle Samthrows his red, white and bl ue
bl anket over a foreigner like that, the foreigner can do
anything short of raping the President's wife and get away
with it.

"That's the governnment for you," said officer Mchae
Fisten. "We're only a bunch of peon cops. It's all right for
us to get our asses kicked."

| really felt sorry for the police. They were asked to
do their job, didit, risked their lives, and were injured,
only to have some guy and his crass wife |laugh at them from

their perch high above the city.
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Fortunately, the public sentinment turned against the
Prince, and he soon bid Mam farewell. But that wasn't the
| ast Mam heard of the obstinate Arabs. Princess Turki |eft

behind her wayward little brother, one Shei k Mohamed al-

Fassi .

And that's when things really went hayw re.

Mohamed al-Fassi is a five-foot, four-inch, one
hundred-twenty-five-pound, wry |little dude with thinning

bl ack hair, a thick black nmustache, a perpetual five-o0'clock
shadow, crooked teeth, and a fortune estimted at $6
billion. He first touched down in Los Angeles in 1975 where
he attended college and tried to buy his way into the
Hol | ywood scene by throwi ng | avish parties. In 1978, he paid
$2.4 million in cash to purchase one of Beverly Hills' nost
famus nmansions, a thirty-eight-room palace known as the
"White House." That nicknanme was the first thing to go. The
Shei k painted the house pea green, then made internationa
headl i nes when he had an artist highlight the genitalia and
add pubic hair to statues surrounding the home. The
nei ghbors were aghast. (The honme can be seen in the novie
"The Jerk." It was used in the conmedy to denpbnstrate Steve
Martin's exaggerated concept of the good life.)

The Hol | ywood and Beverly Hills set quickly tired of
the Sheik and his vulgar ways. Mffed, he packed up his
sixty-five servants, four kids, two wives, and five hundred

suitcases, hooked up wth Prince Turki and Princess Hend,
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and wandered around the world for a few years. While they
were gone, one of Mhamed s ex-chauffeurs torched the
Beverly Hills mansion to cover up the theft of valuable
pai ntings. Neighbors were reported to have gathered around
the flam ng structure chanting "burn baby, burn.”

In 1981, the Sheik and his contingent |anded in South
Florida -- reportedly by mistake. They thought they were
going to Disney Wrld, but overshot Orlando by about 250
mles. No matter. They decided to stay anyway.

The Sheik was twenty-six when he arrived. In famly
tradition, he set up shop on the forty-fifth and forty-first
floors of |Irving Cowan's beautiful beachfront Diplomat
Resort Hotel, located, ironically, in Hollywod, Florida.
The Shei k booked about seventy |luxury roons, along with two
convention halls and two neeting roons to store his goods.
Anong the seventy, $175-a-night hotel roons, four were wused
solely to acconmodate the Sheik's wardrobe. That included
one room for his shoes, which were layed out in colorfu
rows upon the two king-size beds and on the floor. Not to be
outdone, his two w ves also had a room each for their shoes,
simlarly lined up on the beds and floor. They had enough
shoes to meke Inelda Marcos fly into a jealous fit! The
Shei kas al so had separate roons for their purses.

The tab for the hotel, figuring in the restaurant bil
and other incidentals, totaled about $25,000 a day. That
came to $750,000 a month -- not including tips. And that

doesn't reflect the massive security force Mhanmmed hired.
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At one point, nore than one-hundred off-duty Hollywood
police officers were on the Sheik's payroll at $11 an hour
Thi s home-team protection was further bol stered by dozens of
of f duty officers from surrounding communities.

Instantly forgetting the bad experience wth his
brother-in-law, Mam was soon atwitter again. The Sheik
wooed | ocal politicians and scattered noney to the wi nds. He
and his clan bought $17-mllion worth of |ocal property. He
made generous donations totaling $240, 000 to city
governnments, local charities, children in hospitals, and
adults with sob stories. He made many an area merchant
ri cher.

He tantalized the society set wth his fabulous
parties. Wen his son turned four, the Sheik decided to
throw a birthday party. He had the police round up twenty
children, dubbed "rent-a-kids" by the |I|ocal newspapers.
Mohammed | eased an eighty-five-foot boat and filled it with
puppet eers, nmgicians, clowns, and nusicians. For the
adults, there were five hundred shrinp, two-hundred-fifty
| anb chops, two hundred filet mgnons and twenty-four pounds
of succul ent roast beef. The party cost $150,000. Reporters
and phot ographers who cane to cover the event were offered
$100 tips for their troubles.

A sinmilar party was staged for selected residents of
Gol den Beach, a ritzy community of waterfront homes where
al - Fassi's younger brother, Tarek, had chosen to live. This

bash included a thirty-yard buffet table decked with | obster
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and filet mgnon and set against the intercoastal waterway
in the backyard of Tarek's $750,000 house. Describing the
festivities rem nds one of the classic song "The Twel ve Days

of Christmas." The young Shei k gave his Gol den Beach "true
| oves" thirty-one waiters, an eighteen-piece orchestra, six
strolling violinists, three ice sculptures and a $60, 000
rose display. If he would have thought of it, [|'msure he
woul d have included a partridge in a pear tree.

Tarek, by the way, had once given a |ocal drugstore

manager $10,000 in cash for a giant display bottle of Paco

Rabanne col ogne. The plastic bottle was filled with col ored

wat er .

All  of which paled in conparison to the palace
Mohammed was bui | di ng on Star |Island, a secl uded
nei ghbor hood of mllion-dollar hones j ust of f t he
pi cturesque, tropical causeway that |links Manm and M ami

Beach. The Sheik spent $1.5 million to buy two adjacent
mansi ons, whi ch he pronptly denol i shed, and made
arrangenents to purchase a third. The rebuil ding costs were
budgeted at $15 to $25 million. The conplex was designed to
i ncl ude two new houses, a $125, 000- domed nosque, two bow i ng
alleys, a theater in the round, a beauty salon, five
waterfalls, three fountains, a glass-bottonmed sw mring poo
perched over the living room a one-hundred-forty-five-foot
wat erslide, nmotorized closets the size of a two-car garage,
a clock that spoke three |anguages, front doors that would

open when the Sheik clapped, a racquetball court, an ice
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skating rink, a shooting gallery, Jacuzzi roons equi pped
with a light show controlled by a tub-side switch panel, a
sauna, and a nonorail encircling the conpound. Inside, there
wer e fifteen-by-fifteen-inch Italian mar bl e tiles,
si |l k-uphol stered walls and a black ceiling dotted with tiny
disco |lights. The bathroons were purple onyx and turquoise,
with the requisite gold fixtures.

Mohammed shared his wealth with seem ngly everyone --
everyone except Diplomat president |Irving Cowan. After
payi ng his massive hotel bill diligently for eight nonths,
enriching the Di pl omat by about $14 million, the Shei k began
to | apse.

As spring burned into sunmer, the hotel tab soared
past $500, 000, past $750,000, past $1 nmillion and was
closing in on $1.5 mllion. Runors circul ated that the Sheik
had a spat with the departed Prince Turki and had his
al l omance cut off. Cowan and his enployees were getting
nervous. There were reports that the Sheik was planning to
sneak away, beating the hotel for the bill. Everytime they
asked the Sheik or his advisors to pay up, the Dipl omat
officials were told not to worry, they'd be paid, but the
Shei k couldn't be bothered with such trifling suns right
t hen.

Atrifle to Mohammed was one nillion-five to Irving.
When the Diplomat finally got a check, it bounced. In fact,
thirty-six of the Sheik's previous checks were being "held"

by his Swi ss bankers until the account coul d be repl enished.
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In short, they all bounced.

On a hot July afternoon, a group of grimfaced
Di pl omat officials, backed by a squad of on-duty Hol | ywood
cops, forcefully evicted the Sheik and his seventy-five-nman
entourage. They inpounded $40 mllion worth of jewels,
antique furniture, <cars, prayer rugs, linens, clothing and
shoes. They <charged the Sheik with "def raudi ng an
i nnkeeper," a third-degree felony in Florida. He was forced
to cool his heels at the Hollywood police station for six
hours waiting for a bondsman to post a $1, 000 bond. For sone
reason, the Sheik could never wrangle the diplomtic
imunity his brother-in-law had acquired.

Royal | y peeved, Mhamed and his band retreated to his
father's $3.2 mllion Mam Beach nansion. Those of his
retinue who couldn't fit into the Ilinmted space of the
mansi on were ensconced at the Evergl ades Hotel in downtown
Mam , or at the Moulin Rouge Hotel on M am Beach. The new
i nnkeepers gl adly wel coned t he busi ness.

It was then that | received a call fromone Ali Jamel,
the Sheik's right-hand man. As he talked, | noticed that
Janmel had a Brooklyn accent, conplete with an abundance of
"dis," "dats" and "doses." | would later learn that Al
Janel, chief advisor and business manager to Arab Sheik
Mohammred al - Fassi, was actually Eli Ganel, a nice Jew sh boy
from Brooklyn. Ganel nmet al-Fassi in London, where Ganel
owned several businesses. The two hit it off, went into sone

successful business ventures together, and Ganel was invited
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aboard full tine. He accepted, switching a couple of
consonants and transforming hinself into Ali Janel.

Ali/Eli explained that the Sheik was having sone
problems with a local hotel. He wanted to retain me to take
care of that and some other |egal problens the young nan was
encountering. | agreed to neet himat his home the next day.
At that point, what |little | knew about the Sheik was
positive. He had been praised in the media for his
generosity and benevol ence, and appeared froma distance to
be a decent fellow Like everyone else in Mam, | was
curious to see what went on inside his inner circle and get
a taste of what it would be like to have limtless wealth.
As for the Arab/Jew sh aspect, it was never a consideration.
That's a battle fought in another world. | prefer to view
people the sane way the |aw views them as individuals.
Besides, it's virtually inpossible to live in Mam very
long and still harbor ill feelings toward any racial or
religious group. There's not enough hate in the worst bigot
to cover the variety of people one encounters in a single
Mam day -- or in ny office | obby.

Visiting the Sheik proved to be a tedious process that
consisted being stopped at the guard house at the gate,
getting perm ssion to enter the conpound, stopping again at
the door, getting perm ssion to enter the hone, and finally
being escorted into a waiting room The only interesting
part of the ordeal was the conpound. That's where the Sheik

had his cars. The Sheik had every kind and col or of sports
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and luxury car you could inmagine. There were six Cadillac
stretch linmusines -- dark blue, 1light blue, burgundy,
bl ack, and a pair of white ones. Each was equipped with a
television set and a full bar, even though the Sheik didn't
drink. Surrounding the |inpusines were a Masserati, a white
Excal i bre convertible, a Ferrari Mndial 9, a cherry-red
Mercedes 500-SL convertible, a Rolls Royce, a Jaguar, a
gol d-plated Stutz Bl ackhawk, a Lanmborghini Countach, and a
few other nmakes |'ve forgotten. Every car was clean and
waxed to a high gl oss.

In the waiting room one would wait, and wait, and
wait, anywhere from an hour to forever. During the tinmes I
vi sited, I  encountered doct ors, denti sts, j ewel ers,
politicians, journalists, fellow attorneys, and busi nessnen
of every stripe waiting in the "I obby" of the house. Once,
found boxer Mihanmad Ali  sitting in a daze, waiting
patiently to see the Shei k. Another tine, actor Omar Shariff
was waiting.

Everybody waited. Everybody but Ellis Rubin. It didn't
take long to figure out the Sheik's ganme. He | oved keeping
people waiting. The nore inportant they were, the |[|onger
they waited. After about forty-five mnutes, | got up to
| eave. Janel quickly rushed over and escorted nme into a huge
living roombathed in white -- white rugs, white furniture,
white drapes, white everything. The Sheik cane downstairs
and greeted me. He seenmed nice enough at first, but was

shorter, skinnier and bal der than | expected. His eyes gave
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him away. The Shei k had treacherous eyes. W agreed on ny

retainer, and | told himnot to worry about the Dipl omat
probl em
After a week of legal scuffling, I managed to nove the

Shei k/ Di pl omat conflict from the crinmnal courts to the
civil courts. That was critical victory. No one would be
comng to arrest the Sheik again, at Ileast not on these
charges. | then schedul ed an energency hearing to deal with
t he i nmpounded property.

| felt the Diplomat had grossly overreacted. Sure, if
soneone runs up a $1.5 mllion bill, that m ght make you
sweat. But if you're holding $40 mllion worth of that
person's property, including $15 mllion in furniture and
jewelry, what's the big deal over $1.5 million? Wat's $1.5
million between friends? Al they had to do was grab a
handful of dianonds, as the Shei k suggested, and erase the
bill. O course, the Diplomat didn't see it that way. Being
tossed a dianond the size of a golf-ball isn't the kind of
payment your basic hotel treasurer knows how to handl e.

As weak as the Diplomat's case was, it blewtotally
apart when the hotel's attorneys made a huge bl under during
the hearing. | had brought the Sheik's top aides into the
courtroomto testify. After ny first witness told his story,
the Diplomat's attorneys invoked a rule that all upcom ng
Wi t nesses nust wait outside. This prevents them from hearing
each other's testinony and synchronizing their stories.

Wiile the Diplomat's treasurer was testifying, in
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wal ked the hotel's general manager. He was their star

W tness. He sat through virtually all of the treasurer's
testimony. | couldn't believe it. He was then called to take
t he stand.

| objected.

After a half-hour or so of argunents, the judge rul ed,
repeatedly, that since the Diplomt's attorneys had invoked
the "wi tnesses-out" sanction, they would have to live by it.
Adios to the the Diplomat's star witness. Not only that,
they had no one else ready to take his place and had to rest
their stillborn case.

Unfortunately, they had another, better w tness they
didn't even know about. It was a dead poet who resided in
Judge Joe Price's head. When he reached the critical point
in a long speech rendering his judgnent, the judge quoted

Wor dswor t h:

And the night shall be filled with nusic,
And the cares that infest the day,
Shall fold their tents Iike the Arabs,

And as silently steal away.

Wonderful. Although | had thunped the Diplomt's
attorneys like a dish rag, | was beaten by a literary
allusion to thievery froma poet who di ed one-hundred-thirty
years ago. The judge refused to grant ny notion to dissolve

the wit |ocking out the Sheik from his property.
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Actually, it was only a minor defeat. After six hours
of bickering in court, we came up wth the brilliant
solution that if the Sheik paid his bill, the Dipl omat woul d
rel ease his property.

Shr ewd.

I handed the Diplomat's attorney three cashier's
checks totaling $1.56 mllion, and a few days later, the
Shei k carted out his bel ongi ngs.

At the sanme time | was handing over that check, a
parade of twenty-five other <creditors, everyone froma
painter to a shoe repairman, began showi ng up at the door of
one of the Sheik's financial law firms, Thomas and Thomas.
The nmerchants demanded and received paynent for a score of
ot her rubber checks.

The Sheik, still seething, demanded action agai nst the
Di pl omat. Six weeks later, we struck back. | filed a suit in
Broward County Circuit Court against the hotel and its
owners. The Sui t stated that al-Fassi had "suffered
huni i ati on and enbarrassment, nervous shock to his mnd and
body, defamation, libel, slander of his good nane and
reputation throughout the world, false arrest and false
i mpri sonment, and danage to his credit." The Diplomat was

additionally accused of "wongfully term nating services and

overcharging, inflating and inventing said costs and
charges. "
We asked for $1 billion in damages -- $300 nmillion in

conpensatory damages and $700 million in punitive danmges.
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And that didn't include interests, costs and attorneys fees.
As the expression goes, "Wen you fly with eagles..."

Mohammed' s problens with the Di pl onat, reported around
the country, spurred an interesting phenonenon. Hotels began
vying for his business. The Holiday Innin Mramar, a city
close to Holl ywood, goaded its rich, big brother D plomt by
awardi ng the Sheik a key to the nmotel and naking him an
honorary innkeeper. A group of businessnen threw hima
pi cni c and begged himnot to | eave town. Two chil dren, noved
by his financial problens, broke open their piggy banks and
neiled the Sheik $1.09 and 50 cents. That nmoved him the
nmost .

"For a child, $1.09 is a lot of noney," he said.
"Ameri cans have good hearts."

Nowhere were the "good hearts" nore evident than in
St. Louis. A disc jockey named Bob Wl ke started a canpaign
to entice the Sheik to nove his operation there. Although it
began as a joke, the Sheik responded and St. Louis got
serious. The Sheik was given a personal invitation by the
mayor to cone for a grand visit. Al-Fassi sent nme and Janel

instead. W were treated so royally that after the first

couple of hours, | phoned ny two sons, Mark and Cuy, and
quoting a favorite movie of nine, said, "Meet M in St.
Loui s!" We had a great tine and nmet some good people
i ncluding baseball great Stan Musial and the Busch fanily.

They even flashed "Welcone to St. Louis, ElIlis Rubin and

party" on the scoreboard at Busch Menorial Stadium during a
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St. Louis Cardinals baseball ganme. | reported back to the
Shei k, and that was the last | heard of St. Louis.

Back in Manm, the Sheik's peace was about to be
shattered in a nmanner that would nmake the Di plomat Hote
battle look like nickels and dines. The prior January, wife
nunber one, Shei ka Dena, had flown the coop. The Italian
beauty had been wunhappy for years, starting wth the
addition of wife nunber two, American actress Victoria Sosa.
Sosa lasted only a year, but the danage was done. In Mani,
the Sheik added wi fe nunber three, a raven-haired Saud
nanmed Aptisam Sheika Dena was exiled to the east w ng of
the Diplomt while her husband cuddled with Aptisamin the
forty-fifth floor naster suite. Dena told nme during a
deposition that the Sheik's staffers supplied her with
cocai ne and tricked her into taking quaal udes by saying they
were aspirin. Once, while she was zonked out the non-aspirin
quaal udes, she said she was sexually assaulted by the
husband of one of her mmidservants.

Escaping this nightnare, she returned to the West
Coast, where she fell into the waiting arnms of a nmenber of
rock singer Rod Stewart's band, identified in the deposition
as lead guitarist JimCregan. They had nmet earlier in Mani,
had a brief affair, nmet again in New York, then got
reacquai nted in San Franci sco and Los Angel es.

But Dena woul d be back -- with a vengeance.

Shei ka Dena al -Fassi returned to Mam in August 1982

with celebrity divorce | awer Marvin Mtchel son in tow. They
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were comng to get what they felt was theirs. And what they
felt was theirs were four children and $3 billion.

THREE Bl LLI ON DOLLARS.

It would be Marvin Mtchelson vs. Ellis Rubin, one on
one, for the highest stakes in a child custody suit in the

hi story of the planet Earth.

Foot not es

1. According to The Mani Herald, the representative
turned out of be former U S. anbassador to Saudi Arabia John
West. West, a former governor of South Carolina, was a
menber  of t he board of directors of the Whittaker
Corporation, a California-based conpany that nade mllions

doi ng business with the al-Fassi famly.
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Chapter 6

THE SHEIK -- Lifestyles of the Incredibly Ri ch and Obnoxi ous

PART Il -- THE BI LLI ON- DOLLAR BABI ES

I've probably given nore than five-hundred press
conferences in my life. 1've spoken into five-thousand
m crophones, | ooked into a couple thousand news caneras, and
fiel ded nore than ten-thousand questions fromreporters.

Yet, for sheer variety, |'ve never experienced a nedia
circus the |Ilikes of which surrounded the al-Fassi custody
battle. Never before had | seen a National Enquirer reporter
bunpi ng shoul ders with a New York Tinmes reporter. Never had
| seen a Wall Street Journal correspondent shouting down a
Peopl e magazi ne scribe. Never had my secretary handed nme a
nmessage that U S. News and World Report called, and under it
was a nessage to call The Mdnight Gobe. And trying to
determine who the nob of foreign reporters were, or even
what countries they represented, was futile.

Love, money, sex, drugs, and fame. The world never

tires of it.

The Mohamred al - Fassi, Diane (Dena) Bilanelli romance
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had been the stuff of television miniseries. They net in a
London <clothing shop in 1975. He was nineteen. She was
fifteen. He was soon to be a billionaire. She was a shop
girl with a billion-dollar face. The young Dena was Sophia
Loren and G na Lollobrigida rolled into one, a dark-haired,
creany-skinned Italian beauty with the biggest, nost
alluring eyes God ever set in one of his creations. The
teenaged Arab was snitten the instant he saw her. They
married | ess than a year later.

At the tine, al-Fassi was a well-off foreign student,
but nothing out of the ordinary. His sister, Hend, was the
conpanion of Prince Turki and that gave al-Fassi what
| everage he had. Actually, the al-Fassi clan was nothing
nore than a band of Mrracan nomads who settled in Saud
Ar abi a | ooking for a better |Iife. WMhamed s father,
Shansuddi n  Abdul l ah al-Fassi, operated a snall trading
conpany and a tobacco shop and was later jailed for speaking
out agai nst the Saudi governnent.

Mohammed and Dena noved to Los Angel es where they
settled into a $200-a-nonth apartment. He bought a Buick
She cooked for him and washed the <clothes. They both
remenber this as their happiest tine together

Then things changed dramatically. Hend al -Fassi, a
secretary for a foreign conmpany, upgraded from Prince
Turki's consort to his wife. That nade her a Princess of
considerable <clout. Prince Turki is one of the forty-plus

sons of former Saudi King Abdul Aziz. Wen not fathering

135



Get Me EllisRubin!

children, King Aziz was known as the founder of nodern Saud
Arabia. Thanks to Hend, the entire al-Fassi fam|ly was swept
into the oil-soaked Saudi royal famly.*1 Their fortunes
rocketed. Papa al-Fassi, the one-time anti-governnment rebel
was not only dubbed a Sheik, he picked up an honorary
doctorate froma Korean University as well. Hs stature
| eaped from convict to the double titled Dr. Sheik. His
tradi ng conpany was awarded |ucrative governnent contracts,
i ncludi ng the nedi cal supplies concession in Saudi Arabia.
That gave Dr. Sheik the wealth to back up his titles. Hend's
f our little brothers also becane Sheiks and instant
mllionaires.

Mohanmmed al - Fassi ushered his Italian bride into a
life of unimginable wealth. Paris, Rone, New York, Los
Angel es, M anm, London, the world was their playground. In
Saudi Arabia, they had five-hundred servants. When they
travel ed, at least fifty servants went with them Werever
she wanted to live, they lived. Whatever she wanted was
hers. Jewels. Furs. Cars. Cl othes.

They had two children and adopted two nore.

But Mohammed's noney and Dena's beauty couldn't shield
themfromthe same problens that affect so many coupl es,
especially those who marry as teenagers. They sinply grew
apart. Coming to Anerica didn't help. Dena natured and
wanted nmore out of |ife than being one of the Sheik's four
allotted wives. She found that the stringent rules and

cultural limtations expected of her as a Saudi Sheika
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conflicted tremendously wth free, equal and downright
radi cal English and Anerican wonmen she had conme to know in
London and Los Angeles. In Saudi Arabia, few wonen are
allowed to work or even drive, and it's preferred that they
cover their faces with veils.

Dena |iked Anerica. She started changing, grow ng,
becom ng Anmericanized. She liked to visit discos and dance
the night away. She |iked wearing flashy clothes, the | atest
hai rstyl es, and shopping on Rodeo Drive and in Bal Harbour

Al -Fassi, for all his worldliness, wanted his domestic
life to be guided by Arab tradition and the Moslemreligion
The woman's place was in the hone. She was to be the veiled
nmother, the nurturer, the keeper of the household. He
preferred his wives in traditional Arabian robes. He didn't
want them at Regine's at five a.m

A teenage marriage conbined with the changing role of
wonen in Anmerican society. Those conflicts have torn apart a
mllion American couples. Imgine the schismit created
between an Arab Sheik and his Italian bride?

Dena bl amed the noney.

"L'argent pourrit les gens," she says in a lovely
French. Translation -- "Mney nakes people rot."

Dena had al so grown weary of globe trotting and being
i mpri soned in hotel roonms. She wanted to settle down in one
pl ace where her children could lead a normal |[|ife. Mohamed

wanted to keep wandering the world, invading hotels Iike

Howar d Hughes, shaking things up, then noving on.
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They argued. Al-Fassi couldn't wunderstand the new
Dena. Thi ngs escal at ed.

"W had fights, fist fights, argunents," Dena told ne
in a deposition. "I tried to defend nyself. He pulled ny
hair in front of everyone."

O all the bright and new American traditions Dena
enjoyed, she particularly Iliked California's fifty/fifty
community property law. Mtchelson had filed the divorce
suit there to take advantage of the generous statutes.
California Superior Court Judge Harry T. Shafer ruled that
his court had jurisdiction to decide the $3-billion divorce
case, but decreed that a Florida judge had to decide the
custody battle and the visitation guidelines. Mtchel son had
to come to Mam to get the Kkids -- Hessha and Turkei, both
five, and Rahad and Abdul aziz, both three. He also needed
cash for Dena's upkeep pending the court decision. In truth,
regardl ess of which judge clained jurisdiction, and how hard
they shook their legal fists in California, Mtchel son would
have to come to Florida to collect anything he won.

Thus, the bl oodiest battles were destined to be fought
in Mam.

One of the smartest things Mtchelson did before he
arrived was hiring Mam nmatrinonial attorney Melvyn Frunkes
to assist him Frunkes is sharp. He's also one dogged and
determined SOB -- attributes that nake himone of the best
divorce lawers in the country. If you want a peacefu

settlenent, hire a good divorce |awer. |If you want to puree
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your spouse into a puddle of protoplasm hire Frunkes.

From a | egal standpoint, Frunkes is admired for being
able to ferret out all the noney and goods a wealthy spouse
has hidden fromtheir partner. \Wether soneone has their
nmoney in a Swiss bank account, the Caynman I|slands, a dunmmy
corporation, their mstress' apartnment, or buried in a hole
in the back yard, Frunkes will find it.

Frunkes is also known for papering his adversaries to
death with notions, pleading and requests -- a trait that
makes opposing |awers and the targeted spouses want to
stick his head in a shredder

Together, Mtchelson and Frumkes were a force. They
went right for al-Fassi's jugular wth their openi ng
maneuver. The two attorneys did an end-run around the judge
handl i ng the case and obtained an energency Wit of Ne Exeat
from a weekend duty judge. A "Ne Exeat" is a hol dover |aw
fromthe Dark Ages. It is one of the nobst unfair laws in the
entire legal system What it nmeans is if sonmeone can
convince a judge that their husband or wife is about to skip

town with disputed property or children, the judge can have

that person arrested and tossed into jail. No trial, no
hearing, no due process, right to the slamer. It's the
“Monopoly rule,"” as in "go directly to jail, do not pass go,

do not collect $200."
The Florida Suprene Court, aware of the severe
consequences of the Ne Exeat, handed down this caution in

1932:
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"In view of the fact that this wit tends to abridge
the liberty of sonmeone, it should be granted with
caution...Excessive and unreasonabl e bail should never
be required; as the wit is purely a civil wit, it
shoul d not be allowed to be used oppressively."

Many attorneys aren't even aware of the "Ne Exeat." |
was because | used it once. The son of the Prime M nister of
I cel and grabbed his children fromhis wife, and was on a jet
ready to fly them honme. | obtained a "Ne Exeat" and had
some deputy sheriffs yank the man and the kids off the
pl ane. But even then, | waived jailing the guy.

Ajet taxiing down the runway is one thing. A Sheik
tanning hinself by his pool is quite another

I was rocked out of a nap that Saturday afternoon in
August 1982 by a call froma frantic nmenber of the Sheik's
entourage. He said there were cops trying to arrest the
Shei k. 1 quickly dressed and drove to Dr. Sheik's mansion.
Qutside the gate were five carloads of sheriff's deputies
and M ani Beach police officers. They were being held at bay
by the Sheik's reginment of bodyguards. It was about 90
degr ees and t he sun was frying everyone's nerves.
Remenbering the Prince Turki incident, | feared a blood bath
was in the making.

"What's going on here?" | shouted to the officers.
Before they could answer, | spotted Melvyn Frunkes standing
anong them He had a grin on his face the size of a crescent

nmoon. | demanded to see "the papers." They obliged. The Ne
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Exeat order not only sentenced the Sheik to jail, it stated
that he had to post a $1l-mllion-cash bond to regain his
freedom One mllion! So nmuch for the Florida Suprene

Court's decree against "excessive and unreasonable bail."
It's virtually inpossible to get a nillion in cash on a
Saturday, which Frumkes knew. Even the Sheik didn't have
that much | ayi ng around the house.

"This is just like you Melvyn, to pull this on a
Saturday," | said. "How the hell did you get a judge to sign
this without telling me? You know |'mthe Sheik's | awer."

"W got word he was going to |eave," Frunkes said,
still grinning. He was having a great tinme. He knew he had

my ass in a ringer.

"The Sheik isn't going anywhere wuntil | talk to the
judge," | told the police lieutenant in charge.lt was a
bluff. I didn't have the power to stop the police. But |'ve
learned if you speak with authority, it works. The police
agreed to hold off until | could reach the judge.

I was ushered inside and taken straight to the Sheik.

There was no waiting this tine. |1'd never seen him so
scared.

"Please M. Rubin, | don't care what it takes or how
much it costs. If | gotojail I'll be beheaded," he wailed.

The Sheik had told me before that under the |aws of
his country, if he ever set foot in jail, in Saudi Arabia or
anywhere el se, he would have his head chopped off. | don't

know if this is true, but he appeared frightened enough to
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believe it. | told himto calm down and stop worrying, that
he wasn't going to be jailed.

Actually, the Sheik was in grave danger of doing sone
time and getting his noggin' |lopped off. But | wasn't about
to let it happen without a fight. What | needed was to
| ocate Judge George Or and find out how he could have
signed such an order without notifying me. | called for
nearly an hour before | got him

"Judge, hows it going to look that you signed this
order without being shown any proof he was |eaving?" |
reasoned. "You've ordered a nenber of the Saudi royal famly
to be jailed without a hearing or due process? How s that
going to look around the world? Do you wunderstand the
consequences of what you are doing? He'll have his head cut
off in his home country! How did this case get before you
anyway?"

“I"'mthe duty judge," Or explained.

“Isn'"t it obvious the original judge should rule on
this?" | continued. "Mtchelson and Frunkes specifically
wai ted for the weekend to get you to give a blind order!"

Judge O r asked to speak to Frunmkes. W sent someone
for him and courageously, he waltzed into the eneny canp. |
was afraid the Sheik was going to inpale himon a gatepost
the nmonent he got inside. Frumkes argued with the judge to
keep the original order and continued to claim that the
Shei k was planning to flee. | argued that he wasn't going

anywhere. The judge decided to hold off wuntil Mnday
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norni ng, and throw the issue back into Judge Jack Turner's
court. Turner was handling the custody case and should have
ruled on it in the first place. Frumkes was not pleased.

""Nice try, Melvyn," | said as he left. "I'lIl see you
Monday norning, you son-of-a-bitch."

As Frunkes and the police departed, cheers rang out
all over the mansion. The Sheik was so elated he took ne
outside and presented nme with a brand new, fire-red,
Mercedes 500-SL convertible -- a $60,000 chunk of Gernan
machi nery. | drove it honme. That night, the Sheik threw ny
wife and | a grand feast the likes of which 1've never
experienced. There were a dozen or so courses, with dates,
figs, grapes, nuts, chicken, |anb, vegetables, soup, rice
and taboolie -- Dbuckwheat soaked in water, mixed wth
chopped parsley, chopped tonmatoes, cucunbers and sesane
seeds spread over a bed of |ettuce.

As we ate, the Skeik's resident Holy Man wandered
around the table showering me with el aborate bl essings. He
was dressed in a blue robe, a matching turban, and had a
| ong beard. He | ooked |ike the Ayatollah Khoneni.

On Monday norning at 8:30, we appeared before Judge
Turner. As | expected, the judge wasn't happy with the
Marvi n and Mel vyn show, and wanted to know why they didn't
make the "Ne Exeat" request on Thursday or Friday when he
could have handled it. M&M said they got word of the Sheik's
supposed departure too late. Judge Turner canceled the "Ne

Exeat" wit. On top of that, | argued and won the right for
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the Sheik to take the children with him on trips outside
Florida, a major victory.

The Shei ka, neanwhile, was hardly waiting tables. The
Shei k had put her up in a suite of roonms at the Evergl ades
Hotel in downtown Manm. He gave her $200 a day in cash,
unlimted charging privileges, provided her wth thirteen
servants, and allowed her to keep the children for days on
end. And each child had its own personal nanny.

Frunkes conplained that the Sheik had al so provi ded
twenty bodyguards, which he clainmed were spies. Frunkes said
t he bodyguards presented "no opportunity for a free flow of
| ove" between nother and her brood.

"This woman can't take the children to the restaurant
downstairs wthout permssion," Frunkes argued. "All the
children see are bodyguards watching their nother."

I countered that the Sheika was being treated |ike a
gueen and had no cause for conplaint.

After those fireworks, it was time to deal with the
big battle, the custody case. | scheduled the Sheika for a
deposi tion, and Mt chel son and Frunkes how ed. They
scheduled the Sheik for a deposition, and | how ed.
Mtchel son tried to ban the nedia fromthe depositions, and
they howled. The nedia called their attorneys, and they
how ed.

Thi ngs were getting out of hand.

After a week or so of haggling, we finally gathered

for the formal deposition of the Sheika. Mtchel son opened
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by again asking the reporters to leave. | said that under
Florida |l aw, they could stay. Al Messerschnidt, a reporter
for The Mam Herald, piped up and began speaking better
| egal ese than Mtchel son, Frumkes and nyself conbined. He
cited cases and quoted judges, the whole works. W were al
stunned and sat quietly as Messerschmdt |ectured us on
media law. It was the only cal m nonent of the deposition.

We ended up calling Judge Turner and he said the
reporters could stay. W noved on, but before |I could get
anywhere, things bogged down. Aside from Mtchelson and
Frunkes, Frunkes had brought a third | awer, Cynthia G eene
They were all objecting and interjecting and it was getting
ridiculous. | demanded that one person represent the Sheika

and the other two shut up.

Rubin: If we can't agree, then it's no holds barred
and dog eat dog and bury your dead. |Is that what you
want to do?

Mt chel son: No, nobody wants to bury any dogs. W want

to conduct this in an orderly fashion.

My point exactly. Surprisingly, Mtchel son agreed and
said Frunkes woul d do the objecting.

That worked for about thirty seconds. W continued to
argue over what | could ask. | wanted to talk sex, drugs and
rock and roll. Mtchelson and Frunkes obviously didn't,

especially with Messerschm dt there. Frunkes kept objecting
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over everything, even sinple questions concerning the
Shei ka' s background, how the Shei k supported hinself and the
source of his noney. | couldn't get a word in, so | called a
recess and wal ked out. That neant they wouldn't be able to
speak to the Sheik at all, since his deposition was not to
be taken until the conclusion of the Sheika's. As | left, |
heard Frunkes funing after ne about hol ding "Shei k Mohamed
al -Fassi in contenpt for his flagrant violation of the court
order in not appearing!"”

W tried again a week later. This time we had a
referee, Special Master Mallory Horton. The former District
Court of Appeals judge would rule on all our squabbles much

as he would if we were in court. For exanple:

M. Frunkes: Now he is trying to intimdate her
Dena: He doesn't.

M. Frunkes: He intim dates ne.

M. Rubin: | intinidated you the day | was born.

Horton: Let's go ahead (boys).

That hel ped. Things went a little better

As | questioned Dena about cocaine, quaaludes and
adultery, Mtchel son objected and asked to nmake a statenent
for the record. He then proceeded to give a tear-jerker of a
speech on male chauvinism and wonmen's rights. He concl uded
by heartfully proposing a brave new era of jurisprudence

where these kind of prying questions won't be asked of
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peopl e. What a wonderful world that woul d be, especially for
Mtchel son's | egion of adulterous clients who are trying to
squeeze the |ife out of their rich, old Hollywod husbands.
As | reached for a tissue to dab nmy eyes, | renenbered al
the lurid celebrity cases that earned Mtchelson hi s
nati onal reputation. Fortunately, the special master ignored
him*2 Finally, thanks to Horton, we got through the
depositions. The hearing was set for the foll owi ng week.

Before we could get to court, the Sheik nanaged to
enbroil hinself in another headline-grabbing controversy.
Three weeks earlier, the Sheik had given the Yell ow Thunder
Indian tribe in Rapid City, South Dakota, a $10,000 donation
for the care and education of Indian children. Then, without
war ni ng, American Indian novenent |eader Russell Means
surfaced in Davie, Florida, held a news conference, blasted
Mohammed and announced he was returning the Sheik's check --
or at |east $8,592.34 of it. Means' beef was that he clained
the Shei k made the donation as a bribe to nmeet actor Marlon
Brando, a long-tine supporter of I|ndian causes.

"He wanted ne here, really, to bring Brando to him for
his own infantile ego," Means told the reporters, adding
that Brando was "insulted and infuriated" by the donation
Means expl ai ned that the refund was short $1,407.66 to cover
expenses involved in the Sheik's visit to the tribe. The
reporters gleefully splashed Means' insults in their
newspapers. The Sheik was incensed and threatened a |ibe

suit, screaming once again that he was being humliated
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around the world. He countered that Means had tried to
squeeze himfor $2 mllion to build a housing project, and
was upset by the "paltry" $10,000 donati on.

The next day | called a press conference and nerrily
junped into the fray.

"Heap big Indian speaks with forked tongue,"” | told
the reporters, giving the incident the dignity it deserved.
| also demanded that Brando surface from his island, or

where ever the hell he resides, and "confirm or deny the
accusation of the Indian."

Brando stayed secluded and the flap quickly died.

The Billion-Dollar Babies hearing finally got underway
on Friday, Septenber 10, 1982. The Shei ka | ooked ravishing.
The Shei k | ooked short and skinny. The nedia |ooked eager
They weren't disappointed. There were enough stories of
cocai ne, quaal udes and Rod Stewart and the boys to keep them

all happy. The Sheika had an alnpst «child-like attitude

about her sins. | asked her what the cocaine did for her
“"Not hing special," she said. "They just tell nme the
nane, cocaine. | never knew what it was. It was a bottle

they had with them"

Mt chel son, whom the reporters canme to see, had to
take a back seat to Frunkes in the hearing. Florida and
California laws differ, and Mtchel son didn't appear to be a
man who enjoyed the boring intricacies of the | aw anyway.

Frunkes, the paperman, |oves it.
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The Sheik, with his clainms of strict Mslem abstention
from alcohol, <cigarettes or drugs, |ooked I|ike a nonk
conpared to the Sheika's world of cocaine and rock stars.
Not surprisingly, after | gave ny word that Mhamed
woul dn't take the children out of Dade County without
perm ssion, Judge Turner awarded custody to the Sheik. The
judge gave Dena generous visitation privileges.

At that point, | had thunped Mtchel son and Frunkes in
virtually every battle. Mtchelson decided to go back to

California and push his divorce case back on his hone turf.

Despite ny victories, | was growing weary of the
Shei k. |1 had only represented him for six weeks, but it
seemed like forever. At his house, he abused and huniliated

his servants so badly it was enmbarrassing. He would throw
garbage or food right on the floor just to watch themrun
over and clean it up. He chonped on Indian nuts all the
time, and did so by breaking the shells wth his crooked
front teeth and then blowing themout on the floor. This
combined with his incessant habits of spitting and cursing.
My wi fe thought he suffered from Tourette Syndrome, a neura
di sorder that causes inappropriate reactions, including
cursing, spitting and barking Iike a dog. (She heard about
it on "Donahue.")

| just figured the Sheik was an uncouth little worm

To accommpdate his filthy habits, he had the entire
mansi on dotted with Kl eenex boxes. My wife counted eighteen

in one room He had tissues in every color of the rainbow
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He'd spit into a Kleenex, wad it up and throwit on the
floor. Sometinmes he wouldn't let the servants clean them up
until he left the room During sone of our neetings, the
revolting pile would reach nountai nous proportions.

Shei ka Aptisamwas normelly reserved, but she too had
her idiosyncrasies. She'd be chatting quietly in the living
room then, without warning, let out a ear-shattering
banshee wail for her servant. The nmaid would hunbly bring
the Shei ka her French Evian water. Aptisam would continue
her conversation for a while, then | et out another piercing
yelp that would all but knock wus off the sofa. The naid
woul d cone and take the bottled water away. The Shei ka woul d
talk sone nore, then wham another blood curdling shriek.
The maid would bring the bottle back. It would go on |ike
that, back and forth, for hours. One afternoon, | was afraid
my wife Irene was going to leap off the sofa and strangle
the life out of Aptisamif she screeched one nore tine.

During their stay at the Cricket Club, residents and
enpl oyees bitterly conplained that the Turki and al - Fass
clan routinely wurinated in the elevators, hallways, or
anywhere el se they felt the urge. By the tine they vacated
the place, the stench was said to be unbearabl e.

The Sheik was also setting a poor exanple for his
children. One of his sons was a spoiled brat of CGuinness
Book of World Records dinmensions. He would spit on the floor
just to see the servants wipe it up. He'd throw his food on

the rug and carry on like a little denon. Once, while they
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were staying at the Diplomat, the children were given a
litter of kittens as a present. They took them down to the
swi mm ng pool where at | east one child began tossing them
into the water, <clapping and |aughing while the animals
struggled to stay alive. A nunmber of the tough, burly
bodyguards, who were never allowed to interfere with
anything the «children did, broke precedent and rescued the
terrified kittens. They confided to nme that the kitten
incident was the nobst heartbreaking thing they had ever
Wi t nessed.

During the custody hearing, a child psychiatrist was
ordered to evaluate the Sheik's bratty son. The report said
he was "unmanageabl e" and had a "foul nouth."

Then there was the Sheik's trip to M dl and,
Pennsyl vania. Al-Fassi dangled a $3 mllion offer in front
of t he noses of depressed st eel wor kers in t he
financially-strapped town of 4,300. The catch? They woul d
all have to sign a waiver promsing not to vote for Ronald
Reagan in the 1984 el ections. Mst of the people were eager
to accept, especially when it was discovered they were
almost all Denocrats anyway. The State Departnment nmade
noi ses about the offer violating federal "vote-buying"
statutes and threatened the Sheik with a two-year prison
sentence. The Sheik publicly thunbed his nose at the State
Department, but privately backed off.

The whol e scene was beginning to repulse ne. | had

taken the case out of curiosity to see what it's |ike being
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a billionaire. In this case, it was disgusting. The Sheik
was the biggest horse's ass | had ever known, and |I've
represented hundreds of accused nurderers. And he was
starting to play his noney ganes again. Once, when | asked
himfor a paynent, he spit on the rug next to ny foot and
wal ked out of the room | was going to quit right then, but
every time | tried, Ali Janel or one of the other aides
woul d beg ne to stay. The Sheik's father even called from
London or Saudi Arabia twice asking nme to stay. Apparently,
I was faring better that his other lawers had in wnning
| egal battles and keeping himout of trouble.

| agreed to remain because | had a feeling it wouldn't
be much | onger. The Sheik was itching to | eave Mam, and
could sense it. |I had given ny word that he would stay and
not take the children, but it was apparent that he cared
nothing for my word, and |l ess for Anerican |law. Fortunately,
there were so many people in his own canp who hated himthat
every tinme he coughed, Dena would be notified. A week or so
later, he tried to slip away to Ol ando and soneone in his
canp contacted Dena and the police. The State Attorney
ordered a "Shei k Watch" at Man International Airport, and
a judge called an emergency hearing. In fitting fashion, it
was schedul ed for midnight at the judge's hone.

The judge was Richard Feder. He's probably the only
judge in America who nakes the attorneys who practice in his
court don black robes, a practice | whol eheartedly support.

It lends dignity to the proceedings.
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I  rendezvoused with the Sheik at 79th Street and
Bi scayne Boul evard. Although that junction sits between two
maj or arteries connecting Mam Beach with the mainland, our
neeting point was a section of town overflowing with crack
deal ers and hookers. The Sheik arrived with Aptisam the
four children and their four nannies. | brought ny wife,
Irene, along. We went caravan style to Judge Feder's house.
On the way, the Sheik and | argued about his attenpt to

violate the court order.

"Fuck the court order," he said.

"Well then, vyou're going to jail," | countered. "Say
goodbye to your head."

That shut himup. | also took the opportunity to nmake

hi m pay the $20,000 he prom sed for ny services. He gave ne
a check.

When we arrived at the judge's house, the street was
lined with police and federal agents. Waiting inside were
Judge Feder, an assistant state attorney, Dena's attorneys,
a court reporter and national |l y-fanous attorney Henry
Rot hbl att. Wthout ny know edge, Rothblatt had been added to
the Sheik's team and had come to silently observe. W sat
in acircleinthe living roomwth the babies crying and
had a bizarre hearing that my wife refers to as "the
seance." Al we needed was a nmediumand a crystal ball
After the argunments, the judge ruled that the Sheik could
take his children on the grand tour of Anerica that he had

pl anned. There was one catch. Mhamred had to bring me al ong
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to keep himin line. The Sheik, surprisingly neek, agreed,
and told the judge he was going to dole out $2 million in
donations to various city governments, hospitals, and |oca
charities.

The next day, the Sheik spit at ny feet and said he
was going wthout ne. That afternoon, his $20,000 check
bounced. That was it. | went to court, obtained an emergency
hearing, and "fired" the Sheik as nmy client. Rothblatt,
famous for handling the Mai Lai massacre, Watergate, happy
hooker Xavi er Hollander and wunhappy political wife Martha
Mtchell, was now the Sheik's new nout hpi ece. Feder issued a
tenmporary order freezing the Sheik's bank accounts unti
Judge Turner, who was out of town, could return. Rothblatt
was beside himself and raised such a ruckus Judge Feder had
to twice order himto cool it.

The following norning, there was a big story in the
newspaper about ny "firing" the Shei k. The Associated Press
picked it up and sent it worldw de. Apparently, that caused
Mohanmmed even nore “"shame and huniliation all over the
world." A few nights later, he called my honme at 1:19 a.m
Irene answered. The Sheik forced an enbarrassed aide to read
a list of twelve threats and demands. The demands said that
I was to continue as his attorney, and continue to handle
the custody case for a specific fee and a new wardrobe. If |
refused, he would hold a press conference and say | had
asked him for nmoney to bribe Judge Turner and Turner's

secretary. He also threatened to charge nme with stealing the
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red Mercedes. | wasn't about to cow to that, but Irene was
nervous and said she would take the car back. She drove over
the foll owi ng evening, and had our daughter, Kim followin
a separate car to bring her back

When she arrived, Ali Janel net themat the door and
tried to smooth things over. He invited themin for coffee.
What happened next is best told by Irene. She had to give a
sworn statenment about it to a Dade County asistant state
attorney.

"Ali was shnmoozing up to us the way he always did,
trying to be nice but actually being a jerk. He | ooked at
Kim then twenty-one, and asked, “~Could | have permission to
make love to her? | told himl'd kill himif he tried.

"About five mnutes after we sat down in the living
room we saw the Sheik come in and sit on a sofa across the
room He was facing away. He was wearing his white
pant al oons, white T-shirt and was barefoot. Then this
good- | ooki ng bl ond man canme into the house wearing jeans and
a colored T-shirt. He greeted the Sheik wth hugs and
ki sses, and was presented sone folded I|inens by a servant.
He left the room Ali Janel excused himself. A few ninutes
| ater, the young nan cane back wearing the same white outfit
as the Sheik. He sat beside the Sheik on the couch. The two
began ki ssing on the nouth, teasing each other, and grabbing
each other's genitals.

" “"Mom | know that nan,’ Kimsaid. " "That's..."

Kim identified the visitor as the son of a proninent
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M ami an.

"Well, he and the Sheik began to really get it on and
Kimand | were getting disgusted,” Irene continues. "Janel
returned and | said, Do you see that?

"And he said, " Yeah, so what? They do that every

Sunday. '

" “Where's Aptisan?' " | dermanded.

" "She's upstairs praying,' " he said.

"I told himl wasn't sitting still for that and Kim
and | left!"

That was an interesting devel opnent. The "Arabs invade
Mam " story had cone full circle. It started with a bitchy
Princess battling the cops in Alvin Malnik's Cricket Cl ub,
and was ending with a ronp between the Princess' weaselly
brot her and a young heir

Endi ng, but not quite ended.

The Sheik's final act in America presented ne with a
major legal dilemma. A short tine after the midnight
hearing, | received a call from soneone inside the Sheik's
canp that he was |eaving for good. The bags were packed,
reservations set, everything was in order. And unlike the
previous tines where he was just traveling out of state to
tour other «cities, this time he was picking up and going
back to Saudi Arabia. Leaving the country would violate
nunmerous Florida and California |aws and court orders. He
woul d become a wanted man.

That neant he would probably never conme back to
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Anmer i ca.

When he had tried to flee before, someone always
alerted the police directly or <called Dena. This tinme, no
one knew but nme.

My dilemma -- violate the attorney/client privilege
and rat out my own forner client, or maintain the privilege
and let himescape? The fact that he was a former client
didn't overrule attorney/client privilege, and was clouded
even further by the Sheik's insistence that | was still his
attorney.

I considered the law. The attorney/client privilege is
a shield against past crines. It is not a sword to use to
conmit new crimes.

In the end, it was not only a clear-cut |legal and
noral question, but a human one as well. |If the Sheik |eft
the country, chances are that Dena would never see her
chil dren agai n. I coul dn't do t hat to anybody,
attorney/client privilege or not.

| called Judge Turner and alerted himto what was in
progress. He ordered a "Sheik freeze" at the airport.
Unfortunately, the Sheik anticipated it and slipped out of
Mam . He chartered a private 707 in Norfolk, Virginia, flew
to the Bahamms, then caught a jet to Saudi Arabia.

And that was the |ast anyone heard of Shei k Mohanmed

al -Fassi in Anmerica.

Epi | ogue
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After the Sheik's sudden departure, it was discovered
that that he had ripped people off for staggering suns. He
left his nmulti-mllion-dollar Star |Island mansi on in
m d-conpl etion, and hadn't paid the contractors in nonths.
He owed themmllions. They ended up cannibalizing the
opul ent palace, turning it into nmildew infested eyesore.

Area nerchants called ny office wondering if, or how,
they would be paid. W received nore than one-hundred-fifty
calls. A startling pattern energed. People had given the
Shei k tens of t housands of dol | ars in goods on
"“consignrment." Jewelers would bring himsuitcases full of
val uabl e gems and |eave them behind without getting a cent
in return. Many of the gleanming cars in front of the Sheik's
house had been | eased, or brought over wth little concern
given as to when the Shei k would actually pay for them

Everyone had fallen over thenselves giving the Sheik
their valuables. Everyone figured the Sheik was so rich
he'd pay for it eventually. Not to worry.

And npst were too ashamed to conplain. The proverbia
M am Beach shopkeeper wasn't about to | et everyone know
that in his greed, he went whoring after an Arab. And in his

stupidity, got ripped off to boot. Wat would they say at

Tenpl e?
Gone with the Sheik was the billion-dollar |awsuit
agai nst the Diplomat Hotel. Gone was the trillion-dollar

| awsuit another |lawer filed against the Hollywood, Florida
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police departnment. And gone were hundreds of thousands of
dollars worth of goods from | ocal nerchants.

Gone also was Dena's $3-billion California divorce
action, which she won in the Sheik's absence. The judgnment
was eventually knocked down to a "paltry" $84 nillion when
M tchel son coul d document only $168 mllion worth of the
Shei k' s hol di ngs. Mtchel son has been conbing the world the
| ast seven years trying to collect Dena's $84 mllion, and
appears to have had sone luck. As of 1989, the California
attorney says he's rounded up about $20 million worth of
cash and property.

"And I'mstill |ooking," he vowed.

M tchel son added that Dena has seen her children a few
times, but would not el aborate how this was acconplished or
where the neetings took place.

Alvin Mlnik noved to Saudi Arabia to becone an
adviser to Prince Turki. The newspapers said he grew a |ong
beard and converted to Islam He later returned to Mam.
His son Mark also noved to Saudi Arabia, ditched his wife,
and marri ed Hoda al - Fassi, one of the al-Fassi sisters.

As for everyone else, hopefully, we all Ilearned a

| esson.

Over the years, there have been occasional reports of
the Shei k popping up here and there in other countries. In
1984, he swarned into the Hyatt-Regency in Casablanca as a

guest of King Hassan of Mrocco. There were also reports
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that he had spent tinme in Tunisia. Aides say he desperately
Il ongs to cone back to America, but remains unable to get the
diplomatic immunity that would w pe out all the crinmes he
cormmitted while here. As it stands, he could get up to
twenty-five years for hi s various acts of uncivi
di sobedi ence.

A year or so after he left, Irene was on a conmercia
airliner and ended up sitting next to a dignified Saud
gentl eman. They began tal ki ng about al -Fassi. After going on
about what a terrible enmbarrassnment he was to his people,
the Arab gentlenman related that al-Fassi had continued his
obstinance at hone and was publicly flogged. A nunber of
ot her people would relate the same good news, and the story
was published in sone newspapers.

We tried to confirmit, but no one inside Saudi Arabia
woul d acknow edge the punishnment. Those traditions, we were
told, are not to be shared with the world.

One likes to believe it happened.

Foot not es

1. Many people both inside and out of the Prince's entourage

swear that Hend al -Fassi had sone sort of "black nagic" hold
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over Prince Turki that enabled her to lure him into the

marri age and control him afterward.

2. In 1988, Mtchel son was accused of sexual m sconduct with

his clients, a charge that aired on "60 M nutes."
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Chapter 7

Inherit The Wnd Revisited -- The Adam and Eve Heari ngs

"The night that we signed himinto the hospital, his eyes
were like cinders in his head. It was like his spirit had
just burned away and nothing was |left but ashes." -- Martha

Caputo, quoted in The Mam News, June 8, 1985

On July 10, 1925, twenty days after | was born, one of the
nost fampus trials in history began in Dayton, Tennessee. A
school teacher named John T. Scopes was charged with teaching
Darwi n's Theory of Evolution, a scientific belief that conflicted
with the Biblical account of Adam and Eve. The great attorney
Cl arence Seward Darrow defended Scopes. WIIliam Jennings Bryan, a
two-tinme Presidential candidate, was the specially-appointed
pr osecut or.

The press dubbed it the "Scopes Monkey Trial" after
Charles Darwin's theory that human bei ngs descended from apes. As
sensational as the trial was, the issue was forever burned into
the world's consciousness by the subsequent npvie classic
“Inherit the Wnd." Spencer Tracy played Darrow. Frederic March
portrayed Bryan. Gene Kelly played the renowned journalist H. L.

Mencken.
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Darrow and Scopes lost, inreality and in the novie, but
Darrow Tracy and Mencken/Kelly managed to ridicule the Christian
creation belief to such an extent that the American school system
was never the sane.

Havi ng spent ny last day in a classroomat the Univerity of
M am Law School in 1951, | had no conception of just how far
things had eroded from a religious standpoint. In 1984, | was
given a crash course. It began with a series of reports in the
| ocal newspapers about a growi ng brouhaha in the Florida Keys

i nvol ving a high school principal nanmed Edward Caputo.

M am has changed so rapidly in the past decade that those
who left in the early 1980s would hardly recognize the city. In
contrast, fifty mles to the south, Key Largo has "progressed" at
a far slower pace.

Key Largo is the first and |argest of the beautiful
crescent-shaped chain of islands known as the Florida Keys. As
with the other hot spots in the Keys -- I|slanorada, Marathon, and
Key West -- Key Largo swells wth tourists during the w nter,
then returns to a quiet fishing village with a core of 5,000
hardy residents during the blistering heat of summer. The stretch
along U.S. 1 has been blighted by the usual shopping malls and
fast food joints, but hook a right or left off the Overseas
Hi ghway and go a block or so and one is pretty nuch back to the
Key Largo of the Hunphrey Bogart, Lauren Bacall days.

For decades, preservationists have fought to keep the

tropical flora from being leveled by the bulldozers of
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devel opers. The fiercely independent residents, known as "Conchs"
after a spiral-shelled marine nollusk, support the efforts to
keep the Keys unspoiled. However, the Conchs had the good sense
to realize that not all aspects of Key Largo should remain rooted
in the past. From an educational perspective, a synbolic
bul | dozer was needed.

In 1971, Dr. Edward Caputo was hired to bring the brand new
Key Largo El enentary School into the future. The Conchs had their
bul | dozer.

Edward Caputo was born into a close-knit, Roman Catholic
famly on June 20, 1937. (Caputo and | share the sane birthday.)
His father was an Italian inmm grant who worked as a butcher. His
not her was an upright New Engl ander of Irish and English descent.
They lived in Wircester, Massachusetts until 1952 when the family
abandoned the harsh winters and noved to Mam . Caputo attended
Archbishop Curley H gh School, a no-nonsense Catholic boys
acadeny operated by the Brothers of the Holy Cross. He enlisted
in the Mrine Corps after graduating and spent the next four
years in the Third Marine Division, Striking Ninth Reginment. The
Marines sent the handsonme young private to post-World World |
ki nawa, Japan, and the Philippine Islands. After being honorably
di scharged, Caputo pursued his goal of becoming a teacher. He
studi ed education at Palm Beach Junior College, Florida State,
and Florida Atlantic universities, then returned to Florida State
and earned his doctorate in 1971. Seven years |later, he was back
at Florida State again, using his sabbatical to add a year of

post-doctoral instruction to his curriculumvitae.
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It all worked to nold a man who was Marine tough and Ph.D.
smart.

For thirteen years, Dr. Edward Caputo served as the gung-ho
princi pal of the 500-student Key Largo El enentary School. He was
a "hands-on" adm ni strator who di sdained red tape and pushed new
ideas into quick action. He discovered that the less he told his
superiors, the faster he <could get things acconplished. That
trait was grudgingly tolerated because Dr. Caputo was successfu
and the parents |oved him

A third factor played an even bigger part in giving Dr.
Caput o the autonomy he desired. The Monroe County schoo
adm nistration offices are in Key West. That's 105 niles, 882
i slands, and forty-four ocean bridges from Key Largo. The unique
geographi cal distance suited Dr. Caputo just fine. For the npst
part, the Monroe County adm nistrators felt |ikew se. Although
they were wary of Dr. Caputo's hard-charging style, they couldn't
argue with his success.

By 1984, the forty-seven-year-old Caputo had earned a
national reputation in elementary education. Educators from
universities and school systens around the country traveled to
Key Largo to research his prograns. His school was awarded the
Florida Elenmentary School Principals Association's "Little Red
School House Award" for its dramatic inprovenent in student
mat hematics levels on the Standard Achievenment Test. He was
invited to testify before the Florida State Legislature on
educational issues, and twice served as a guest speaker for the

Nat i onal El ementary School Principals Association.
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Part of his talent was his ability to draw the parents into
the school. Dr. Caputo encouraged an active Par ent - Teachers
Association and recruited a 130-nmenber volunteer organization
that built athletic fields and nature trails, painted and
redecorated the interior of the school and routinely |obbied the
school board for various educational inprovenents.

Under Dr. Caputo's dynanic | eadership, Key Largo El enentary
transcended a nei ghborhood school. Parent Maurice Karam descri bed

it as "...an information center, a nmuseum a city, a playhouse.
It's everything that's the focal center of everything."

In July 1984, the National Association for School Public
Rel ati ons gave Dr. Caputo its prestigious "CGold Medallion Award"
for his efforts in turning Key Largo Elenmentary into a ngjor

focus of its comunity.

It would be Dr. Caputo's |ast award.

Dr. Edward Caputo was also a born-again Christian. The
father of five had been converted froma backslidden Catholic
seven years before by his devoutly religious second wife, Mrtha,
t he daughter of a Methodist ninister

Wi |l e "born-agai ns" enconpass many Protestant faiths, they
are nost often associated with Southern Baptists who believe in a
literal interpretation of the Bible. The foundation of the belief
is best capsulized by John 3:16 -- the same bible verse notation
one often sees displayed in the stands at professional football
basebal | and basketbal |l ganes:

"For God so loved the world, that He gave H s only begotten
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Son, that whosoever believeth on Hm should not perish, but have
everlasting life."

To translate fromthe prose of the King Janes version and
el aborate a bit, this nmeans that born-again Christians believe
that all one has to do to have their names witten into the "Book
of Life" and assure thenselves a place in heaven is to say a
specific prayer. The prayer involves three parts. You nust
confess that you are a sinner. You nust believe that Jesus Chri st
died on the cross for your sins. And you nust ask God to save
you.

Once that prayer is honestly said, the person is reborn
into a newlife of followi ng the ways of Jesus and spreading the
good news to others. The "born-again" phrase comes from Jesus
conversation with the Jew sh | eader Nicodemnus in John 3:7.

A further explanation of this belief, conplete wth
nunmer ous Bi bli cal references, can be acquired by visiting
virtually any Baptist church and locating the rack of free
literature. One of the rack's nooks will contain a 3x5 1/2 inch
four-page tract entitled "God's Sinple Plan of Salvation."

Many politicians, if pressed, will claim to be
"born-again." That's because there are tens of mllions of
politically active Christians along wth powerful, organized
voting blocs such as Jerry Falwell's Mral Mjority. Fornmer
Presi dent Jimy Carter volunteered that he was "born-again," and
is probably one of the few public servants who really nmeant it.

There are also millions of school teachers, assistant

principals, principals and other educators who are closet
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"born-agains." They are in the closet because the post-Scopes
trial American educational system aided by a progression of
secular humanistic laws, takes a harsh view of any religious
activity in public schools. This places the born-again educators
in a no-win situation. The very foundation of their belief
instructs themto literally shout the good news of salvation at
every opportunity, especially when nmolding the |ives of children
Yet the | aw and educational systemwarn them that to do so puts
their careers in jeopardy.

As a result, the mpjority remain silent. From the
standpoint of their own beliefs, they stand on the edge of being
hypocri tes.

Dr. Caputo was tornmented by this dilema. After view ng the
alarming 1984 ABC-network television docunentary, "Save Qur
School s, Save Qur Children," he could take it no longer. The
noral decay depicted in the programhit hone. Even in his idyllic
i sland community, drug abuse, sexual abuse, and broken hones were
on the rise. He decided that the laws of his God far outweighed
the risks of his earthly profession. He felt it was tinme he did
sonmething to "Save Qur Children."

Coincidentally, a new congressional bill gave himwhat he
felt was a legal peg to hang a bold new program upon. In
Sept enber 1984, Congress passed the controversial Equal Access
Act, a law that enabled student groups to use public schoo
facilities to hold after-school neetings on anything from chess
to Marxismto religion. Dr. Caputo figured this allowed himto

pencil in religious classes as additional alternatives in the
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once-a-week "enrichnment" slot that had been instituted to broaden
the students' cultural scope. Such elective classes as dranmg,
typing, nature, <crocheting and conputers were already being
taught under the enrichment unbrella. (The classes are nore
commonly referred to as "extended-day" prograns.)

Dr. Caputo proposed offering classes in Judaism and
Catholicism as well as Protestantism Attendance would be
strictly on a volunteer basis wth signed letters of consent
fromthe students' parents.

Al t hough it wasn't overtly publicized, one of the thenmes of
these classes would be the teaching of creationism the Biblica
belief that nmankind descended from Adam and Eve, fully fornmed
human bei ngs created in the |ikeness of God.

To take a bite out of that forbidden fruit in today's
public school system is to invite a simlar cataclysmc result.
In virtually any other educational district, such a volatile
proposal woul d never have been all owed off the draw ng board.

Key Largo was decidedly not any other district.

In the beginning, there was wi de support for Dr. Caputo's
| atest innovation. He <called a PTA neeting on the subject, and
the resolution passed 84-1. Five parents were approved as
vol unteer instructors. Forty-seven students signed up to attend.

Despite the overwhel mi ng PTA vote, not everyone was happy.
A Jewi sh teacher fought the nove and was still steaning. Someone
had the wherewithal to inform The Mam News, a staunchly libera

newspaper. Reporter Heather Dewar rang up Mnroe County Schoo
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Superintendent Armando Joseph "Bookie" Henriquez the evening
before the classes were scheduled to begin. Dewar asked Bookie
what he planned to do about the religious classes.

"What religious classes?" Henriquez responded.

Dewar answered that question with a front-page story
published the next day, Septenmber 19, 1984. That afternoon
television crews fromthe |ocal Mani stations, and the big boys
from ABC News and CNN, showed up for the classes along wth the
forty-seven students.

In the Protestant class, Judy Cockrum and Peggy Townsend
had the students bake a cake from scratch to symbolize how God
created the Earth. Only in this case, the delighted students got
to eat their creation at the end.

In the Judaism class, parent Beth Sobel brought in a
beautiful "nmenorah," a candelabrum used in Jewi sh  worship
particul arly during the Hanukkah cel ebration.

The Catholic parent-instructor, Maurice Karam wasn't quite
as successful as his counterparts. He spent a good part of his
time searching for <chairs to seat his ranbunctious band of
m ni-Catholics. The remainder of the tine was spent trying to
organi ze for the future.

Reaction to the highly publicized classes was swift. By the
next norning, all hell had broken |oose. Calls rained in fromthe
"usual suspects." Dr. Caputo's efforts were attacked by the
American Jewi sh Congress, the Anti-Defanmation League of B' Na
B'Rith, the American Civil Liberties Union, civil libertarians,

|i berals and others of their ilk. The American Jew sh Conference
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had its attorneys call Henriquez and assert that Dr. Caputo had
made unlawful Jleaps in applying the Equal Access Act to his
school . (Strangely enough, the Jewish groups are so fervent in
their belief of separation of church and state that they are
agai nst the non-secul ar teaching of their own religion in public
school s.)

Pressure was applied to Henriquez, a practicing Catholic.
He consul ted school board attorney Hilary Albury for a ruling.
Al bury discovered that the classes did not technically adhere to
all the stringent guidelines of the Equal Access Act. The
congressional bill, which allows student religious groups to use
school facilities to neet after school, stated that the students
had to request the classes thenselves, not the principal and PTA,
and that they could not be offered during the regular school day
-- even in a special "enrichnment" hour. Further, Albury
expl ai ned, they couldn't be taught by parents, and the wording of
the Equal Access Act referred to secondary schools and didn't
mention el enentaries. Henriquez called Dr. Caputo and told him
the classes were on shaky | egal footing.

Dr. Caputo was not a man to fret over technicalities. He
countered that since his school had a sixth grade, it could be
considered a secondary school. The argunment being that sone
junior highs start with the sixth grade. The after-schoo
question also contained a |oophole. Al t hough t he extra
"enrichnment hour" had been folded into the regular school day,
the teachers who taught these classes were paid separately under

union regulations. Therefore, regardless of what the schoo
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admini stration believed, t he t eachers’ union decreed the
enrichment hour as an "after-school" activity.

Henriquez rejected those argunents. Dr. Caputo rejected
Henri quez's rejection.

On Friday nmorning, The Manm Herald reared its |iberal head
and wote a near-hysterical editorial wunder the "objective"
headl i ne:

"Stop This Qutrage"

The hyperventilating Herald editors demanded that Florida
Governor Bob Graham personally intervene in the situation at the
little Key school house.

"...unless this out r ageous i nfraction is st opped

i medi ately, it surely will infect public educat i on
t hroughout Florida," The Herald ranted.

The pressure upon the superintendent was intensifying --
from both sides. 1In contrast to the neddling newspapers and
activist groups, Henriquez began receiving cards, letters and
telegrams from around the nation supporting Dr. Caputo and his
cl asses.

On Friday afternoon, the superintendent net wth the
principal and his wife Martha at Mac's Bar-B-Que in Key Largo.
Also in attendance was d ynn Archer, assistant superintendent for
admi nistration and operations, and Janet Padron, the schoo
system s director of public information

Dr. Caputo was exhilarated, punped up by the success of the
classes and the wi despread television news coverage. Henriquez

sent himcrashing down to earth. He told the principal that his
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pet classes were unlawful and had to go. Dr. Caputo countered
that they were |lawful and he wasn't going to pull the plug. Wen
tenpers began to flare at the crowded barbeque pit, the neeting
was nmoved to Dr. Caputo's office at Key Largo Elenentary.
Henri quez demanded that the principal deep-six the classes. But
that wasn't all. Dr. Caputo was infornmed that he would have to
publicly admt that he had misrepresented the law, offer an
apol ogy, and promse to never again let his religion interfere
with his duty as principal

Even the born-again teachers hiding in their school- room
closets would have trouble obeying that I|ast order. Like the
Apostle Peter, Dr. Caputo was being asked to deny Christ three
times before the cock crows. And wunlike St. Peter, Dr. Caputo
woul d have to do it before the awaiting national nedia.

Dr. Caputo ran his hand through his brown hair, squinted
his eyes |ike Clint Eastwood and i nforned the administrators that
they were going to stop the classes over his dead body.

As for admitting he was wong and denying his beliefs, they
didn't have a prayer.

"I could not promise him that my faith would never
interfere in the operation of the school since it governs
everything | do all day, -everyday. He knewthat," Dr. Caputo
sai d.

Henri quez, a decent man who respected Dr. Caputo, realized
that the principal was painting hinmself into a career-threatening
corner. The superintendent suggested several alternatives. One

was to put the classes on a tenporary hiatus while Dr. Caputo and
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his supporters tested their legality in the courts. Another
suggestion was to nove the classes to |ocal churches.

The born-again ex-Marine rejected both options.

Henri quez expl ai ned why in a deposition:

Henri quez: During the conversations, Ed indicated to ne
that he felt that this situation was one where he had been
chosen and had been selected to do what he was doi ng.

Rubi n: By whonf

Henri quez: The inference there was that it was from a
Supr ene Bei ng.

Rubi n: Divine intervention?

Henri quez: That's <correct. He felt that he had to do what
he was doing and he felt that God was going to provide and
that God was going to be there and assist him and chanpion
hi s cause.

Henriquez was left wth no choice but to suspend the
principal. The faculty, the parents, and practically the entire
i sland community was stunned.

That Sunday, The Mani Herald struck again. Herald Editor
Ji m Hanpton | ashed out at both Dr. Caputo and Congress for
passi ng the Equal Access Act:

"...S0 a respected and able principal's career is in deep
jeopardy. His faculty is heartbroken. His students' parents
are divi ded agai nst one another. |Indeed, his whole conmunity
is in turnoil. Al because a principal-cumreligious zeal ot
t hought that an unwise new law pernmtted him to intrude

religion where the Constitution forbids it."
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The Monroe County School Board descended upon Marathon Hi gh
School the following day -- Mnday, Septenber 24 -- to hold a
regul arl y-schedul ed board neeting highlighted by an energency
public hearing on the nmessy "Caputo problem" The afternoon of
the hearing, the skies grew dark, thunder cracked, and the w nds
of an off-shore hurricane sent frothy waves crashi ng agai nst the
shore. Inside, one section of the Marathon Hi gh cafeteria was
packed with nore than 100 Christians, Jews, Catholics and other
supportive Conchs as angry as the wi nd outside. Opposite them was
a smaller, but equally deterni ned group of secular humani sts and
separation of state and religion advocates.

The pro-religion supporters presented the board with a
petition si gned by 914 parents calling for Dr. Caputo's
reinstatenent as principal. That nunmber was nearly twice the
st udent popul ati on and one-fifth the island' s residents.
Twenty-four nenbers of the group paraded to the microphone and
spoke out on Dr. Caputo's behalf. Wien Dr. Caputo arrived, he was
gi ven a rousing standi ng ovation

Dr. Caputo refused to denounce his way of Ilife. He was
found guilty of gross insubordination, msconduct in office, and
willful neglect of duty. He not only had his suspension upheld,
but the process was started for his termnation. As the thunder
runmbl ed outside, the pro-Caputo forces nearly rioted. They | ashed
out at Henriquez with such venom the superintendent was brought
to tears. Dr. Caputo stood up and defended Henriquez and begged
the audience to stop fighting anong thenselves. H's quick

t hi nki ng cool ed everyone down.
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But Dr. Caputo hinmself was not so cool. He grabbed the
m crophone, abandoned his prepared speech, and began shouting "In
God We Trust! In God We Trust! In God W Trust!" By the third
repetition, he voice trailed off into a unnerving whisper

The audi ence was shocked into silence. The w ndswept rain
could be heard pounding on the school house roof. Muffled sobs
began piercing the cafeteria as one parent after another broke
down. Even a nunber of the board nmenbers began dabbing their
eyes.

In five days, Dr. Edward Caputo's nineteen-year career had
been destroyed. Gone too was the financial security it provided
his young family. Now it appeared he might be losing his mind as
wel | .

Dr. Caputo drove to his ocean-front hone as the rains eased
up and the hot tropical sun tenporarily broke through the clouds.
The sun steaned up the succession of snmall, richly-vegetated
i slands the troubl ed educator crossed on the 60-nile trek back to
Key Largo. When he arrived at his expansive coral rock hone, he
silently clinmbed aboard his bicycle and pedaled around the
i sl and.

The next day, Dr. Caputo went to the school to gather up
his things, advise his successor, and help batten down the
buil ding for the possible hurricane. He found the place nearly
enpty. The nmpod was as sullen as the darkening sky. Fifty-seven
percent of Key Largo Elenentary's 500 students had stayed hone to
protest his ouster.

After finishing his tasks, he was escorted back to his car
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by adm nistration officials wth stern faces. Hi s knees suddenly
buckl ed and he nearly collapsed. The officials rushed to steady
hi m

"God knows how much | |loved this school and the people in
it," he cried.

"He immediately went into shock and grief and wasn't able

to discuss the events Ileading up to that day...," Martha Caputo
wote in a letter to Dr. Henriquez. "...the shock of the
dism ssal...caused Ed to begin to wunravel enotionally. The

physi cal and enotional exhaustion, when punctuated by that shock
and what it meant for him to be severed so fast fromthat schoo
that was his flesh and bl ood, was too nuch for himto handle."

Dr. Caputo's nmental and enptional stability was indeed
crunbling fast. Four days after the board neeting, a friend
volunteered to drive himto Coral Springs, Florida to see a
psychiatrist. Stopping at a gas station, Dr. Caputo bolted from
the car, grabbed an Anerican flag froma new housing project, and
ran out into the street. He began waving the flag, directing

traffic and singing "CGod Bless America." He told anyone who woul d
listen that he had been crucified and that America was no | onger
the land of the free. This behavior led to an inevitable
confrontation with pol i ce. From the responding officers

perspective, it was a strange sight. They encountered a nman
acting like a deranged street person, but he was wearing a $400
Saks Fifth Avenue suit, a silk tie, and r ai nbow- col ored

suspenders. Dr. Caputo refused to tell the officers anything

beyond his nanme, rank and serial nunber. The cops cuffed his
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hands behind his back and threw himin jail. He continued to
protest and was roughed up by an officer or guard and had three
of his ribs fractured.

Ni ne days after the inplenentation of his first and |ast
Wednesday afternoon religion classes, Dr. Edward Caputo |ay
battered and broken in a small-town jail cell

He had hit rock bottom

Martha Caputo quickly rescued her husband and had him
transferred fromthe jail to the psychiatric unit of a Holl ywood,
Florida hospital. The doctors' diagnosis was "severe acute
psychosi s" marked by contrasting episodes of depression and
el ation.

As a testament to his intellect and strong wll power,
combi ned with the unwai vering support of his devoted wife, Dr.
Caputo's "psychosi s" disappeared as quickly as it began. By the
following day he was al nost back to normal. A week |ater he was
allowed to escape the South Florida nedia and receive further
treatment in Kentucky. The doctors in Kentucky prescri bed
Lithium a medication that acts to snmooth over the enptiona
peaks and valleys. By the end of the nonth, Dr. Caputo had fully
recovered and was given a clean bill of health.

Hi s matter-of-fact description of his ordeal is poignant.

"I got sick. I got well."

While Dr. Caputo was recovering, news of his beating,
jailing and hospitalization swept the island like a sumrer

squall. His outraged supporters applied their own brand of
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pressure upon Henriquez. The superintendent, upset hinself over
what had happened to his friend, appealed to the school board to
pl ace Dr. Caputo on nedical |eave and delay the action to disniss
him Henriquez wanted to make sure Dr. Caputo's nedical expenses
were covered by the school system s insurance. The board agreed.

The return into the financial wonb of the educationa
system helped. Dr. Caputo continued the healing process by
traveling to Fort Lauderdal e and receiving counseling fromDr. D
James Kennedy, a well-known Presbyterian pastor whose television
mnistry is seen in 20,000 cities and twenty-two countri es.

In Novenber, Dr. Caputo finally realized he needed an
attorney. It was a decision that should have been made two nont hs
earlier, the day The Mam News story hit the stands. Christians,
however, tend to believe God is their attorney and enter the
boardroons and courtroons |ike |anbs before |ions.

Either Dr. Kennedy, or a friend of Dr. Caput o' s,
recommended that he call ne. He and his wife came to ny office
and outlined their tragic story. He remained in physical pain
from his encounter wth the law, but his mnd was clear and
sharp. Martha Caputo was supportive but deeply concerned. They
said they were financially drained. | told themnot to worry. I'd
take the case for free.

We held a press conference and announced that we were going
to fight to get Dr. Caputo reinstated as principal

Shortly afterward, Henriquez let it be known that he was
willing to quietly accept Dr. Caputo back into the fold. The

superintendent, Dr. Caputo and Martha Caputo net at the Key Largo
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Howard Johnson's. They drank apple juice and talked for two
hours. Henriquez advised Dr. Caputo to take his time and rest.
Then, when he was fully recovered, Dr. Caputo would be given the
admi nistrative desk job of assistant director for exceptiona
child care. The position paid $10,000 less than he had been
maki ng as principal .

Dr. Caputo promised to consider the offer

After the holidays, the Caputos came back to my office.
They had to decide whether to accept Henriquez's offer or
reject it and continue the fight. | advised them the best
coul d, but explained that they had to make the decision.

They agonized in ny office, struggling over what to do.
Could Dr. Caputo symbolically deny God by accepting the |ower
position, a choice that mght help himreestablish his life? O
should he keep beating his head against the wall of powerfu
anti-religion forces and risk another mental breakdown? He | ooked
at his wife. She | ooked at him They held hands. They read the
Bi bl e. The indications were clear.

They said they had no choice but to fight.

| told themthey wouldn't be alone this tine.

Dr. Caputo used up his six-nmonth accrued sick | eave and | et
nost of the school year play out. He spent the time fishing and
traveling with his famly, which included three chil den under the
age of seven. In late April 1985, the school board voted to
reinstitute the dism ssal procedures. W requested an appea
before a hearing examner. It was granted and scheduled for

Cct ober 1, 1985.
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I prepared my defense by witing church groups and
religious or gani zati ons around t he country aski ng for
suggestions. Wiile all offered their support, and the Christian
Legal Society sent reams of case studies, nothing hopeful stood
out. Dr. Kennedy expressed a willingness to be a character
witness, and | quickly junped at the chance to enlist the fanous
pr eacher.

The appeal was scheduled before a hearing officer in Key
West, a tropical sin city known for its large conmunity of
defiant honpbsexuals. (They elected a honmpsexual mayor.) | felt
like | was going to Sodomto defend Lot against the townsnmen who
were trying to break down his door and sodomi ze the angels he was
shel tering. (Genesis 19).

Figuratively, it was nearly that bad. Dr. Caputo had
everyt hing going against him His inability to conpronise on his
religious beliefs nade nmy task inpossible. 1'd have had a better
chance had he stood accused of raping a cheerleader than | did
trying to defend himfor the crinme of being a Christian.

The public hearing was in Key Wst City Hall. Al though the
island is full of old buildings with interesting designs and
architecture, including the former home of Ernest Henmmi ngway, the
City Hall is a mnodern facility with mniml cultural value. The
auditoriumis large and sterile.

After the norning session, Dr. Kennedy took the stand. Like
all the witnesses, he swore to God to tell the truth -- the sane
God that was not allowed in Dr. Caputo's school building. Dr.

Kennedy then proceeded to offer a disturbing picture of Anerica's
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public school system

.a survey of the schools forty years ago and today
reveals that forty years ago the principle problenms in our
schools were throwing spitballs, talking in class, running
in the halls, tardiness and other simlar items. Whereas
today sone of the problems are ranmpant alcoholism drug
abuse, t eenage pregnanci es, an epidenmc of suicide,
nmuggi ngs, rapes..

"...\W're trying to conpletely rid, from the public's
sphere, all aspects of religious belief, and, yet we suppose
that somehow we're going to stay up here in the air with no
foundati on and have sone sort of noral views. | believe that
is an inpossibility...

"...lIt is very clear fromthe Od and New Testanents of the
Scriptures that children are a gift from God unto the
parents, and that they belong to the parents and the parents
are responsible to God for the rearing and upbringing of
those children...this view is being endangered. It seens
that the state is nore and nore assum ng and demandi ng t hat
the children belong to the state...W know that Hitler, in
1934, declared that the children belonged to him..and he
then, of course, renoved all religious instruction fromthe
schools. In fact, he demanded that all teachers |eave
religious organizations. This brought about sone very
unpl easant consequences which we all know about. .

"I think that this is the danger today...l think that this

portends sone om nous things for the future..."
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When it was his turn, Dr. Caputo spoke concisely and
intelligently. There was no trace of any lingering psychiatric
i mbal ance. He deftly handl ed the school board attorney's probing
qguestions, explained his beliefs and position, and followed ny
| ead perfectly.

I argued that the Equal Access Bill, at the very |east,

gave Dr. Caputo the inpression that he had the right to institute

the afternoon classes. | explained, rather passionately, that Dr.
Caputo had been given an order that was inpossible to obey -- the
denouncement of his faith. | stressed that the devestation of a

bel oved and highly decorated educator's career far exceeded the
"crime" he was charged with commtting. | pleaded with the
heari ng exam ner to show nmercy and not to throw Dr. Caputo to the
li ons.

Dr. Caputo sat wth his head bowed and hands clasped

together as | spoke. Tears streanmed fromthe tough Marine's eyes.

If we had faced a jury and not an lone arbitrator, we've

have had a chance. Wthout a jury, what Dr. Kennedy said and what
I said didn't count. It appeared that everything again boiled
down to The Question. It canme up again and agai n.

Caputo: He (Henriquez) said, "You have to prom se ne, give
me your assurances that in the future you will not allow
your faith to interfere with the policies of governing and
admi ni stering of this school."

School board attorney: Wat was the problemwth your
sayi ng okay to that?

Caputo: Everything, absolutely everything. A man is what he
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thinks. A man is what's in his heart. You don't separate the
way Yyou think and believe when you walk into the schoo
bui l di ng as a school principal

Ri ght before Dr. Caputo Ileft the witness stand, hearing
exam ner Wl liam Kendrick personally asked him if he could keep
his religious beliefs from"interfering with the adm nistration
of the school."

This was it. The nmonment of truth. To regain his job, to
regain everything he loved, it was apparent that Dr. Caputo woul d
have to publicly deny the inpact of Christianity in his life.

St. Peter denied Christ three times in the darkness of an
early nmorning. Dr. Caputo couldn't do it once, anytinme, anywhere.

On Decenber 31, 1985, Kendrick upheld the earlier findings
that the principal had di sobeyed the orders of his superior and

was guilty of "gross insubordination.” Kendrick recommended that
Dr. Caputo be "term nated."

Happy New Year, Edward Caputo and famly, best w shes from
t he Monroe County school adm nistration.

The | ast appeal was a return engagenent before the schoo
board. It was scheduled for January 24, 1986 -- sixteen nonths
after the ill-fated religion classes began and ended. Three weeks
before the upconing neeting, The Mani Herald hammered a few nore
nails into Dr. Caputo's coffin:

"...The school board pronptly shoul d accept t he

recommendati on and term nate the once-outstanding educator

Per haps M. Caputo, who underwent psychiatric treatnent |ast

year, wll have the grace to forgo an appeal to the
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courts..."
Aside fromthe cheap shot of rem nding everyone of his past

"psychiatric treatment," The Heral d's suggestion that Dr. Caputo
"forego" his unalienable right as an Anerican to seek justice in
court was grossly out of line.

Dr. Caputo's last stand was held in a gl oony, school board
nmeeting room near the Key West shrinp docks. The crowd was
sparse. Mssing were both the Christian soldiers and the secul ar
humani sts. Not even the militant Gay Power faction could nuster
the energy to | eave the beach and cast stones at the Christian
No one wanted to attend Dr. Caputo's professional funeral

| again argued | aw and pl eaded for nmercy. The school board
ignored it, banishing Dr. Edward Caputo forever fromtheir m dst.

The school board neeting had officially opened with a

prayer.

We appeal ed the dismssal to the Third District Court of
Appeal s. The appel |l ate judges found that the school board had the
authority to fire Dr. Caputo. | considered pushing the case
further into the legal arena by filing a discrimnation case in
federal court. | had visions of inviting Christians from around
the nation to join hands, form a huge circle around the
courthouse and pray as the trial proceeded. | planned to call in
everyone from Billy Gaham Robert Schuler, Pat Robertson and
even the post-scandalized tel evision superstars Jim Bakker and
Ji mry Swaggart. We coul d have rocked the nation.

It wasn't to be.
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I began getting a strong prenonition that forcing Dr.
Caputo to go through the intense pressure and public scrutiny of
a nmedi a-canpaign trial could have pushed himtoo far. It appeared
that God wanted to test Edward Caputo to the limt by making him
pay the ultinmate professional price for his beliefs.

Such seeningly harsh divine decisions are not wthout
precedent. Daniel came out of the lion's den, but Stephen was
stoned to death. Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego were thrown into
the fiery furnace and cane out wth not a single hair singed.
Jesus hinsel f was whi pped, stabbed, and nailed to a cross.

In the religious arena, there's no such thing as w nning

and losing as we know it.

Epi | ogue

As one mght have guessed, | have strong feelings about
what happened to Edward Caputo. One mght also be curious as to
why a Jewi sh | awer would feel this way. For starters, | respect
Dr. Caputo for standing up for his beliefs. Among the mllions of
born-again educators who share those beliefs, few have the
courage of their convictions.

| also feel what the school system asked him to do was a
di sgrace. No one should be required to publicly denounce their
religion. No one has the right to demand that of anyone. Freedom
of religion is one of the cornerstones of Anerica.

My feelings go beyond this. As the father of four children

I've long been disturbed over the current state of our public
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school system Education |evels have plunged. Discipline appears
to be a thing of +the past. Violence in inner-city schools is
spreading like a disease. Teachers are being assaulted by
students, sonme even killed. Their cars are vandalized in the
parking lots. Drugs infest our schools to such a degree that
parents are thrilled when their children are nerely stoned on
mari j uana.

Former Education Secretary WIIliam Bennett pinpointed the

Chi cago public school systemthe "worst in the nation" and "cl ose
to educational neltdown." Students at some Chicago high schools
are frisked for weapons by security guards before entering class.
That occurs in New York and Los Angel es as well

What happened?

When God was expelled fromour public schools, a darkness
fell over the Anerican educational system Anti-discrimnnation
| aws were pronoted to allow honmpsexuals, |esbians, atheists,
adul terers, and ex-cons to teach our children.

A Christian, however, is deenmed repugnant.

I don't think this is what John Scopes or Clarence Darrow
were fighting for.

In their anti-religion fervor, liberal activists focused
upon the religions themselves and | ost sight of what canme with
it. The Judaic/Christian tradition teaches basic noral val ues.
Good and Evil. Right and Wong. Kindness to others. Sharing.
Putting the needs of others before one's own selfish desires.

Secul ar humani sts argue that they can teach these val ues

for their own sake, but we've seen the result of that hollow
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argunment. Wthout the personal threat of punishnent and the
promi se of reward, noral values becone just another useless
subj ect for students to ignore.

George Washington, in his farewell address, warned:"W
should not be so foolish as to try to separate religion from
norality...we should not be so foolish to expect we can nmintain
norality if we |ose the foundation of religion..."

Qur schools have created a new breed of Anerican youth
that have no economic notivation for their crimnal or immora
acts. When caught and confronted, they appear baffled. |I've seen
their blank expressions a hundred tinmes. Their parents march them
into ny office after they've commtted sonme serious crine. | |ook
into their eyes and see a child devoid of any noral val ues
what soever. It's a frightening thing to w tness.

These are the sane children who have never said prayer in
school. Many never turned a single page of the Bible. They were
never taught anything about God. Any god.

Somet hi ng' s wrong.

I'm well aware of the other side's argunents against
religion in schools. Every one of themapplies directly to ne.
I'"'m Jewish. | went to public schools where they prayed to Jesus.
It didn't shake my Jewi sh faith at all

The Navy sent me to Trinity College in Hartford,
Connecticut, an Episcopalian school. The Navy didn't care how I
felt about it, they gave nme an order. My fellow students
wor shi pped Jesus every day in chapel, which was nandatory. Even

for a Jewi sh sail or.
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That didn't shake ny Jew sh beliefs either.

The Navy then transferred me to Holy Cross College, a
Catholic school taught by Jesuit priests. The Navy didn't ask for
my approval. Virtually every class at Holy Cross was infused with
the presence of Jesus, the saints, and the Virgin Mry.

It didn't destroy my personal religious beliefs.

| learned a great deal fromthe priests at Holy Cross, not
only book know edge, but about becom ng a decent human bei ng.

I'"'m a better man today for all these experiences, and

thank God for giving me the opportunity to have them

The Adam and Eve hearings left nme wth an unquenched
desire to fight this case again in the |legal arena. If anyone
wants to give it a shot, I'"'min the Mam phone book.

The hearings were also an uncanny personal forewarning. A
few nonths after Ed Caputo was forced to risk so nmuch in taking
his stand, | found nyself in a simlar situation. And the

consequences that faced ne were even nore extrene.
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Chapter 8
The Death of a Debutante
PART |
"It's t he et hi cal ni ght mar e dr eaded nost by
crimnal -defense attorneys... -- Tinme mgazine, July
21, 1986
It was Passover, 1984. Only the blood was on the bed
inside the Abranson's large, |uxurious home, not on the
door. And the Abranson's firstborn, Erinn, was gone. Her

body was discovered the next day lying in an enpty field

across from a garbage dunp. She had been sl aughtered beyond

anyt hing ever done to a sacrificial |anb.
Eri nn Abranson, eighteen, was found wapped in a
light yellow blanket and a |light orange bedspread -- even

Mam's murders conme in pastel hues. Over the next three

years, her death would be shrouded in a darker blanket of

mystery. Wien it was over, not only would the convicted

killer be in jail, so wuldI. And although ny jailing

received nore attention than the nurder itself, the critica
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el enents that conpelled nme to make my controversial stand
have never been reveal ed.

Until now.

The brown, cardboard box sitting on nmy office doorstep
startled ne. Wth ny clientele, and those |'ve gone up
against, it could have contained anything froma Sandinista
bonmb to a nutilated chicken froma Haitian voodoo curse.
stepped around it, but couldn't fight the urge to peek
i nside. The box contained oranges, cucunmbers and tonatoes.
They were dusty, and sonme had the stens still attached. They
appeared as if they had just been picked fromone of the
steany farm fields that still surround Mam . | was
relieved, but curious.

Entering the building, | asked nmy office manager, ny
daughter Peri, about the box. She said sone ragged | ooking
| ady had brought it for ne.

"Her nane was Holly. Holly sonething," Peri said.

"Sanborn," | said. "Holly Sanborn."

That explained it. Ms. Sanborn's son Russell had been
arrested a nonth after Erinn Abramson's death and was
charged with the nurder. A year had passed, and his tria
was conming up. Ms. Sanborn had witten ne a few tinmes and
then called for the first tinme the day before. She begged ne
to take her son's case. She had sonehow become convinced

that I was the only person who could save him

She called again. | thanked her for the gift and told
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her the same thing | had said before. Changing attorneys at
this late stage was not in her son's best interest.
Russell's court appointed attorney, Bill Surow ec, was an
excellent trial lawer froma well-known Mam law firm He
and his associates had prepared for nonths to represent her
son. As for nme, | was swanped with cases of ny own, and
hadn't even read the Abramson story in the newspaper. |
assured her again that her son was in good hands -- rmuch
better hands than nmine would be.

The next norning there were two boxes on ny doorstep

It startled me again. | didn't connect them with Ms.
Sanborn until | saw the red tomatoes. She called and said
she had gotten up at dawn and picked them herself. | invited

her to cone to ny office. She said she didn't have a car, so
| sent soneone to pick her up. | was sonmewhat surprised when
I saw her. She sounded intelligent and educated on the
phone, but in person she was ragged and soiled |ike ny
daught er had descri bed. She was heavy, had a round face,
light hair, and was wearing a ratty sweater and a gray
skirt. She looked Iike Shelly Wnters dragged through a
potato field.

She pleaded with me anew to take her son's case,
repeating that | was the only person who could save him She
cried. | was weakening, but it still wasn't the best nove
for her son. | explained that | wasn't the nmgician she had
come to believe. The stories she had read about ne in the

newspapers, and the talk around the jail house, were probably
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exaggerations. | had won sonme big cases, but [|'d Ilost ny
share too

The followi ng norning, there they were, the boxes of
cucunbers, tomatoes and oranges. Only now, Holly Sanborn was
sitting next to them The tears were streanm ng down her
face.

"Pl ease, M. Rubin, please. He's ny baby boy."

She touched me on the armand | ooked wup into nmy eyes.
I could see the dirt under her fingernails and the dust in
the crinkles lining her face.

We went inside. She sat down and handed nme a letter
she had witten. It was nore of the sane, pleas to take her
son's case and charges that he had been franmed, but there
was sonet hing el se, sonmething that caught ny attention. She
prom sed to sign over her $600 nonthly disability check for
the rest of her life if |I'd defend Russell. It was her sole
i nconme asi de from the few dollars she nmmde picking
veget ables and selling them at a stand near her honme. The
check was the only thing that kept her alive.

What ever button | have, her trenendous sacrifice
pushed it. | would take the case, and she could keep her
checks.

| visited Russell at the Dade County Jail. He greeted
me with a great sense of relief. He shared his nmother's
convi ction t hat I was his emancipator. He told ne
passi onately that he was innocent.

I had decided against all logic to represent him It
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was a decision that came fromnmy heart -- and not ny head.

There had been a nunber of versions of what happened
to Erinn Abranson that night, and nore inportantly, who was
responsi ble. Fromthe police reports and trial testinmony, a
strange story finally energed.

Erinn and Russell were an wunusual pair. She was a
beautiful, auburn-haired college freshman panpered by her
weal thy parents. Life was a swirl of shopping for the | atest
fashions, going to the beach and cruising the malls. At
ni ght she'd dress up in expensive outfits, drive around in
her parents' $40,000 Mercedes sports car, date nice Jew sh
boys from equally wealthy families, and hit the exclusive
private clubs like Turnberry Isle where Gary Hart and Donna
Ri ce hooked up. Her father, Herbert Abranson, was not only a
prom nent crimnal defense attorney, he was a charitable man
who gave both his time and noney to help establish a |loca
branch of "Here's Help," a drug rehabilitation center. Erinn
had jetted in for the holidays from Santa Monica Junior
College in California. Her father had set her up out there
in an $850-a-nonth apartnent in exclusive Mrina del Rey.
She had tal ked of becom ng a doctor, but had dropped two of
her four «classes that senmester. A bit honesick, she called
her nmother nearly every night.

Russell "Rusty" Sanborn, twenty-six, was a crude,
pri son-hardened veteran of four stays in Florida pena

institutions. He was a nuscul ar man about five-ten with |ong
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red hair conmbed straight back and a smattering of freckles
dotting his pale conplexion. A high school drop out, he was
the son of a long-gone father and Holly, a farmfield
worker. An itinerant plunmber by trade, his resune included
convictions for r obbery, forgery, petty larceny, and
possessi on of marijuana. He remained on probation for grand
theft, marijuana possession, and barbiturate possession

Rusty and Erinn had nmade |Iove the last night of
Erinn's life, but love had nothing to do with it. The pair
were |inked by sonething nore powerful than |ove or sex.

Cocai ne.

He had it. She wanted it. The drug is the great
equalizer. It knows no class distinction. It's blind to
social status, race, color or «creed. Erinn had net Rusty
years before at the beach. He gave her a quaal ude. Although
they were fromdifferent worlds, they becanme friends of a
fashion. Erinn knew Rusty was al ways "hol ding," meaning he
could be counted on to have drugs.

Eri nn gave her noney, then her body to get those
drugs. But even that wasn't enough to satisfy her craving.
When her credit ran out, and Rusty |lost interest in her
body, she becane desperate. Erinn devised a plan. She
recruited a friend to disguise hinmself, conme over to her
house and rob her rich parents of their noney and jewelry.
In return, she would score another day or two supply of
cocai ne

The friend agreed.
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On April 16, 1984, a car containing two people pulled
to the side of the road outside the spacious North M am
honme of Herbert Abramson. It was about 4:30 a.m

“I''l'l be out in a few mnutes," the passenger said.
"Wait here."

The man fished in his pocket for tw keys. One
di sarned the Abranmson's el aborate burglar alarm The other
opened the front door. Inside, the intruder wal ked through
the famliar surroundings and entered Erinn's room She
smled and said hello. Erinn had given himthe keys earlier
that evening. It had all been arranged.

After chatting with Erinn in her bedroomfor a few
m nutes, the intruder slipped a nylon stocking over his head
and entered the master bedroom Herbert and Barbara Abramson
wer e awakened around 4:45 a.mand were forced to |ive out
the harrowing nightmare feared by virtually everyone. A
masked man, waving a knife and barki ng commands, had invaded
their hone. The terror of such an event, in which you are
shaken from a dead sleep to confront a scene out of a horror
novie, is sonmething a person never forgets.

In a rough, gravelly voice, and using |anguage Barbara
Abranson would | ater describe as "tough, prison talk," the
intruder threatened to kill themif they didn't keep quiet.

"I have already Kkilled four people," he said. "It
doesn't make nuch difference."

He demanded their noney and jewelry, then grabbed

Barbara. When Herbert tried to protect his wfe, the
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i ntruder slashed the attorney's ear with the knife. A stream
of warm blood dripped down Herbert's neck and shoul der
Though terrified, the Abransons began to notice that the
intruder was acting strangely. He appeared to be confused
about what to do. He didn't have a flashlight and asked
Barbara Abranson if she had a small |ight. She suggested
that he turn on the closet light, and he did. He had nothing
to tie themup with, and had to inprovise by using the cut
cords froma clock radio and their cable television. After
ordering themto lie face down on the bed, he bound their
hands and legs and put a pillow over their heads. As the
intruder searched the room he carried on a running
conversation with the Abransons. He said he knew that they
had a "big son," sleeping in a nearby bedroom and said if
the son woke up he would have to kill him Scott Abranson,
si xteen, slept through the entire incident.

The intruder seemed in no great hurry. He began to
pi ck through Barbara Abranmson's jewelry box Ilike a child
|l ooking for the best marbles. Angered that the contents
appeared to be nostly inexpensive costunme jewelry, he
started grousi ng and nmaking threats. Barbara Abranmson began
describing fromnenory, as she lay on the bed, which pieces
were the nost val uable. Herbert Abranson, trying to add a
measure of sanity to the burglary, suggested that the
i ntruder take the whol e box. The masked man told himto shut
up or he'd kill him then went back to searching through the

contents.
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The intruder kept |eaving the room and com ng back
The Abranson's could detect his movenments fromthe squeaking
sound of the bedroom door. Each time he would return with
what appeared to be new instructions on what to | ook for. He
was al so growing angrier and nore frustrated, as if he had
expected nuch nmore. It wasn't until his third visit that he
thought of, or was told, to take the chain from around
Her bert's neck.

After filling a sock with a neager $2,000 worth of
jewelry and $140 in cash, the angry intruder left the master
bedroom for the last tine.

Erinn's friend had been inside the house nearly an
hour, keeping the driver waiting nervously outside. Wen he
finally emerged, he was carrying a large object over his
shoul der. The driver would | ater describe it as looking |ike
a rolled rug. The intruder opened the door of the Abramson's
brown Mercedes 450 SL convertible, heaved the object into
t he passenger seat, got behind the wheel, and drove away.
The driver, curious over the change in plans, followed him
for a while, lost him then drove to Russell Sanborn's
apartnent to see if he ended up there. Sure enough, the
brown Mercedes was gleaming in the parking |ot, already
covered with a coat of water from South Florida's staggering
hum dity. The driver drove away.

More than an hour later, the Abramsons struggled free
from their binds and called the police. In Erinn's room

they di scovered a large, circular blood stain on her nussed
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bed. Scott, who had returned that evening from an exhausting
weekend fishing trip, was still sleeping soundly in his
room The Abransons told police officer Richard Conover that
their daughter had nentioned that she was expecting someone
named "Rusty" to visit her late that night.

"Don'"t worry, he'll only stay ten minutes. I'll push

himright out," she had prom sed her nother

Sonetinme around 10 a.m Erinn's body was discovered in
the |l ot about six blocks from Russell Sanborn's apartnment.
When the vyellow bedspread and orange bl anket were renoved,
the officers found the stiff figure of a young woman |ying
face up. She was wearing jeans and a dark T-shirt, was
barefoot, and her left armwas crossed over her eyes as if
to shade them from the bright Florida sun. A closer
i nspection revealed that she had been stabbed fourteen
times, including four times in her chest, six in triangle
patterns on her back, a nunber of huge gashes in her arns,
and one in each of her wists. The nedical exaniner said the
| ocations and tinme sequence of each wound -- the non-fata
ones occurring first -- ‘indicated that Erinn had been
savagely tortured before she was killed.

The next day, the brown Mercedes was spotted in a
parking lot a few blocks from the dunp. Anmong the itens
found in the car was a single white "Jox" gym sock, stained
with blood. It was the kind of designer sock a rich young
t eenager woul d wear with her Reebok sports shoes.

Late that afternoon, the police received a call from
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Alvin Lindner, the owner of J& Coin Shop in the D plomat
Shopping Mall in Hallandale, a retirenent community hal f way
between Manm and Fort Lauderdale. The norning of the
nmurder, Lindner had purchased a gold Rolex watch and a
pear - shaped di anond ring for $1,300 from a nuscular
red-haired man. The man had identified hinself as Peter
Martin Bean, and of fered Li ndner a crunpled birth
certifica